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DEe 1 fL2UOL ,,"-----'---'-
SHiRLEY B. PARRAGUIRRE; CLERK
BY l?iatrtv }t(.. hh-=

;KRISTEN' M. BROWN DEPUTY
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

)

Case No. C193182

XVIIIDeptNo.-vs-

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD

Defendant.

SPECIALVERDICT

(Mitigating Circumstances)

We, the Jury in the above entitled case, having found the Defendant, GLENFORD

ANTHONY BUDD, Guilty of COUNT I - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Dajon

Jones, victim), COUNT 2 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Derrick Jones, victim),

and COUNT 3 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Jason Moore, victim), designate that

the mitigating circumstance or circumstances which have been checked or written in below

have been established.

~e Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

~ murder was committed while the Defendant was under the influence of

extreme mental or emotional disturbance.



1

2

3

4

5 t/ The impact of the defendant's execution on his family members, including his

6 mother, grandmother, brother and sisters Shermaine and Angel.

7
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25

26
27

28

.- '';
s- i' ,'" • 'T

~he youth of the defendant at the time of the crime.

__ V'=-- The Defendant's diminished intelligence.

_-..:L/~The impact of the defendant's execution on his other family members, friends

and loved ones.

-.0ny other mitigating circumstances.

4'L-
DATED at Las Vegas, Nevada, this ~ day of December, 2005.
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VER
F!lED !NOPEN CO~?Jl'

DEe 1 6 Z005 , _
Sr!;FiL~RRAGUIRRr:, CLERK
BY ~1Il.~,

KRISTEN M. BROWN D£PLD1'Y
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

) alq8J~~
C93182-

XVIII

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD,

Defendant.

DeptNo.

Case No.

-vs-

SPECIAL VERDICT

(Aggravating Circumstance)

We, the Jury in the above entitled case, having found the Defendant, GLENFORD

ANTHONY BUDD, Guilty of COUNT I - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Dajon

Jones, victim), COUNT 2 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Derrick Jones, victim),

and COUNT 3 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Jason Moore, victim) designate that

the following aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

The murder was committed by a person who has, in the immediate proceeding, been

convicted of more than one offense of murder in the first or second degree.

5-r~
DATEDat Las Vegas, Nevada, this I day of December, 2005.

F~/;/lJ~
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VER F~LED:~!C~:N COURT
DEe 1 6 2005 .-

SlilRl'OYAXiiJlOWRfiE, CLERK
c; )K.~

~HI~ •EN M. BROWN. C':?UTV
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintiff,
)

Case No. C193182l-vs- DeptNo. XVIII
)

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD, lDefendant. )
)

PENALTY VERDICT - COUNT 3 (Jason Moore, victim)

We, the Jury in the above entitled case, having found the Defendant, GLENFORD

ANTHONY BUDD, Guilty of COUNT 3 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Jason

Moore, victim), and having found that the aggravating circumstance or circumstances

outweigh any mitigating circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of,

___ A definite term of 100 years imprisonment, with eligibility for parole

beginning when a minimum of 40 years has been served.

___ Life imprisonment, with eligibility for parole beginning when

/ a minimum of 40 years has been served.

_V__Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.

___ Death. ~

DATED at Las Vegas, Nevada, this ~ da~fDeCember, 2005

il;1~
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1(RISTEN M. BROwN DEPUTY
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEV ADA,

Plaintiff,

)

Case No. C193182

XVIIIDeptNo.-vs-

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD,

Defendant. l
---

PENAL TY VERDICT - COUNT 1 (Dajon Jones, victim)

We, the Jury in the above entitled case, having found the Defendant, GLENFORD

ANTHONY BUDD, Guilty of COUNT I - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Dajon

Jones, victim), and having found that the aggravating circumstance or circumstances

outweigh any mitigating circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of,

___ A definite term of 100 years imprisonment, with eligibility for parole

beginning when a minimum of 40 years has been served.

___ Life imprisonment, with eligibility for parole beginning when

I a minimum of 40 years has been served.

~ Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.

Death.---
DATED at Las Vegas, Nevada, this

-- --------- -------------
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THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintiff,

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD,

Case No.

DeptNo.

C193182

XVIII-vs-

Defendant.

PENALTY VERDICT - COUNT 2 (Derrick Jones, victim)

We, the Jury in the above entitled case, having found the Defendant, GLENFORD

ANTHONY BUDD, Guilty of COUNT 2 - MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE (Derrick

Jones, victim), and having found that the aggravating circumstance or circumstances

outweigh any mitigating circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of,
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

)
)

Case No. C193182

XVIIIDeptNo.-vs-

GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD,

Defendant.

~----~
INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY

(INSTRUCTION NO.1)

MEMBERS OF THE JURY:

It is now my duty as judge to instruct you in the law that applies to this penalty

hearing. It is your duty as jurors to follow these instructions and to apply the rules of law to

the facts as you find them from the evidence.

You must not be concerned with the wisdom of any rule of law stated in these

instructions. Regardless of any opinion you may have as to what the law ought to be, it

would be a violation of your oath to base a verdict upon any other view of the law than that

given in the instructions of the Court.

_ .. --_ ... - ... ---~--~~-------~--~--~----~---~



1 INSTRUCTION NO. ------1
2 If, in these instructions, any rule, direction or idea is repeated or stated in different

3 ways, no emphasis thereon is intended by me and none may be inferred by you. For that

4 reason, you are not to single out any certain sentence or any individual point or instruction

5 and ignore the others, but you are to consider all the instructions as a whole and regard each

6 in the light of aJl the others.
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1 INSTRUCTION NO. >- ~

2 The trial jury shall fix the punishment for every person convicted of murder of the

3 first degree.
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-----------------------------------------

3 (1) Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole:

4 (2) Life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole

5 beginning when a minimum of 40 years has been served;

6 (3) Imprisonment for a definite term of 100 years, with eligibility for parole beginning

7 when a minimum of 40 years has been served; or,

8 (4) Death.
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INSTRUCTION NO.

The jury shall fix the punishment at:
1
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INSTRUCTION NO. j
........;:::::...-----\

1

2 Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole means exactly what it says, that

3 the defendant shall not be eligible for parole.

4 Life imprisonment with the possibility of parole is a sentence to life imprisonment

5 which provides that the defendant would be eligible for parole after a minimum period of

6 forty years. This does not mean that he would be paroled after forty years but only that he

7 would be eligible for parole after that period of time.

8 Likewise, a prison term of one hundred years with eligibility for parole beginning

9 when a minimum of forty years has been served does not mean that the defendant would be

10 paroled after forty years but only that he would be eligible for parole after that period of

11 time.

12 If you sentence the defendant to death, you must assume that the sentence will be

13 carried out.
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In the penalty hearing, evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and

mitigating circumstances, and any other evidence that bears on the Defendant's character.

Hearsay is admissible in a penalty hearing.

--- - -- ----- -_.-._-----_. ----

INSTRUCTION NO. 6
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1 INSTRUCTION NO. 7-------1
2 In order to even consider the death penalty as an option for sentencing, you must first

3 find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating circumstance alleged by the State, in

4 fact, does exist. If you do not find that the aggravating circumstance exists, you may not

5 consider the death penalty as an option.

6 If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating circumstance exists, you

7 must then determine whether any mitigating circumstances exist.

8 The finding of a mitigating circumstance or circumstances need not be unanimous.

9 If you determine that any mitigating circumstance exists, you must then determine if

10 the one or more of the mitigating circumstances found to exist outweigh the aggravating

11 circumstance found to exist. If the one or more mitigating circumstances do not outweigh

12 the aggravating circumstance, you may consider the death penalty as an option.

13 Likewise, if you find that one or more mitigating circumstances do not exist and you

14 find that the existence of the aggravating circumstance, you may consider the death penalty

15 as an option.

16 Even if you find that the aggravating circumstance is not outweighed by the one or

17 more mitigating circumstances, or if you find that there is an aggravating circumstance and

18 that there are no mitigating circumstances at a11,you still have the discretion to vote for the

19 imposition of a sentence of life with the possibility of parole or one hundred years with the

20 possibility of parole or life without the possibility of parole, rather than the death penalty.
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1 INSTRUCTION NO. --...:e~ _
2 The law does not require the jury to impose the death penalty under any

3 circumstances, even when the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating

4 circumstances. Nor is the Defendant required to establish any mitigating circumstances in

5 order to be sentenced to less than death.
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defendant.

INSTRUCTION NO. _~-+-- _

In deciding on an appropriate sentence for the defendant, you will consider three

types of evidence: evidence relevant to the existence of aggravating circumstances, evidence

relevant to the existence of mitigating circumstances, and other evidence presented against

the defendant. You must consider each type of evidence for its appropriate purposes.

In determining unanimously whether any aggravating circumstance has been proven

beyond a reasonable doubt, you are to consider only evidence relevant to that aggravating

circumstance. You are not to consider other evidence against the defendant.

In determining individually whether any mitigating circumstance exists, you are to

consider only evidence relevant to that mitigating circumstance. You are not to consider

other evidence presented against the defendant.

In determining individually whether any mitigating circumstances outweigh any

aggravating circumstances, you are to consider only evidence relevant to any mitigating and

aggravating circumstances. You are not to consider other evidence presented against the

If you find unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one aggravating

circumstance exists and each of you determines that any mitigating circumstances do not

outweigh the aggravating circumstance, the defendant is eligible for a death sentence. At this

point, you are to consider all three types of evidence, and you still have the discretion to

impose a sentence less than death. You must decide on a sentence unanimously.

If you do not decide unanimously that at least one aggravating circumstance has been

proven beyond a reasonable doubt or if at least one of you determines that the mitigating

circumstances outweigh the aggravating, the defendant is not eligible for a death sentence.

Upon determining that the defendant is not eligible for death, you are to consider all three

types of evidence in determining a sentence other than death, and you must decide on such a

sentence unanimously.
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1 INSTRUCTION NO.

2 You are instructed that the following factor is the only circumstance alleged in this

3 case by which Murder of the First Degree may be aggravated:

4 The murder was committed by a person who has, in the instant proceeding, been

5 convicted of more than one offense of murder in the first or second degree.

6 Nevada law defines additional aggravating circumstances, but they do not apply in

7 this case.
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Murder of the first degree may be mitigated by any of the following circumstances,

even though the mitigating circumstance is not sufficient to constitute a defense or reduce

the degree of the crime:

(1) The Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

(2) The murder was committed while the Defendant was under the influence of

extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

(3) The youth of the Defendant at the time of the crime.

(4) The Defendant's diminished intelligence.

(5) The impact of the defendant's execution on his family members, including his'

mother, grandmother, brother, and sisters Shermaine and Angelzl..;

(6) The impact of the defendant's execution on his other family members, friends and

loved ones.

(7) Any other mitigating circumstances.

INSTRUCTION NO. I I
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)~INSTRUCTION NO. ------
Mitigating circumstances are those factors which, while they do not constitute a legal

justification or excuse for the commission of the offense in question, may be considered, in

the estimation of the jury, in fairness and mercy, as extenuating or reducing the degree of the

Defendant's moral culpability.

You must consider and give effect to any aspect of the Defendant's character or record

and any of the circumstances of the offense that the Defendant proffers as a basis for a

sentence less than death.

In balancing aggravating and mitigating circumstances, it is not the mere number of

aggravating circumstances or mitigating circumstances that controls.

-- ---~--------------------------~---
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INSlRUCTION NO.I

2 In determining whether mitigating circumstances exist, jurors have an obligation to

3 make an independent and objective analysis of all the relevant evidence. Arguments of

4 counselor a party do not relieve jurors of this responsibility. Jurors must consider the totality

5 ofthe circumstances of the crime and the defendant, as established by the evidence presented

6 in the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. Neither the prosecution's nor the defendant's

7 insistence on the existence or nonexistence of mitigating circumstances is binding upon the

8 Jurors.
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INSTRUCTION NO. 11------1
A reasonable doubt is one based on reason. It is not mere possible doubt, but is such

a doubt as would govern or control a person in the more weighty affairs of life. If the minds

of the jurors, after the entire comparison and consideration of all the evidence, are in such a

condition that they can say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge, there is

not a reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable must be actual, not mere possibility or

speculation.



1

2 The jury is instructed that in determining the appropriate penalty to be imposed in this

3 case that it may consider all evidence introduced and instructions given at both the penalty

4 hearing phase ofthese proceedings and at the trial of this matter.
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1 INSTRUCTION NO. ~------
2 In your deliberation you may not discuss or consider the subject of guilt or innocence

3 of the Defendant, as that issue has already been decided. Your duty is confined to a

4 determination of the punishment to be imposed.
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INSTRUCTION NO. _1_++- _1

2 The credibility or believability of a witness should be determined by his manner upon

3 the stand, his relationship to the parties, his fears, motives, interests or feelings, his

4 opportunity to have observed the matter to which he testified, the reasonableness of his

5 statements and the strength or weakness of his recollections.

6 If you believe that a witness has lied about any material fact in the case, you may

7 disregard the entire testimony of that witness or any portion of his testimony which is not

8 proved by other evidence.
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Although you are to consider only the evidence in the case in reaching a verdict, you

must bring to the consideration of the evidence your everyday common sense and judgment

as reasonable men and women. Thus, you are not limited solely to what you see and hear as

the witnesses testify. You may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence which you feel

are justified in the light of common experience, keeping in mind that such inferences should

not be based on speculation or guess.

A verdict may never be influenced by sympathy, prejudice or public opinion. Your

decision should be the product of sincere judgment and sound discretion in accordance with

these rules of law.

INSTRUCTION NO.
------1



INSlRUCTION NO. -{~1---11

2 During your deliberation, you will have all the exhibits which were admitted into

3 evidence, these written instructions and forms of verdict which have been prepared for your

4 convenience.

5 Your verdict must be unanimous. When you have agreed upon your verdicts, they

6 should be signed and dated by your foreperson.
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1 INSTRUCTION NO. 020
------1

2 The Court has submitted several sets of verdicts to you.

3 There is one SPECIAL VERDICT dealing with the alleged aggravating circumstance.

4 There is one SPECIAL VERDICT dealing with mitigating circumstances.

5 There are three PENALTY VERDICT forms, one for each count.

6 At the conclusion of your deliberations, if you find that the existence of the

7 aggravating circumstance has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, you should return five

8 signed verdict forms: the SPECIAL VERDICT dealing with the aggravating circumstance,

9 the SPECIAL VERDICT dealing with the mitigating circumstances, and a PENALTY

10 VERDICT fixing the punishment for each of the three counts.

11 On the other hand, if you decide that the aggravating circumstance has not been

12 proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then you need only sign and return three PENALTY

13 VERDICT forms, fixing the punishment for each of the three counts.
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INS1RUCTION NO. ~cX..l...."""( 1
1

2 Now you will listen to the arguments of counsel who will endeavor to aid you to

3 reach a proper verdict by refreshing in your minds .the evidence and by showing the

4 application thereof to the law; but, whatever counsel may say, you will bear in mind that it is

5 your duty to be governed in your deliberation by the evidence as you understand it and

6 remember it to be and by the law as given to you in these instructions, with the sole, fixed

7 and steadfast purpose of doing equal and exact justice between the Defendant and the State

8 of Nevada.
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THE COURT: Let the record reflect all parties are present with counsel.

Ladies and gentlemen, it is my understanding that you have reached a verdict.

Is that correct?

JURORS: Yes.

THE COURT: Miss Foreman, would you please hand the jury verdict

forms to my bailiff. Miss Clerk, would you read the verdict.

COURT CLERK: State of Nevada, plaintiff versus Glenford Anthony Budd,

defendant, case number C193182, department number 18.

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2005, 4:05 P.M.

11 Special Verdict Aggravating Circumstances: We the jury in the

12 above entitled case having found the defendant, Glenford Anthony Budd, guilty

13 of count 1, murder of the first degree, Dajon Jones, victim, count 2, murder of

14 the first degree, Derrick Jones, victim and count 3, murder of the first degree,

15 Jason Moore, victim, designated that the following aggravating circumstance

16 has been established beyond a reasonable doubt: The murder was committed

17 by a person who has in the immediate proceeding been convicted of more than

18 one offense of murder in the first or second degree. Dated at Las Vegas,

19 Nevada this 15th day of December, 2005. Signed by the floor person, Juror No.

20 12.

21 Special Verdict Mitigating Circumstances: We the jury in the above

22 entitled case having found the defendant, Glenford Anthony Budd, guilty of

23 count 1, murder of the first degree, Dajon Jones, victim, count 2, murder of the

24 first degree, Derrick Jones, victim, and count 3, murder of the first degree,

25 Jason Moore, victim, designate that the mitigating circumstance or

-2-
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The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

The murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of

extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

The youth of the defendant at the time of the crime.

The defendant's diminished intelligence.

The impact of the defendant's execution on his family members,

including his mother, grandmother, brother and sisters, Shermaine and Angel.

The impact of the defendant's execution on his other family

members, friends and loved ones.

Any other mitigating circumstances: The apology of the defendant.

Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this 16th day of December, 2005. Signed by the

floor person, Juror number 12.

Penalty Verdict Count 1, Dajon Jones, Victim: We the jury in the

above case having found the defendant, Glenford Anthony Budd, guilty of count

1, murder of the first degree, Dajon Jones, victim, and having found that the

aggravating circumstance or circumstances outweigh any mitigating

circumstances, which have been checked or written in blue have been

established.

19 circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of life imprisonment without

20 the possibility of parole. Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this 16th of December"

21 2005. Signed by the floor person, Juror number 12.

22 Penalty Verdict Count 2, Derrick Jones, Victim: We the jury in the

23 above case having found the defendant, Glenford Anthony Budd, gUilty of count

24 2, murder of the first degree, Derrick Jones, victim, and having found that the

25 aggravating circumstance or circumstances outweigh any mitigating

-3-
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1 circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of life imprisonment without

2 the possibility of parole. Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this 16th of December,

3

4

5

6

7

2005. Signed by the floor person, Juror number 12.

Penalty Verdict Count 3, Jason Moore, Victim: We the jury in the

above case having found the defendant, Glenford Anthony Budd, guilty of count

3, murder of the first degree, Jason Moore, victim, and having found that the

aggravating circumstance or circumstances outweigh any mitigating

8 circumstance or circumstances impose a sentence of life imprisonment without

9 the possibility of parole. Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this 16th of December,

10 2005. Signed by the floor person, Juror number 12.

11 Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, are these your verdicts as read?

12 So say you one so say you all.

13 JURORS: Yes.

14 THE COURT: Would either side ask that the jurors be polled.

15 MR. BROOKS: Defense does not, Your Honor.

16 MR. KANE: No, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, thank you for the time and the

18 attention that you have given to this matter. For our one alternate, who was

19 patient and ready and willing to serve at any moment, I want you to know how

20 important your work here was. Although you may not understand the

21 significance of the time that you spent, especially since you were kept separate

22 from the rest of the jurors, the fact that we had you here, that we would have

23 at any time if we needed to call you into service, it makes these proceedings

24 effective and it makes them, I think, again, one of the best ways for us to

25

-4-



1 determine responsibility or imposition of sentence. And, so please don't think

2 that the time that you spent here was anything less important than the others.

3 You are all, each and everyone of you, released from jury service

4 and can leave the courtroom at any time. You can go downstairs. I believe

5 that we have someone standing by in jury services that can issue your checks

6 to you. However, it is not at all unusual for our attorneys to want to talk to

7 you to find out how you made your decision, what they could do better, what

8 you thought of the case.
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You are now relieved from the admonishment that I have given you

every single time you've come and gone from this room. You now can speak

to anyone you choose about any of the facts, the circumstances, your decision

making process that you choose to speak to.

On the other hand, if you should choose not to talk to anyone and

someone should insist upon talking to you, other members of the bar, people

who may have been involved in this case in some way, you can simply refuse.

You do not have to talk to anyone about this case. And if your refusal is not

enough to keep that person from bothering you, my bailiff will give each one of

you one of my business cards. All you have to do is call chambers and I can

19 take care of that for you.

20

21

22

23

24

25

Again, I want to express the thank yous that are due to you on

behalf of my court, on behalf of the system. I know on behalf of all the

attorneys, the offices that have supported these attorneys, all of the people

who are here present in this courtroom who have essentially gone through this

process for one reason or another with all of you, our system of justice doesn't

work unless people like you give of yourselves, give the time that the careful

-5- OU1766
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I leave the courtroom during the time that the attorneys if you

choose to stay and talk with them or they choose to stay and talk to you.

then come back because if any of you do stay around I like to ask if there's

anything that we can do as a court system to make this more comfortable for

you or answer some questions that perhaps the attorneys aren't able to answer

for you. So, it is my hope that I will see each and everyone of you in a few

moments after you're done talking with the attorneys if you choose to do so.

And, I am going to ask that the two sides of the courtroom here

leave separately for what I believe are obvious reasons. I would ask that - I

consideration that you all have given, and I am proud to have been a part of this

process.

There is nothing more difficult than what you all have now been

through. This is the highest level crime wherein the most difficult, certainly the

most serious penalties are being sought, and you were put into a position where

you were called upon to make some very, very difficult decisions, and for all of

us, for our entire system of justice, I cannot thank you enough.

If you wish to stay and talk with our attorneys you may do so. If

you wish to leave you can do that as well. You do, however, have to turn in

the lovely red badges that you've been so attached to for the last couple of

weeks.

21 don't care which side goes first, but, no, in fact, I do care. I would ask that

22 the victims' side leave the courtroom first and that at least one of our officers

23 escort them out of the courthouse, and I will return in a few moments.

24 Thank you all.

25 MR. O'BRIEN: Judge, may we approach for a moment?
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THE COURT: Certainly.

(Whereupon a Bench Conference was held.)

THE COURT: We need to set a date for sentencing.

THE CLERK: That will be February 1st at 9:00 a.m.

MR. BROOKS: And the matter is referred to the Department of Parole and

Probation, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Indeed. What we're going to do now, Mr. Bailiff, we're

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 going to for the attorneys' discussion with our jurors, those who wish to stay,

9 we're going to take them back into the deliberation room now that we have

10 them close by as we do here. Take the jurors back there if you would and the

11 other matters that were discussed you can take up here in the courtroom.

12 In fact, you know, counsel, maybe I'll go back first and talk to the

13 jury.

14 MR. KANE: Could I ask the Court's indulgence in remaining on the bench

15 for one minute after the jury leaves?

16 THE COURT: Certainly. Mr. Bailiff.

17 (Jurors exit at 4: 17 p.m.)

18 THE COURT: Mr. Kane. Mr. Brooks.

19 MR. KANE: Judge, I just wanted to make a record in the event of further

20 appellate review that during the jury's deliberations the court did receive three

21 notes from the jurors. The first and third notes, the Court simply indicated to

22 the jurors that they would find the answers to their questions within the Court's

23 instructions.

24 The second note required a response that had to do with the

25 responsibility of determining whether imposed sentences less than death would

-7-
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run concurrently or consecutively. We had a phone conference with the Court.

The attorneys agreed upon a written response that was given to the jury and all

attorneys, both prosecution and defense, agreed with that and then it was

furnished to the jury in writing.

THE COURT: Thank you very much. That's important that it be made a

,~

2

3

4

5

6 part of record. The notes that come to me also go into the court record even

7 though they're written on you know the skinny little, you know, juror

8 notebooks. But, I make sure those all become part of the court record as well

9 so the actual question is there.

10 I do want to also finally go on the record. Miss Pandukht, Mr.

11 Kane, I asked that everyone from this side of the courtroom leave the

12 courtroom yesterday because I wanted to have a few moments to explain to th

13 defendant how important I felt it would be for him to take the opportunity that

14 is provided to him to talk to the jury. And, although as I said this is a part of

15 the record. Everything I said was recorded. Essentially the essence of my

16 conversation with the defendant, I explained the perimeters of what he could

17 say, that he could do it under oath, what the DA's could and couldn't do, but

18 although I do not feel that I in any way violated the role of, you know, the

19 neutral person in the courtroom, I did explain to the defendant that I felt it was

20 extremely important that he take the opportunity that was provided to him and

21 address the jury in the way that he felt appropriate.

22 MR. KANE: Judge, given what was at stake, I cannot take issue with the

23 Court's decision either morally or legally.

24 THE COURT: Thank you very much.

25 MR. KANE: Thank you.

-8-



1

THE COURT: Every single word was on the record. We actually had,

MR. BROOKS: And for the record, Judge, I believe that everything the

2 Court said to my client was, in fact, on the record.

3

4 because I came off the bench, but we had the Court Reporter sitting right in

5 front of the table so everything that was said was recorded.

6 I'm going to step back so that I can assure that at least I shake

7 hands with those jurors who remain and then, Mr. Kane, Miss Pandukht,

8 whenever you are ready you can come on back.

9 MS. PANDUKHT: Okay.

10 MR. KANE. We will. Thank you, Judge.

11 THE COURT: And, we'll give you a little bit of time.

12 MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you, Judge.

13

14 [Proceedings concluded.]
\

15 ATTEST: I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the
16 sound recording in the above-entitled case.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



·.

2
ORIGINAL r:p cor • '..- j ••..••

1 TRAN

3

4

5 DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA6

7

8 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

9

)
)
) CASE NO. C193182
)
) DEPT. XVIII
)
)
)
)

---------------------------)

Plaintiff,

10 vs.

11 GLENFORD ANTHONY BUDD,

12 Defendant.

13

14 BEFORE THE HONORABLE NANCY M. SAITTA, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

15

16 FRIDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2005, 1:20 P.M.

17

18 RECORDER'S TRANSCRIPT OF TELEPHONIC HEARING RE:
POST-TRIAL JURY QUESTIONS19

APPEARANCES:
20

For the State: ED KANE, ESQ., Deputy District Attorney
TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ. Deputy District Attorney21

22 For the Defendant:

23

HOWARD BROOKS, ESQ., Deputy Public Defender
TIMOTHY O'BRIEN, ESQ., Deputy Public Defender

RECORDED BY: JO ANNE B. PIERPONT, COURT RECORDER/TRANSCRIBER

-1-



21

22

- ---- --- ------------------------------.

1

THE COURT: Thank you. State versus Budd. I'm going to ask that the

Court Recorder for purposes of at least this part of the proceedings be

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2005, 1:20 P.M.

2

3 THE COURT: Let's begin. Miss Clerk, would you please put the case

number and the case name into the record?

-- -------------------'------------------------

4

5 COURT CLERK: It's C193182.

6

7

8 designated as the official court record.

9 MR. KANE: Agreed by the State, Your Honor.

10 MR. BROOKS: Agreed by the defense, Your Honor, with the

11 understanding that the official record is still submitted to us on a daily basis.

12 THE COURT: That's correct. We have two questions that we have

13 received from the jury. Miss Clerk, would you please read those questions into

14 the record.

15 COURT CLERK: Which one?

16 THE BAILIFF: Question number one, the first one.

17 COURT CLERK: Question number one: Can we please get verification on

18 the special verdict mitigating circumstances form? If we check a box does that

19 just mean it is a mitigating circumstance or does it mean we think it outweighs

20 the aggravating circumstance?

23

THE COURT: Now, with respect to that question I had a form on my

letterhead typed that instructed the jurors to please carefully review the written

instructions because I believe the answer to that question is set forth within the

instructions. The second question is the one that I wanted to confer with all of24

25 you --
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2

MR. KANE: Judge, before we leave the first one, this is Ed Kane, I have

no objection to the Court's suggested response because I believe it is answered

3 in the original instructions, however, since the verdict forms are so confusing,

4 the State would have no objection to the Court telling the jury that checking the

5 mitigating circumstance box on the mitigating circumstances verdict form does

6 not control the weighing of mitigators versus aggravators. It simply means that

7 they have found that mitigator.

8 THE COURT: Mr. Brooks, Mr. O'Brien.

9 MR. BROOKS: Judge, we prefer the Court's suggested instruction.

10 MR. KANE: As I was sure they would.

11 THE COURT: I am always extremely hesitant to be any more specific,

12 especially when I believe that the answer to the question is contained within

13 the instructions. Unless there is an agreement, I will stay with my original

14 instruction.

15 MR. KANE: Understood, Your Honor.

16 THE COURT: The second question, Miss Clerk, would you read that into

17 the record please.

18 COURT CLERK: Would sentences other than the death penalty be carried

19 out consecutively or concurrently?

20 THE COURT: Now, I saved that question because I thought we need to

21 discuss this. Obviously, the instructions do not include in them any

22 consideration for consecutive imposition of sentences between the counts and

23 they certainly do not include the instruction regarding the equal and consecutive

24 for the use. I would very much, unless you all have a better idea, like to again

25
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have the jury be advised in writing on my letter that that is not a matter that

.,

1

2 you can be concerned about. Mr. Kane, Miss Pandukht.

3 MR. KANE: My only problem with that, Judge, is I don't know that really

4 answers their question. My understanding of it is that it's the trial judge who

5 determines consecutive or concurrent and I'd have no objection to an

6 instruction that tells them that.

7 THE COURT: That's a better than accurate statement of what happens 0

8 what would happen. Mr. Brooks and Mr. O'Brien.

9 MR. BROOKS: Judge, what we would ask is that the Court instruct the

10 jury as follows: The use of a deadly weapon, well

11 MS. PANDUKHT: That's already in there.

12 MR. BROOKS: Alright. I agree.

13 MR. KANE: Well, I don't see any reason to get into that, Judge.

14 MR. BROOKS: I agree. Okay. I agree. I agree, it's just that, okay. Okay.

15 THE COURT: But they're not asking that.

16 MR. BROOKS: Okay. I would ask that the Court instruct the jury that the

17 trial court determines the consecutive or concurrent nature of the sentences.

18 THE COURT: And therefore --

19 MR. KANE: And the State would have no objection to that, Judge.

20 THE COURT: And therefore they have no need to consider that.

21 MR. BROOKS: Correct.

22 MR. KANE: And that's fine. Sure, Judge.

23 THE COURT: Okay, as you know, I'm at one of our local hotels at a

24 Supreme Court meeting, or I presume that you know that.· So I'm not there in

25
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the office and my JEA is also here with me. Cliff, do you think we can get1

2 someone who is back in chambers there to type out the second answer?

3 THE BAILIFF: If not Gil, if you don't feel comfortable that way we can go

4 with Judge's Walls' secretary. She's in.

5 THE COURT: Oh, I'm perfectly comfortable with Gil.

6 THE BAILLlF: Okay.

7 THE COURT: Perfectly comfortable. I would ask simply that either all

8 counselor at least one from each side stand over his shoulder as he types it

9 andlor that they write it out so that we can have an exact statement of what

10 we think the response to their question should be.

11 MR. KANE: We'll stay until it's agreed between counsel if that's

12 acceptable to the Court, Judge.

13 THE COURT: Thank you. That's what I would prefer. I also want you all

14 to know, you know, we had a problem with one juror who sent me a note last

15 night, Juror number 10, that he needed not to come in today and I gave the

16 instruction through Mr. Bailiff that unless he heard otherwise he should come in.

17 He did come in and he obviously is participating in a meaningful way with the

18 deliberations.

19 However, the beginning of next week we begin to run into

20 problems. If you can review your notes from some of the jury selection process

21 we begin to run into trouble with people who had plans to be out of the

22 jurisdiction that we promised they would be able to comply with their plans.

23 am seriously contemplating bringing the jury back tomorrow to deliberate if they

24 do not reach a verdict today.

25 MR. KANE: No problem on behalf of the State, Judge.

-5-
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1 MR. BROOKS: No problem on behalf of the defense, Your Honor.

2 THE COURT: Very well. Then either I will see you all later this afternoon

3 and/or tomorrow.

4 MS. PANDUKHT: And, Judge, if we do, yeah, tomorrow, would we have

5 like half an hour from when we're notified since we're going to be at home?

6 THE COURT: Oh, of course, of course. We always give you guys a half

7 hour.

8 MS. PANDUKHT: Oh, Judge, what time would you have them break

9 today? Do you know?

10 THE COURT: Oh, I'm going to make --

11 (Phone unexpectedly disconnected.)

12 [Proceedings concluded.]

13 ATTEST: I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the
14 sound recording in the above-entitled case.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

ru1776



4

12-14-05

21 and nothing but the truth, was examined and

24 please state your name and spell it for the

1 the trial, including their verdicts of guilty on

2 three counts of first degree murder, we rest our

3 case in chief.

THE COURT: On behalf of the defendant,

5 Mr. Brooks, Mr. O'Brien, are you prepared to call

6 a witness?

7 MR. BROOKS: Judge, can I look out in the

hallway, please?

THE COURT: Certainly.

MR. O'BRIEN: Can we approach, judge?

THE COURT: Certainly.

MR. O'BRIEN: Oh, no, just your clerk.

MR. BROOKS: Judge, the defense would

8

9

10

11

12

13
14 call James Esten, E-s-t-e-n.

15 THE BAILIFF: Mr. Esten, if you would,
16 raise your right hand, please, face the clerk.
17
18 JAMES ESTEN,
19 called as a witness, and having been first duly

20 sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

22 testified as follows:

23 THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you

25 record?
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05 state v

4

A. In 1973, following my discharge from the

1 THE WITNESS: James Esten, J-a-m-e-s

2 E-s-t-e-n.

3 THE CLERK: Thank you.

5 DIRECT EXAMINATION

6 BY MR. BROOKS:

7 Q. Mr. Esten, what is your occupation,

8 please, sir?

9 A. I am retired from the California

10 Department of Corrections, and since 1994 I have

11 been working as a correctional consultant.

12 Q. Where do you live right now?

13 A. Sacramento, California.

14 Q. And what is your formal education,

15 please, sir?

16 A. I hold a Bachelor or Arts Degree in
17 English from San Francisco State University, which

18 I obtained in 1973, and a Master of Arts Degree in

19 education administration, which I obtained several

20 years later from San Jose State University.

21 Q. What is your employment background, sir?

22

23 united States Marine Corps, I went to work for the

24 California Department of Corrections and was so

25 employed until my retirement medically in December
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05

1 of 1992.
2 Q. What do you do with your, in your, the
3 service of your employers?
4 A. My initial employment with the California
5 Department of Corrections was as a vocational
6 instructor, teaching inmates offset printing
7 skills so that, upon their parole, they would be
8 employable as printers in the community. I held a
9 variety of jobs. I held that position for the

10 first seven years. Following that I was a
11 supervising correctional counselor. I supervised
12 four correctional counselors who, in turn, had 125
13 inmates on their case load. As a supervising
14 correctional counselor, I chaired the reception
15 center classification committee. I was a
16 supervising counselor for a general population
17 housing unit for a security housing unit, a lockup
18 housing unit. I was the public information
19 officer for the institution, and I was the
20 administrative assistant to the
21 superintendent/warden.
22 Following that I was promoted to a
23 program administrator position, and in that
24 capacity I was the supervisor of a general
25 population inmate housing unit with 600 general

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05

1 population inmates in what California terms level
2 three and level four. I chaired their
3 classification committee. I supervised the
4 correctional officers, correctional sergeants, and
5 correctional lieutenants assigned to that housing
6 unit. My next position was as the administrator
7 of the training center at Galt, G-a-l-t,
8 California. This is where all new correctional
9 officers were trained prior to their assignment to

10 a institution within the California system. My
11 last assignment was as an inmate appeals
12 investigator working in headquarters in Sacramento
13 where I investigated inmate complaints on behalf
14 of the director of corrections. Inmates in the
15 California system and the Nevada system have the
16 ability to grieve, if you will, anything that they
17 feel was done wrongly to them. This is short of
18 their commitment offense, something that happened
19 to them after their receipt in their respective
20 department of corrections. It could be as
21 minuscule as, when I got my lunch, it was supposed
22 to have a piece of cheese, and it didn't to, I've
23 been accused of stabbing Inmate Joe, and I wasn't
24 even in the housing unit at the time Inmate Joe
25 was stabbed.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1

A. For the first two years I did

Q. Since your retirement what have you been
2 doing?
3

4 post-retirement kind of fooling around stuff,
5 nothing really productive. And then in 1994 the
6 former director of corrections, Jerry Enomoto,
7 E-n-o-m-o-t-o, was appointed to the eastern
8 district as US Marshal by then President Clinton.
9 He had been a correctional consultant. We had

10 known each other during his working days and my
11 working days. And he asked me if I would like to
12 take over his consultancy. I felt honored, and
13 that was something that interested me, and I had
14 been doing that ever since.
15 Q. What does that mean, to consult in this
16 way that you described?
17 A. For the most part, what I do is review
18 the histories of inmates charged with serious
19 felonies who are facing either life, life without
20 possibility of parole, or death sentences. I
21 review their records and make an evaluation for
22 their attorneys as to their amenability for
23 placement in a maximum security prison for the
24 remainder of their lives.
25 Q. Now, why are you here today?

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05

1

Q. You have also acquainted yourself with

A. I had been retained by the Clark County
2 Public Defender's Office to review the confinement
3 history of the defendant and evaluate his
4 potential for successful placement in Ely State
5 Prison.
6 Q. Are you paid to be here?
7 A. I am.
8

9
Q. And how much are you being paid?
A. I'm being paid $800 plus expenses.
Q. And is that expenses including air

11 travel?
12 A. The county booked my air travel. It
13 would cover parking in Sacramento and maybe lunch
14 if I get to it.
15 Q. Okay. Now, in preparation for your
16 testimony here, you have toured the Ely State

17 Prison?
18
19

20

A. On two occasions, yes.
Q. And when did you tour that facility?
A. The first occasion was in 1999. The last

21 occasion was the past October, October 20th.
22

23
24

Q. Of 2005?

A. Yes.

25 the administrative regulations governing the
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05

2

Q. You've mentioned the term classification.

1 prisons of Nevada?
A. I have downloaded every regulation

3 available regarding conditions of confinement,
4 classification, how inmates are moved, what
5 security restraints are placed on them, canteen
6 operations, everything that would apply to an
7 inmate being housed in a maximum security setting
8 at Ely.
9

10

11
12

Q. You've also interviewed the warden on --
A. On two occasions.
Q. What is his name?
A. EK -- those are his initials -- MCDaniel.

13 Q. And when did you interview him?
14 A. In 1999 and October 20, 2005.
15 Q. And you've also reviewed Clark County
16 Detention Center records; is that correct?
17 A. That is correct.
18
19

Q. What kind of records did you review?
A. I reviewed the disciplinary records

20 provided by CCDe on a subpoena and the medical
21 records that were attached thereto.
22 Q. Now, in your describing your experience,
23 which is mostly in California, correct?
24
25

A. Correct.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05 State v dd

1 What does that mean?
2 A. Classification is the process used by
3 every department of corrections nationwide to
4 place the inmate in the appropriate custodial
5 setting based on his unique needs, those needs
6 encompassing the commitment offense, his age, any
7 arrests or criminal history that he may have, any
8 gang involvement or gang affiliation he may have.
9 The goal of every department of corrections is to

10 house an inmate in the most secure facility to
11 meet his needs but the least security, the least
12 secure facility to meet the needs of the
13 department, because the higher the security level,
14 the more expensive it is to house someone. But
15 every department of corrections will house an
16 inmate based on the security level that they deem
17 is appropriate to protect society and the staff
18 and inmates of that institution.
19 Q. Based on your experience in California
20 and based on your review of Nevada records and
21 your conversation with Mr. McDaniel, are you able
22 to tell us what will happen to a person in the
23 prison system in terms of where they go and what
24 they do with them after a person is convicted of
25 first degree murder?

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1

2
A. Yes.
Q. Can you tell us what would happen in that

3 situation?
4 A. Actually I can tell you better in Nevada
5 than in California. California has 33 prisons and
6 166,000 inmates. Nevada has nowhere near that.
7 Every Southern Nevada inmate in the southern
8 counties will go to High Desert State Prison for
9 reception center processing. There he undergoes a

10 classification interview where all those
11 background factors that I listed earlier are
12 established. He'll go through a medical. He'll
13 go through a psychiatric review. He'll go through
14 a battery of tests to determine just who he is and
15 where he is best placed.
16 He will then be moved on, and in this
17 case there is no question he will be moved on to
18 Ely State Prison. The very nature of the offenses
19 in this case and the age of the defendant require
20 that he be placed initially from High Desert State
21 Prison to Ely State Prison, the only maximum
22 security prison in the State of Nevada.
23 California has 11.
24 Q. Let me interrupt you. You said the age
25 of the defendant. What do you mean by that?

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05 State v

1 A. The defendant is very young. He has a
2 birthday coming in a little more than a week,
3 which will make him 23, I believe. He has no
4 history to bring with him to the Nevada Department
5 of Corrections that will tell them that this guy
6 is worth taking a risk with. If pe were 35, if he
7 were 40, if he had been in and out of the system
8 numerous times, they would have a track record on
9 him that would say he's worthy of placement in

10 other than our maximum security institution. The
11 three homicides, the lack of history that he has
12 with the Nevada Department of Corrections requires
13 that he be placed in Ely State Prison, the only
14 maximum state prison in the system.
15 Q. What is the difference between a maximum
16 security prison and other prisons?
17 A. In Nevada it's a degree of movement.
18 Inmates newly received in administrative
19 segregation as life-term inmates at Ely are locked
20 up 23 hours a day. Inmates in other systems have
21 more freedom and more movement. That is not the
22 case with someone new to the system, new to Ely.
23 He will be ad seg. He will be locked up 23 hours
24 a day. He will be fed in his cell. He will be
25 escorted with two correctional officers anywhere

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05, State

1 he goes in both handcuff and waist restraint and
2 ankle restraint. He will undergo an unclothed
3 body search anytime he leaves his cell. This is a
4 maximum security prison with maximum controls.
5 Q. Now, going back a second, we've talked
6 about what happens if you're convicted of murder.
7 Does it make a difference, in terms of this
8 classification, whether the person is sentenced to
9 life in prison with the possibility of parole,

10 life in prison without the possibility of parole,
11 or death penalty?
12 A. Not initially.
13 Q. All of these people that, go to Ely
14 prison; is that right?
15 A. They're all going to Ely prison. The
16 death row condemned inmate goes to a separate
17 section of what's called phase one in Ely State
18 Prison but in that same phase one section. But In
19 a different building is the
20 life-without-possibility-of-paroleinmate. So,
21 for all intent and purposes, they're housed the
22 same.
23
24

Q. Where is Ely State Prison?
A. Ely State Prison is approximately four

25 and a half to five hours north of here.
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05, State v

1 Q. In Northern Nevada?

2 A. Central Nevada. It's not, it's like due

3 east of Reno.

4 Q. Okay. How many prisoners are at Ely

5 State Prison?

6 A. I don't have an absolute count. I can

7 give you the numbers that the Internet gives me,

8 and that varies from 780 plus or minus to 1100.

9 There is a design capacity. There is a optimal

10 capacity. And there is an overcrowded capacity.

11 So, it varies on just how many there are. When I

12 was there in October, I was told that they were

13 reaching capacity.

14 Q. When you were there in October, you took

15 a tour of the facility?

16 A. Yes.
17 Q. How did that happen?

18 A. A request was made, pursuant to my work

19 on another capital case, for me to tour with one

20 of the attorneys from that case. In a previous

21 case the district attorney had objected to the

22 currency of my testimony, because my previous tour

23 was in 1999. It was then decided that before I

24 would testify in the following case every effort

25 would be made to gain access to Ely, once again,
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 to update my knowledge of the facility, if

2 anything had changed.

3 Q. And, by the way, you've testified in

4 other cases; is that correct?

5 A. I've testified in five Clark County cases

6 and one Washoe County case.

7 Q. And have you testified in California?

8 A. Oh, I've testified in 65 cases in

9 California.

10 Q. Do you always testify for the defense?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Have you ever testified for the State?

13 A. I have been retained by the federal

14 prosecutor's office in Kern County, but I was not

15 called to testify.

16 Q. I want to understand what the Ely prison,

17 how it's organized. Can you give me a general

18 idea of how it's broken down up there?

19 A. The physical plan is designated as phase

20 one and phase two. As you enter the facility

21 phase one is on the right. Phase two is on the

22 left. It's not a very complex system. Phase one

23 was finished first. Phase two was finished

24 second. Consequentially, they named them one and

25 two. ~l of the lockup inmates, those being
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 condemned, life without possibility of parole,
2 those ad seg inmates who have life with
3 possibility of parole, those disciplinary
4 detention inmates, anyone who's on any form of a
5 lockup status is in phase one or the right-hand
6 side. The left-hand side are general population,
7 still maximum security inmates but general
8 population maximum security inmates who have a
9 little more freedoms than those on the right-hand

10 phase one side.
11 Q. You referred to adrninseg. What is that
12 exactly?
13 A. Administrative segregation is a form of
14 housing imposed by maximum security prisons and
15 others for the management of the inmate
16 population. The less movement that your inmates
17 have, the less problems your inmates are going to
18 create, the less potential for gang activity, the
19 less potential for narcotics movement, the less
20 potential for weapons involvement. Because when
21 inmates don't get together, they don't plan
22 uprising problems, disturbances.
23 The administrative segregation inmates
24 are singularly housed in most cases, two-man
25 housed in other cases. The only time they would

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 go to the yard, exercise yard would be by
2 themselves if they're single celled or together
3 with a cell partner if there are two men 1n that
4 cell. So, you don't have the clustering or
5 grouping of inmates that you would have where
6 they're allowed to commingle.
7 Q. And it's my understanding what you're
8 saying here is that a person convicted of murder
9 who gets a sentence of life or life without the

10 possibility of parole will definitely go to
11 administrative segregation at first when they go
12 to the prison system?
13 A. They will go to High Desert for
14 processing, and High Desert will send them to Ely,
15 and Ely will make them administrative segregation,
16 lockup 23 hours a day.
17 Q. How long will that condition last for an
18 inmate if it can be said?
19 A. There is not an absolute answer to that.
20 There is the option -- that's the important word,
21 an option -- for review after 90 days, but the
22 inmate has to present some important factor that
23 would provide a reason for the committee to change
24 their mind and release them from ad seg standard.
25 Reviews are 180 days. That's what the book says.
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1 But there are inmates, and this is based on

2 testimony by EK McDaniel. There are inmates who

3 have been in administrative segregation for more

4 than 10 years, for 12 years.

5 Q. You caused certain photographs to be

6 taken during your tour up there; is that right?

7 A. Yes. Let me give you a little history.

~ 8 On the 1999 tour I was permitted to take a camera

9 into Ely State Prison. I was shown to phase two,

10 the general population side of Ely State Prison

11 with the explanation that every cell at Ely is the

12 same. Subsequent to that and prior to the 2005

13 tour I learned that phase one is significantly

14 different because of the types of inmates that are

15 housed there.

16 So, in October of 2005 I brought the

17 digital camera to take pictures, and the camera

18 was not permitted into the institution. A

19 correctional officer was assigned to accompany us

20 and take whatever pictures we requested.

21 MR. BROOKS: With the Court's permission,

22 may I approach?

23 THE COURT: Certainly.

24 BY MR. BROOKS:
25 Q. What I'm going to do is, I'm going to

89
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1 have you identify the pictures. I'm going to move

2 for admission, and then I'm going to let you

3 explain to the jury what they are.

4 Do you recognize what's Defense Proposed

5 Exhibit E?

12 all pictures that were taken during the witness's

13 October, 2005 visit and if they all fairly and

14 accurately depict, we'll stipulate to their

15 admission, and they can be displayed to the jury

16 as they're being described.

19 those. The numbers again for the record?

21 I, J, K, L, and M.

23 stipulation they would be admitted. The defense

24 may publish them. And there was actually an

25 acknowledgment that they were taken during the

7

8

9

10

11

17
18

20

22

A. Yes.

Q. What is that, please?

A. That is a picture of a vacant cell that

we were shown as an example of all cells at phase

one and/or phase two of Ely.

MR. KANE: Judge, if these pictures are

MR. BROOKS: That is the case.

THE COURT: Mr. Brooks, then you may use

MR. BROOKS: Defense Exhibit E, F, G, H,

THE COURT: For the record, by
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1 October, '05 visit of this witness and that they
2 accurately, fairly and accurately depict the
3 prison. Is that correct?
4 MR. BROOKS: That's correct, your Honor.
5 THE COURT: You may proceed.
6 BY MR. BROOKS:
7 Q. Mr. Esten, I'm going to put them on the
8 board here, let the jury see them at the same time
9 I'm going to show them to you.

10 By the way, this is interesting. We have
11 new technology here. This is a brand new
12 courthouse. You can actually look at them on your
13 screen there, and you can take your hand and make
14 marks and show things. And to make it go away
15 just punch it.
16 THE COURT: Usually it goes away.

17 BY MR. BROOKS:
18 Q. Well, you punch it somewhere, and it
19 cleans up. There it is. Okay.
20 This is, we're starting off here with
21 Proposed -- well, Defense Exhibit E. What does
22 this show us here?
23 A. Defense Exhibit E is the rear wall of a
24 cell designated either administrative segregation
25 or condemned in phase one of Ely State Prison.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 The right wall identifies, going across to the
2 left, a writing shelf for the inmate. The green
3 box in the lower left corner is the platform for
4 the mattress. And the light area in the upper
5 left-hand corner is the recessed window that is
6 made of lexan, which is impenetrable and is
7 approximately 30 inches by four to five inches
8 wide, precluding anyone escaping through that
9 space.

10 Q. Do you know the dimensions of this cell?
11 A. We queried EK McDaniel, the warden, while
12 they were there for the dimension of the cell. He
13 did not know off the top of his head and faxed to
14 us dimensions that indicate the width of this cell
15 at 6'8" and the depth of this cell from front to
16 rear this may be hard to show -- as 16'.

17 Q. Now, is everyone in phase one in a cell
18 like this?
19 A. Everyone is in a cell like that, unless
20 they have a cell partner, in which case there
21 would be another bunk above this one where a
22 second inmate would sleep.
23 Q. In phase one were some people double
24 bunked?
25 A. Yes.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 Q. Assuming a person graduated from phase
2 one to phase two, were they in similar cells like
3 this if you know?
4 A. Yes. The cells throughout Ely are the
5 same other than the single versus double bunk
6 configuration.
7 Q. In phase two is it, is it also single
8 bunk?
9 A. My understanding is that phase two is

10 double bunked.
11 Q. I'm going to show you now Defense Exhibit
12 F. What is this?
13 A. This is the other side of the same cell.
14 We're looking at the same window in the upper
15 left-hand corner, the other edge of the shelf on
16 the right, and the bunk as it attaches to the
17 left-hand wall, again looking in from the doorway.
18
19

Q. What about Defense Exhibit G?
A. G is the shelf again attached to the

20 right-hand wall, looking in from the door of the
21 cell. I think of interest, because I brought it
22 up to EK McDaniel, are all of the marks on the
23 walls of the cell, the marks -- what did I do?
24 THE COURT: Tap the right side of your
25 screen.
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THE WITNESS: Thank you -- the marks on
the rear wall, the marks on the right-hand wall.
The red border is where I have drawn a squaret and
that's the designated spot where inmates are
supposed to put up photographs or pictures cut out
from magazines, whatever is permitted in the
institution. That square is where they're
supposed to be placed. But this particular inmate
had covered all of the walls with photographst and
the paint was peeled off when the photographs were
removed. I asked if, as would typically be the
case in a maximum security facility, the inmate
was going to be charged for the painting of the
wall due to destruction of state property, and I
was told that he would be.
BY MR. BROOKS:

Q. What about Defense Exhibit H? What is
this?

A. That is a toilet, toilet paper roll
holder, sink, and drinking fountain, stainless
steel combination facility that is in place in
every cell.

Q. And what is Defense Exhibit I? What does
that show us?

A. I is the exterior door of a phase one
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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cell. I do not know that it is the same cell that
we photographed the interior of, but they are all
the same.

Q. What is that door made of if you know?
A. Steel.
Q. What about Defense Exhibit J? What does

this show us?

A. This is the same door with the food port
opened. And the food port serves a dual purpose.
Inmates in level one and some inmates in level --
or phase two -- excuse me -- phase one and phase
two are fed exclusively in their cells. All their
meals are brought to them. With the tray slot
opened, the food tray can be pushed into the cell
through that door without having to open the door
itself. And the inmate takes the tray. When he's
finished the with the meal, the door is opened
again, and he returns the tray to the correctional
officer.

I said it serves two purposes. When the
inmate is to be removed from the cell, the inmate
backs up to this food port, places his hands and
wrists through the opening, and he is handcuffed
by the correctional staff. He then steps away
from the door, and the door is opened but not
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until he lS securily handcuffed.
Q. And inmates are spending how much time a

day in this cell situation?
A. Twenty-three hours a day.
Q. What does this picture, which is Defense

Exhibit K, show, please?
A. This is a typical housing unit in phase

one. The cell doors are the darker colored
squares here and here and here. They are
bisected, identified with an X by access to the
plumbing, the stainless steel plumbing facility
that I showed you earlier. All of these
facilities are two tiers, meaning that there is a
row of cells on the bottom and a row of cells on
the top. The number of cells are identical top
and bottom.

Q. And what about Defense Exhibit L?
A. This is the exercise yard where inmates

in phase one who are in administrative segregation
or serving a death sentence or a life term may
exercise. This door that I'm identifying is an
emergency escape door, which is not used, and
it's, in fact, it's welded shut. In the left-hand
corner where the light and shadow meet is a
basketball hoop. I queried Warden McDaniel as to
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what exercise materials were available to the
inmates on this exercise yard. His response was,
what you see is what they get. There was nothing
there.

Q. What about Defense Exhibit M?
A. M is the left-hand corner of the same

exercise yard. The basketball hoop would be
approximately where I placed an X to the right of
that. Again there were no handballs, basketballs.
There were no balls of any kind and in that
exercise yard.

Q. Now, you've testified a little bit about
various things you saw and observed.

Are inmates allowed to leave their cells
one hour a day?

A. Yes.
Q. Where do they get to go?
A. They are permitted to go to the exercise

yard, and three times a week a portion of that
exercise yard time is for showers. So, while you
can go to the yard, if you choose to go to the
shower on one of those days, your yard time would
be curtailed due to the process of showering.

Q. So, the average inmate or the inmate up
there gets to shower how many times a week?
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A. Three times.
Q. Now, he's eating in his cell, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. The food is handed through the port hole?
A. Yes.
Q. What if he wants to make a telephone

call? How does he do that?
A. There is a phone on a dolly that goes up

and down the tier, the tier being the walking area
in front of the cells. And he makes a collect
phone call using that phone. There is a
photograph, and I'm not sure you have it, but part
of the housing unit photographs include telephones
on the walls. Those are not accessible for
inmates who are in administrative segregation,
death row, et cetera.

Q. Do you know if they get free phone calls?
A. Absolutely not. They have to make phone

calls using calling cards or collect calls.
Q. What if they want to read a book? How do

they get books?
A. There is an approved library book system.

They can request the book. The book is brought to
them. And they may review, read the book, review
the book. There are also processes for ordering
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books, but anything that an inmate orders is
subject to a significant surcharge because of the
handling required by the prison.

Q. You described a window in the cell. It
was a narrow, vertical slit. Is that fair to say?

A. Yes.
Q. What is the view out of those windows if

you know?
A. At Ely that view is High Desert broken by

the perimeter fence.
Q. Do you know anything about the climate at

Ely?
A. I have been told by staff who were

conducting the October tour that it has snowed as
much as five feet during a shift, and they had to
get highway patrol help to get out of there to get
home.

Q. So, it's a cold climate in the wintertime
at least?

A. Yes. It's high altitude.
Q. Perhaps it's warm in the summertime.

When a person is transported around the facility
are they allowed to walk like I'm walking right
now across the courtroom?

A. When they are transported, they are in
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handcuffs with waist restraint so that their hands
are tied to their waist by the chains with
movement of approximately four inches. And they
are in ankle chains, which basically forces them
to shuffle.

Q. What is a waist restraint?
A. A waist restraint is a restraint that

goes around the inmate'S waist, through his legs,
around his crotch. And his handcuffs are attached
to the waist or belly chain.

Q. Now, is this an environment up there
where people are relaxed, or is this a very
controlled environment?

A. This is the most controlled penal
environment in Nevada.

Q. Can you compare it to California?
A. Comparing it to California, I would say

it's comparable to Pelican Bay.
Q. Which is a maximum security prison?
A. Which is a maximum security prison, also,

for lack of a better term, in the middle of
nowhere.

Q. Is it clean at Ely?
A. It is impeccable, absolutely pristine.
Q. Are there lots of regulations?
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A. There are regulations for everything.

101

Q. Are they ignored or enforced if you know?
A. They are enforced strictly.

MR. BROOKS: Now, you also examined, may
I approach, your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. BROOKS:

Q. You also examined some disciplinary
records on Glenford Budd; is that correct?

A. I did.
Q. And I'm handing you what's been marked as

Defense Proposed Exhibit V. Are those the
disciplinary records you examined?

A. Yes.
MR. BROOKS: I would like to move to

admit these, please.
MR. KANE: No objection.
THE COURT: Thank you.

BY MR. BROOKS:
Q. What is Glenford Budd's disciplinary

record like at Clark County Detention Center?
A. Minimal.
Q. What do you mean by minimal?
A. I have reviewed disciplinary records

where inmates had been involved in riots or
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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inmates had been in possession of weapons or
inmates have made inmate manufactured alcohol or
inmates have assaulted cell partners or
correctional staff. This is essentially nuisance
kind of activity for the amount of time that the
defendant was housed in the facility.

Q. He does have write-ups, doesn't he?
A. He does have write-ups, yes.
Q. How many write-ups does he have?
A. I'm counting four, because we have a

disagreement over whether or not one belongs to
him.

Q. Okay. What was he written up for?
A. His initial write-up was creating a minor

disturbance within the facility. He was banging
on the window.

Q. Okay. What else?
A. Possession of unauthorized items,

contraband, or clothing. He had a magazine that
belonged to another inmate.

Q. Anything else?
A. We had the one that I do not believe

belongs to him, because the cell number is
transposed, and his name does not appear.

Q. Okay.
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14 CROSS-EXAMINATION
15 BY MR. KANE:

udd 103

1

THE COURT: Mr. Kane?

A. Failure to follow safety regulations. He
2 failed to close the day room door when told to do
3 so and leaving his seat during chow.
4 Q. Now, someone with this type of minimal
5 disciplinary record is still, if he's convicted
6 and sentenced, convicted for murder, he's still
7 going to admin seg at Ely prison, correct?
8

9

A. Yes.
Q. And he will still spend time there?
A. Yes.

MR. BROOKS: I'll pass the witness.

Q. Just a couple, judge.
17 On this administrative segregation, you
18 indicated there is an initial review after 90
19 days, correct?
20 A. That's, that's the guideline, for the
21 inmate to request an initial review, yes.
22 Q. But somebody would have to make an
23 extraordinary showing to get out of admin seg that
24 quickly?
25 A. Yes.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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Q. After that there is review of 180 days,
2 correct?

3 A. Correct.

4 Q. But there are inmates who have been

5 ad seg for 10 years?

6 A. Correct, more.

7 Q. Do those inmates still get their review

S every 180 days?

9

10

A. Yes.

Q. What would cause an inmate to still be in

11 ad seg after 10 years if they're getting a review

12 every 180 days?

13 A. Failure to conform to what guidlines were

14 given him at the previous classification

15 appearance.

16 Q. And if an inmate was given guidelines at

17 the ISO-day point and he did comply with them, how

18 long would he expect to remain in ad seg from the

19 time he arrived at the prison until the time he

20 was put in a less restrictive environment?
21 A. I can't answer that. The issue here is

22 the commitment offense, the age of the defendant,

23 and the lack of a custodial record in the penal

24 system on him to use as a benchmark for

25 determining how much time he needs to spend in ad
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10 ad seg before he would be removed to a less

11 restrictive environment?

13 estimate, no.

15 hours a day in their cell, one hour out, correct?

22 periods of visitation?
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2

Q. And is that in addition to the one hour a

1 seg before he could be released safely.

Q. And you've reviewed all those

3 regulations, correct?

4 A. But there are no hard, fast answers.

5 Q. But assuming for the sake of argument

6 that Mr. Budd were put in ad seg and that he

7 behave himself with no more major infractions than

8 he's had in the Clark County Detention Center, do

9 you have an estimate of how long he would spend in

A. I would not be comfortable giving you an

Q. You mention that ad seg people spend 23

A. Correct.

Q. Are they allowed visitation?

A. Yes.

Q. How often?

A. Two days a week.

Q. And how long do they get out for those

A. Seven hours.

25 day that they're allowed out every day?
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1

Q. Are there phase two inmates who are

A. I don't think so, because it would not
2 coincide correctly. I mean, if you visited from
3 8;00 to 4:00, whatever the seven hours are, you
4 would miss your out-of-cell period of time. So, I

5 don't think it's cumulative, that you could tack
6 on my out-of-cell hour to my visiting hour.
7 Q. Okay. NOw, once people are removed from
8 ad seg what's the next step up?

A. Phase two.
Q. And in phase two how many hours a day do

12 A. You still eat in your cell, but you are
13 out, I believe, up to four hours.
14
15 serving sentencing of life without the possibility
16 of parole?
17
18

A. Yes.
Q. Are there phase two inmates who are

19 serving sentences of life with the possibility of
20 parole?
21

22
A. Yes.
Q. Are there any less restrictive phrases in

23 Ely than phase two?
24 A. There are phase one inmates, and I do not
25 knows if there are

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 life-without-possibility-of-parole inmates in

2 phase one, because phase one requires that you

3 have a job and, and my understanding of EK

4 McDaniel's policy is that

5 life-without-possibility-of-parole inmates do not

6 work in the kitchen or other areas that would be

7 prone to weapons or other possible problems.

8 Q. You anticipated my next question, which

9 is, are inmates in Nevada State Prison system

10 permitted to work?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Are they permitted to keep the money that
13 they earn working?

14 A. A portion of it, yes.
15 Q. What portion aren't they?
16 A. I don't have the percentage. I can give

17 you California's percentage. I don't know

18 Nevada's percentage.
19 Q. Are you aware of the range of money that

20 Nevada state inmates who work make?
21 A. I am not.
22 Q. Would it surprise you that there are

23 Nevada State inmates making up to $60,000 a year

24 while they're in prison?
25 A. It would surprise me, yes.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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MR. KANE: Nothing further.

3 REDIRECT EXAMINATION
4 BY MR. BROOKS:

Q. Would it surprise you to know that any
6 money earned has to be applied to restitution?

A. It would not surprise me. All monies
8 owed always go to restitution first.

MR. BROOKS: Thank you. No further
questions.

THE COURT: Anything further?
MR. KANE: No, your Honor.
THE COURT: You may step down, sir.

14 Thank you for your time.
IS Counsel; will you approach?
16 (Conference at the bench.)

THE COURT: Who's next?
MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you, your Honor.

Adele Levy.
THE COURT: Thank you.
THE BAILIFF: Ms. Levy, if you would,

remain standing, please, raise your right hand,
face the clerk.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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ADELE LEVY,

called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, was examined and
testified as follows:

THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you
please state your name and spell it for the
record?

THE WITNESS: My name is Adele Levy,
A-d-e-l-e L-e-v-y.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. O'BRIEN:

Q. Good afternoon, Ms. Levy.
A. Yes.
Q. Can you tell the jury hr \ JU Know

GloYCford?

~ ~_dcher, continuation high
E _~01 __ll t~~·-~~_'~_.Jello, California, Veil High

Sell\.. )1. And Anthony, as I know him, was a student
in IT ..f classroom.

Q. And can you tell us a little bit about a
continuation high school?

A. I would be happy to. I'm very proud of
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 the school that I work at. In California every

2 school district, unified school district must have

3 a continuation high school, which is an

4 alternative high school. It's for students who

5 don't fit into the system of a traditional high

6 school. Whether it's because of attendance,

7 attitudes, behavior, they end up at a continuation

8 high school, or you might know it as an

9 alternative school.
Q. Tell us what you know about Glenford,10

11 about his --

12 A. I have nothing to say but positive

13 things. I, 19 -- probably -- 99, 2000 would have

14 been the last time that he was either in my class

'15 or somewhere on the campus. And I, before I came

16 here I said to the, our now principal, Robert

17 Kennedy, who was assistant principal at that time,

18 I said, do you remember Anthony Budd? And he

19 went, yeah. And I said, was he in your office a

20 lqt? He said, not enough for me to go, oh, yeah.

21 I remember him. So, then I went around and talked

22 to some other people. Brian Roberts, who is our

23 shop teacher, who said, I said, Brian, Anthony

24 earned 45 credits in your class, 45 credits over a

25 period of time. And he said, I said, what can you
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 say? He said, a really personable young guy. And

2 the thing that made me and the other people, Chip

3 Mayotte, who's our physical, our PE coach, he

4 said, say hi.

5 And I guess the compliment for me, I'm a

6 reading teacher. I was a former language arts

7 teacher, an English teacher. Now I'm the literacy

8 coordinator for the school. And John Cauherada,

9 who is our math teacher, said, yeah. I have a

10 very clear picture in math class when the students

11 were supposed to be reading, he says that they

12 weren't. He said, but Anthony, and when he said,

13 what's with the reading? Ms. Levy made me do it

14 in her class. I kind of like it now. And I felt,

15 what an accomplishment. I have no bad, terrible

16 things. They're all very positive, very plus

comments. That was my experience.

Q. Did there come a time when he abruptly

left your class?

A. I don't remember that, but I do remember

17
18
19

20

21 the last time that I saw him on the campus. It's

22 a small campus. Our maximum student population is

23 420, probably 390 most of the time. There are 13

24 teachers on the campus. We know the students. We

25 know them by name. How, how you doing? What's
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 going on? And Anthony, Anthony and I had the
2 ability to throw humor back and forth. I'm a
3 pretty strict teacher in the classroom. I have
4 high expectations. My students are supposed to
5 read. I'm not very effusive. And Anthony and I
6 would throw words back and forth to each other.
7 That would make me laugh. He just picked up on my
8 humor. And we had a beat to the humor.
9 And my recollection, I remember a white

10 matching, some kind of, of a jump suit or
11 something on, and I would tease Anthony about his
12 clothes, because he was always very nicely
13 dressed. And my recollection is this incredible
14 smile that was always there and just a real
15 friendly reaction. And then he was gone. He was
16 off the campus. And we, it's not our job to ask
17 what happens to the students. They come and go on
18 an alternative campus. When they're there,
19 they're welcomed. And when they're gone, it's
20 like, ooh. And when they come back again, wow.
21 And Anthony was gone. And at that point Angela,
22 his sister, I just said, how's Anthony? Okay.
23 Okay. Good. Okay. Good. And that was it.
24 Q. Thank you. Is there anything else you
25 would like to tell the jurors?

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1

Q. Do you remember any particular classes

A. Just that all of my thoughts are positive

2 ones, and all of the thoughts of the people that I

3 work with who, who are still there, who knew him,

4 it's the same thing, no troubles, no fights, no

5 disruptions in class, nothing like that at all.

6 Q. Thank you very much.

7 A. Thank you.

8 MR. O'BRIEN: Pass the witness, your

9 Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Kane?

12 CROSS-EXAMINATION

13 BY MR. KANE:

Q. Ma'am, just a couple of questions, ma'am.

A. Certainly.

Q. How were his grades?

A. Average grades. I remember specifically

18 one report card only, because it recently crossed

19 my path. And it was a C and 2.5 credits. So, it

20 was for a short, short period of time and an
21 average grade.

Q. And that mark wasn't exceptionally high

23 or low for him?

A. No.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 that he had problems with?

2 A. Classes that he had problems with? I had

3 him for language arts. There wasn't a problem in

4 language arts, reading and reading improvement,

5 whatever you wanted to call the class, English.

6 And nobody else made any comments to me that there

7 were problems in classes ever.

8 Q. So, you basically found him to be a

9 person of average intelligence?

10 A. Yes. I, yeah.

11 MR. KANE: Nothing further, your Honor.

12

13

MR. O'BRIEN: Nothing further.

THE COURT: You may step down now. Thank

14 you very much.

15

16
THE WITNESS: Okay. Thank you.
THE COURT: Another witness of about this

17 duration perhaps, or is this where we would have a

18 demarcation in going into --

19 MR. O'BRIEN: Based on the Court's

20 concerns, this would be, this satisfies our

21 problems, your Honor.

22 THE COURT: Thank you. Thank you very
23 much.

24 Ladies and gentlemen, recognizing what a
25 long day yesterday was, certainly how trying the

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 testimony here today has been, and that you still
2 have a bit more to hear, we're going to take an
3 early recess today. We'll be in recess until
4 tomorrow at 8:30.
5 During our overnight recess I must remind
6 you again it is your duty not to discuss this case
7 among yourselves or with anyone else. You must
8 not read, watch, listen to a report of or
9 commentary on anything which might be associated

10 with this matter. Don't form or express an
11 opinion in any of these issues until it has been
12 fully and finally submitted to you under
13 instruction of law by me.
14 I'll see you tomorrow morning at 8:30.
15 (Thereupon, the jury exited the courtroom.)
16 THE COURT: Counsel, to the best of my
17 knowledge, tomorrow will be whatever time you
18 need. We'll get it wrapped up, I presume.
19

20
Is that a fair statement, defense?
MR. KANE: Can I ask the defense who they

21 have left?
22
23

THE COURT: Yes. Who's left, the family?
MR. O'BRIEN: Family and, family and

24 Dr. Paglini.
25 THE COURT: And he was, we thought, going

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05 State v

to be an hour, hour and a half witness, correct?
MR. O'BRIEN: Correct.
THE COURT: Very well.
MS. PANDUKHT: How many family members?
MR. O'BRIEN: We have approximately, it's

a little bit in flux. I would say approximately
six family members.

THE COURT: Okay. Then we'll be back
tomorrow at 8:30, 8:30 tomorrow.

MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you.
* * * * *

Attest: Full, true, accurate transcript of
proceedings.

Janice David, CCR No. 405
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1 what we're doing now: Basically the State will do
2 opening statements. The State will present their
3 witnesses. I'm informed by Mr. Kane and
4 Ms. Pandukht that we will go beyond the lunch
5 break on their witnesses. And then the defense
6 will likely present our family witnesses and
7 Dr. Esten. We're hoping it would be very helpful
8 to the defense to be able to present the testimony
9 of Dr. Paglini, which would be approximately an

10 hour and a half tomorrow morning, first thing, and
11 then argue and then, and instruct the jury and
12 then argue. It would be helpful because, frankly,
13 we're still preparing the power point. We're
14 still preparing the power point presentation for
15 Dr. Paglini, and Dr. Paglini's feeling he's not
16 completely prepared yet. He's working on it now.

17 It would also allow Jeff Jager to come in tomorrow
18 morning to set up for Dr. Paglini. I'm hoping the
19 Court will allow us to go ahead and, and do that.
20 I'm not sure if this works or not.
21

22
THE COURT: We'll make it work.
MR. BROOKS: Okay. Thank you, judge.
MR. KANE: Judge, I don't have any23

24 problem with that scheduling, but the one thing I
25 would ask is this, that we have -- and by we I
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1 mean the prosecution -- have received notice of
2 expert witness on both Dr. Esten and Dr. Paglini.
3 And I know Dr. Paglini. So, I know what his
4 qualifications are. And they basically tell us in
5 a one-line format what the witnesses are going to
6 be testifying about. We have seen no reports.
7 We've seen no power point presentations. We've
8 had not even offer of proof as to what they're
9 going to say.

10 Now, I know at sentencing everything
11 comes in, and there is no way that any of that is
12 not coming in. My only request would be, if.there
13 are any materials like a power point presentation,
14 that could be mailed to, or e-mailed to
15 Ms. Pandukht or myself this evening so that we can
16 be more prepared to cross-examine Dr. Paglini
17 tomorrow, it would certainly shorten things up.
18 If that can't be done, I understand he's still
19 going to be allowed to testify, but it would just
20 help matters.
21 MR. BROOKS: Here's what I'll do, judge.
22 We have not received a report from Dr. Paglini
23 yet. He's going to bring me a report, he says at
24 lunchtime today. And I will get a copy made and
25 give it to Mr. Kane. Also, also, judge, we would

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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5

1 like to take that opportunity to discuss yesterday
2 to allow Dr. Paglini to meet with Glenford over
3 the lunch hour in some room adjacent to this area

4 if that's possible.
THE COURT: We'll find a room. I'm only

6 going to give a 45-minute lunch break. I have
7 already ordered lunch in for the jury. But we'll
8 find a room unless there is objection from the
9 State.

10

11
12

MR. KANE: No, none at all.
THE COURT: We'll make that happen.
MR. BROOKS: The seventh issue, judge, is

13 there has been no report from Dr. Esten or
14 Mr. Esten. What I will do is, I will provide to
15 the State a copy of his testimony in another
16 similar trial. That will allow him to understand
17 exactly where we're going with this.
18
19
20

21
22

23
24
25

MR. KANE: Great. And that would give me
at least a 45-minute lunch hour, if I get it at
the beginning of the lunch hour, to review it.

THE COURT: Very good. And would you,
since you're all going to be working through the
lunch hour, would you like me to add you to our
lunch hour?

MR. KANE: No. That's fine, judge.
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 MR. BROOKS: No. Thank you, judge.
2 MR. O'BRIEN: No. Thank you, judge.
3 THE COURT: Very well. Do we have a
4 jury, Mr. Bailiff?
5 MR. KANE: Judge, I have one, and it
6 really is only one.
7 THE COURT: There's no sub A's are B?
8 MR. KANE: No. No. I just want to deal
9 with the Kasmeric issue. You may recall that

10 there was testimony or indications earlier that
11 some of the victim impact witnesses might be
12 subject to questioning about their opinion on
13 penalty. I think the Kasmeric versus State 120
14 Nevada Advanced Opinion NUIT~er37 clearly
15 establishes that that kind of testimony is not
16 admissable either from the prosecution or elicited
17 by cross-examination by the defense. We're going
18 to caution our witnesses not to express any such
19 opinion and, in fact, we'll lead them, and we'll
20 interrupt them, if necessary, if they start to do
21 that. I just want to make sure that it's not
22 going to be sought to be elicited on
23 cross-examination.
24 THE COURT: Mr. Brooks? Mr. O'Brien?
25 MR. BROOKS: That's fine, judge. And

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 just for the record, also, I just happen to find

2 another copy of Dr. Esten's prior testimony, which

3 I will give to Mr. Kane this morning.

4 THE COURT: Very well. Shall we bring

5 our jury in?

6 (Thereupon, the jury entered the courtroom.)

7 THE COURT: Welcome back, ladies and

8 gentlemen. Let the record reflect that we are

9 again present in the matter of State versus Budd.

10 You may be seated. All parties are present with

11 counsel.

12 Will you stipulate, please, to the

13 presence of the jury?

14 MR. O'BRIEN: We will, your Honor.

15 MR. KANE: Yes.

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we're16

17 actually here still in the matter that we referred

18 to as State versus Budd, but it's almost as if

19 we're starting another trial. Our attorneys are

20 going to both be able to make opening statements

21 and then, in fact, they will be calling witnesses

22 to testify for their side of the case.

23 Again I want to remind you, opening

24 statements are not evidence. In fact, no comments

25 made by our attorneys, whether they be in the form
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 of a question posed or comments made, are
2 evidence, and you cannot consider them in this
3 phase of the proceeding. All of the evidence, if
4 any, that is submitted during this phase of our
5 trial will go with you back into your deliberation
6 room. And as always, that which you can consider
7 as evidence, other than that which has been
8 admitted, is the testimony of witnesses who will
9 be here in court sworn or who may testify through

10 another form of a previously transcribed court
11 proceeding.
12 With that in mind, Mr. Kane, are you
13 ready to proceed?
14 MR. KANE: Yes, your Honor.
15 Briefly, ladies and gentle~en, no one
16 envies the task that you're about to undertake,
17 and no one envies the testimony that you're going
18 to have to listen to over the next several hours.
19 It's going to be emotional, and it's going to be
20 difficult to handle. And I just want to give you
21 a brief explanation of why you're listening to it.
22 You'll get some very detailed instructions at the
23 end of this penalty phase that will tell you how
24 you consider various types of evidence, the legal
25 test that you have to apply to even get to a point
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1 where the defendant is eligible for the death
2 penalty, and then the mechanics of coming to your
3 ultimate decision. But what you need to
4 understand now is, you're going to receive
5 basically three kinds of evidence in this or any
6 penalty hearing.
7 The first is evidence concerning
8 aggravating circumstances, and an aggravating
9 circumstance is a legally defined set of facts

10 which make a person eligible for the death
11 penalty. They don't mandate the death penalty.
12 The death penalty is never mandated. But there is
13 a list of what we call statutory aggravators. And
14 the State has to prove at least one of those
15 beyond a reasonable doubt before we even get into
16 any discussion of the death penalty. Now, you
17 won't hear any evidence in the course of this
18 penalty hearing about the statutory aggrevator
19 that we've alleged in this case. And we've only
20 alleged one, and that's because the statutory
21 aggrevator that we're relying on is the fact that
22 the defendant was convicted of more than one count
23 of first degree murder in this very case. And
24 we're not going to be presenting evidence to you,
25 because you're the people that did that, and you
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1 obviously know that. So, that's the aggrevator
2 that we're going to be relying on.
3 The second type of evidence that you're
4 going to be hearing is mitigating evidence, and
5 that evidence will come, for the most part, from
6 the defense. It's evidence that tends to mitigate
7 the seriousness of the offense or argue in favor
8 of the defendant and impact on your penalty
9 decision.

10 The third kind of evidence you'll hear is
11 everything else that doesn't fit into the two
12 cubbyholes of aggrevator evidence or mitigating
13 evidence. And the kind of evidence that you'll be
14 hearing in this third phase from the prosecution,
15 that will be evidence from the family members of
16 the three deceased young men. And the reason you
17 listen to that is because the law says that in
18 making a serious determination like you're about
19 to make, there isn't more serious determination
20 than whether or not to impose a penalty of death.
21 You should have all the available information.
22 And among the classes of information that the law
23 allows you to consider are the character of the
24 victims, what kind of people they were, who they
25 were, and also the impact that their death has had

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 on their family members.

2 Their family members will not ask you to

3 impose a specific legal penalty. In fact, they're

4 precluded from doing that. But what you're going

5 to hear from them is, here's what Dajon Jones was

6 like. Here's what Derrick Jones was like. Here's

7 what Jason Moore was like. And here's how his

8 death has affected us and continues to affect us

9 as family members. And once you've heard all that

10 evidence, as I said, you'll get some fairly

11 complicated legal instructions, which we'll go

12 over with you, and they will prescribe the

13 mechanics of how you make the difficult decision

14 that you'll be faced with probably sometime

15 tomorrow. Thank you.

16 THE COURT: Mr. Brooks or Mr. O'Brien?

17 MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you. Good morning.

18 I'm here to ask you for life. Jason Moore was 19

19 years old. Derrick Jones was 19 years old. Dajon

20 Jones was 14 years old when they were gunned down

21 and killed. I'm here to ask you for life. This

22 devastated three families. I'm here to ask you

23 for life in the weight of so much death and

24 sorrow. I'm here to ask you for life, because

25 another death is not going to change any of that.
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 You've convicted Glenford Budd of these
2 three murders, and we accept your verdict. It's
3 such a terrible crime, the killing of three
4 friends. It's such a terrible crime. I think
5 we're all forced to ask why. I find it hard to
6 believe that this was just solely based on some
7 stolen pot. I tend to think there was more, and
8 we're forced to ask why. Now, if Glenford Budd
9 had a terrible criminal history, that would help,

10 help answer that question. If Glenford Budd had a
11 progressing criminal history, that would help
12 answer that question of why. If he's been
13 grooming himself for this, that would make sense
14 to us. But you're going to find out that Glenford
15 has no criminal history. He has one juvenile
16 entry, nothing else. If Glenford Budd was just a
17 stone-cold killer, a sociopath who killed or hurt
18 because he liked it, that would answer the
19 question of why. But he's not.

You're going to learn he had no violence20

21 in his record. You're going to hear from family
22 and friends that he was a quiet, shy boy with
23 never any cruel behavior. But still we're, we're
24 faced with the why. Atticus Finch in "To Kill a
25 Mockingbird" said to his daughter, Scout, before
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1 you can judge a man you have to stand in his shoes
2 and walk around in them. And that makes a lot of
3 sense, because we are the sum of our experiences,
4 our relationships, our education, and our
5 successes. What you're going to learn during this
6 part of the proceedings is that Glenford had once
7 lived a life that consisted of one fractured
8 relationship after another. School for Glenford
9 wasn't a ticket out. It wasn't a ticket up. It

10 wasn't a way to get validated. Glenford didn't
11 increase his self-esteem at school. It wasn't
12 because he didn't try. He simply didn't have the
13 ability. His IQ is about 84.

Glenford successes, Glenford didn't know14
15 many successes. He didn't even know the joy and
16 pride of getting that first paycheck. He never
17 had a job. He was, he is an illegal alien, not
18 through any fault of his own. He was brought to
19 this country when he was 11 years old from Central
20 America. And this was a source of shame for
21 Glenford. It was such a source of shame for
22 Glenford that he hid it. I talked to a best
23 friend of his, and he said, I didn't even know
24 until I was 19 years old. He would make up
25 excuses. There was a problem with my birth

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 certificate. That's why I can't get a social
2 security number. But he held it inside, because
3 he was ashamed. You have to stand in a man's

5 mitigation evidence is.
6 Mitigation evidence is, it's not an

10 because there is no lenient option for Glenford on

13 now is to be locked up until he dies. There is no

15 severely punish Glenford, but before you do that
16 we would like you to know more about him and his
17 family so you can make an informed decision and a
18 decision that you can all live with.
19 There's a cruel reoccurring theme in

22 he would be settled, every time that some hope
23 would start to grow within him, every time he was

7

8

9

11
12

14

20
21

shoes before you can judge him. That's what

excuse. It's not an attempt to duck
responsibility. You've already found Glenford
responsible. It's not even a call for leniency,

the table. He's been locked up since he was 21
years of age. And the best result for Glenford

lenient options for Glenford. We expect you to

Glenford's life. At critical times in his life
the rug was pulled out from under him. Every time

24 somewhere he thought he was in a spot where he
25 belonged, something beyond his control would crush

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 that hope. And this happens over and over again

2 at very critical times.

3 Glenford now is 23 years of age. He was

4 born, and he grew up in Belize City in Belize. He

5 was a middle child. He has an older sister, a

6 younger sister, and a younger brother. Glenford's

7 older sister, Charmaine, is 24. She's married and

8 lives in Belize. She has a husband and two

9 children. She wants to talk to you today about

10 how protective Glenford was and what kind of

11 brother he was. In fact, as we speak now she's on

12 an airplane, I trust, arriving from Belize. I

13 hope she makes it. Glenford's younger sister is

14 Angela. She's 21 years of age. She's a young

15 working mother. She lives in 10s Angeles. She

16 wants to talk to you about what kind of big

17 brother Glenford was, how he watched out for her,

18 how he comforted her, how he took care of her when

19 she first came to the United States. Glenford's

20 younger brother, his name is Raheem. He's 13

21 years of age now. He's in the eighth grade. He's

22 looking forward to starting high school next year.

23 Glenford and Raheem are very close. During the

24 last couple of years they have been writing and

25 talking to one another. Glenford is always
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 dependent, or excuse me. Raheem has always
2 depended on Glenford. When Glenford lost his
3 stepfather, Raheem's natural father, Raheem leaned
4 on, he was supported by Glenford. He counted on
5 him. And he would like to tell you how he would
6 like to be able to count on him in the future,
7 even if it's only a phone call or a visit.
8 Glenford's mother lives and works in
9 Los Angeles. His father will not speak to you

10 today. He's in prison in Belize. Until he was
11 four years old, Glenford lived in Belize City with
12 his parents. It was, they had a pretty good life.
13 It was a nice, nuclear family. Glenford and at
14 that time his two sisters, both the parents
15 worked. During the day when they were off at
16 work, the grandmother lived right down the street.
17 They would spend time with the grandmother. It
18 was a real good life. At four years of age
19 Glenford's parents split up.
20 Now, divorce isn't all that unusual, but
21 there was an added twist here for Glenford,
22 because when his parents split up at four years of
23 age, his mother left for the United States.
24 Perhaps, like a lot of people from Central America
25 and elsewhere, she believed that, the talk, the
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1 dreams about the streets in the US paved with
2 gold. And she told the grandmother, she told the
3 children, I'll send for you guys soon. I'll send
4 for you guys soon. This is when Glenford was four
5 years of age. That short period of time that she
6 had hoped for did not come to pass. Years passed
7 by, years and years. It was seven years before
8 she was able to send for Glenford to be with her
9 in the United States. And here we have an

10 11-year-old boy that's been separated from his
11 mother for seven years. He's been with his
12 grandmother basically since birth. She had such a
13 large part in his early upbringing and, of course,
14 she was the only constant maternal figure in his
15 life. So, at 11 years of age when his mom says, I
16 got it together. Send Glenford to me. We can
17 imagine the fracture in Glenford. It was very
18 bitter sweet for him. He didn't want to leave his
19 grandmother, but he did want to be with his
20 mother. He needed to be with his mother. So, he
21 arrived in Los Angeles at 11 years of age.
22 They lived in Southern California just
23 outside of LA, Montebello. So, here's Glenford,
24 11 years old, coming from Belize. He's small, as
25 he is now. He had a real heavy accent. Naturally
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1 Glenford, everybody's going to tell you Glenford's
2 a very quiet, shy, shy guy. Of course, starting
3 school in the US, you know how kids are. That
4 accent and other things, the little differences
5 that kids notice made him withdraw more, and he
6 was even more quiet and more shy. Not only did he
7 have to deal with a new country, a new culture,
8 try to reestablish his bond with his mother, but
9 there was a, a new stepfather in his life, a man

10 by the name of Winston Miller.
11 Glenford's mother, Karen, is going to
12 talk to you about how it affected Glenford when he
13 first arrived here, and she's going to tell you
14 that Glenford was very standoffish with Winston
15 Miller, and she's going to tell you about a story.
16 One time they were having an argument, not a
17 knock-down-drag-out kind of fight but a verbal
18 argument. This was shortly after Glenford arrived
19 here. And as they were arguing, and you have to
20 understand, this Winston Miller was about 6'4".
21 But as they were arguing Little Glenford stepped
22 between them and said, don't you hit my mother.
23 And Winston Miller smiled, and he leaned down, and
24 he said, I would never hit your mother. But I
25 want you to know, I really respect you for doing
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1 that. That's what a son should do. I really
2 respect you for sticking up for your mother like
3 that. And that's when their relationship really
4 began.
5 Now, everything I learned about Winston
6 Miller suggest he was a fine man. He didn't try
7 to insert or inject himself into this role as a
8 father. They started a relationship based on a
9 mutual respect and trust. But over time Glenford

10 became extremely close to Winston. He loved and
11 trusted him like a father. Now, he lost that
12 relationship twice. The first time he was about
13 15 years of age. Winston went to prison for a
14 short time, but the family was able to keep it
15 together. They were able to keep the home and the
16 family together. And Mr. Miller came back and was
17 able to work again and was able to provide for
18 their family, and things were going good. They
19 had a nice home. It was three bedrooms. It was
20 in a so-so neighborhood. But they had a good
21 home. They always had food. Things were going
22 real well.
23 When Glenford was 18, they were, in fact,
24 at a family party in the park. Winston Miller was
25 suddenly struck and killed by a drunk driver. The
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1 affect on Glenford was devastating. The affect on
2 the whole family was devastating. Financially
3 they were in turmoil. Glenford's mother, Karen,
4 had to get a second job. And, of course, given
5 the fact she was out of the house so much,
6 somebody had to pick up the slack, and the person
7 who stepped up to do that was Glenford. Glenford
8 helped to clean the house. Glenford took on, on
9 all the responsibilities regarding his little

10 brother, Raheem, who at that time was about eight
11 years old. He would get him ready for school in
12 the morning. He would get him up. He would make
13 sure he brushed his teeth. He would make sure he
14 had clean clothes. He would make sure he had
15 something to eat if he could. Things were tight,
16 and there wasn't always enough food around, but he
17 did all of that. Not only did he do that, but in
18 those evenings in the weeks and months following
19 Raheem's father's death he was the one who would
20 hug and comfort Raheem when he tried to deal with
21 losing his dad. You're going to learn that
22 Glenford was always there for Raheem.
23 His mother told me a funny story. She
24 says, you know, Glenford had a lot to do at that
25 time, and one day he told me, he said, mom, I just
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1 need one day to myself, one day a week when it

2 would just be my time, one night a week. So, they

3 talked about it, and they agreed, okay, Friday

4 nights. Friday nights you want to go out with

5 your buddies, that's, that's what you can do. And

6 you're going to learn from the family and from one

7 of Glenford's best friends that on Friday nights

8 Glenford would generally let Raheem tag along with

9 him and his buddies, and they would go to a high

10 school basketball game or a football game. On his

11 one free day he always went out of his way to

12 include Raheem in whatever he was doing.

They lost the fight, though. They13

14 couldn't keep their house .. They tried, and they

15 tried. The power would be shut off. At times
16 they would run an extension cord from a neighbor's

17 house to their house, and they tried, and they

18 tried, but they were evicted, and they had to

19 leave the family home. They ended up moving to a

20 rougher neighborhood in LA. They got a studio

21 apartment. They had to share it with Karen's

22 sister and her family. It was eight kids or eight

23 people, I should say, in that studio apartment.

24 Karen wouldn't let the kids out, because it was a

25 tough neighborhood. She wanted to keep them in.
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1 Even that they couldn't keep together. The money
2 simply wasn't there, and they lost that residence.
3 They were evicted from that residence. They were
4 evicted again. The family this time was
5 separated.
6 Karen and the, Karen and the girls went
7 to one family. Glenford spent time here and there
8 with friends, kind of shuffled around in between
9 various friends. Eventually he had an uncle in

10 Las Vegas here. He decided to come and stay with
11 his Uncle Kirk and his family. But even there
12 Glenford was treated as a second-class citizen,
13 because when the uncle wasn't around, which was
14 quite a bit, the grandmother of that family kind
15 of ruled the roost, and she just didn't think it
16 was right that an outsider would be eating their
17 food, and she wasn't real shy in making it known
18 to Glenford. And Karen's going to tell you about
19 several phone conversations where Glenford would
20 call up and say he has hungry.
21 Now, these things, I tell you, they're
22 not excuses. They're not a defense. And these
23 facts are not a way fo~ Glenford to deny
24 responsibility. You've already held him
25 responsible, and we know he's going to pay for
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THE BAILIFF: Mr. Jones, if you would,

1 what happened here. These facts are simply the
2 things you must know and understand before you can
3 consider Glenford and his family eligible for the
4 most extreme and controversial punishment our
5 state allows. Thank you.
6 THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. O'Brien.
7 State, are you prepared to call your
8 first witness?
9 MS. PANDUKHT: Yes, your Honor. The

10 State calls Lazon Jones, Jr.
11
12 remain standing, please, raise your right hand,
13 and face the clerk.

15 LAZON JONES, JR.,

16 called as a witness, and having been first duly
17 sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
18 and nothing but the truth, was examined and
19 testified as follows:
20

21 THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you
22 please state your name and spell it for the
23 record?
24 THE WITNESS: Lazon Jones, Jr., L-a-z-Q-n
25 J-o-n-e-s J-r.
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2

Q. Lazon, I'm showing you what's been marked

1 THE COURT: Thank you.

3 DIRECT EXAMINATION

4 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

5 Q. Lazon, you testified earlier at the trial

6 in this case.

7 Could you tell us again about your

8 brother, Dajon?

9 A. He was a good person. He didn't deserve

10 what happened to him. He should still be here

11 today with his family. His life was taken too

12 young. He didn't deserve what happened to him at

13 all. And it's hard for us every day to live with

14 that, because he should still be here.

15 MS. PANDUKHT: If I can approach the

16 witness.

17 THE COURT: Yes.

18 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

19
20 as State's Proposed Exhibits 51, 52, and 53.

21 Could you take a look at these? Do you recognize

22 the person in these photographs?

23

24
A. Yes.

Q. Who is the person in all three

25 photographs?
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A. My brother.

Q. Your brother, Dajon?

A. Yes, ma'am.

MS. PANDUKHT: State moves to admit and

2

3

4

5 publish for the jury State's Proposed Exhibit 51,

6 52, and 53.

7 THE COURT: Objection?

MR. O'BRIEN: No objection.8

9

10

THE COURT: They will be admitted.

MS. PANDUKHT: Yes. May I publish?

11 THE COURT: Yes.

12 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

13 Q. That is, for the record, State's Exhibit

14 No. 51, State's Exhibit 52, State's Exhibit 53.

15 Lazon, you lived with your brother,

16 didn't you?

17 A. Yes, ma'am.

18 Q. Did you live with him your entire life?

19 A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. His entire life?20

21

22

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. What kinds of things did you and your

23 brother do together?

24 A. We did a lot. We hung out, played

25 basketball. We did a lot of fighting and arguing,
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 but I loved him.
2 Q. You loved your brother?

A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. Were you close to your brother?
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. How has his murder affected you?
A. It's been, it's made it hard for me to

3

4

5

6

7

8 get my life on track the way it should be. It's
9 hard for me to do a lot of things that I already

10 can't really do, having to live with the fact of
11 what happened to
12 Q. Has it been hard for you to move on since
13 his death?
14 A. Yes. It's been difficult, but I have
15 tried, and I have done better to improve my life
16 after the fact. But it's made it very hard for me
17 and my family.
18 Q. I remember from the trial that you, you
19 said that you and your family went in afterwards
20 to pack up your things.
21 Why did you move away from Las Vegas?
22 A. Because I couldn't be out here anymore
23 after what happened. I wasn't being able to feel
24 safe going to school out there after what
25 happened. I didn't feel safe after that.
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1

A. Yes, ma I am.

Q. And what about Dajon? What grade was he
2 in or what school?
3 A. I don't actually know what school he was
4 going to out there, but my mom was trying to get
5 him in school, because he had just came out there,
6 but he was in around the seventh grade.
7 Q. About the seventh grade?
8

9

A. Yeah.
Q. How about the rest of your family? How

10 has his murder affected the rest of your family
11 members?
12 A. It's been three years, and to this day my
13 mother still isn't all right after what happened.
14 It's still hard for her. She still going through
15 a lot of rough situations right now. She's not on
16 her feet yet after three long years. She's still
17 trying.
18 Q. And what about your father?
19 A. My dad is doing the best right now,
20 because he's supporting all of the weight that no
21 one else can hold. He's handling everything for
22 us, and I love him for that. He's the shoulder
23 we're all leaning on right now.
24 Q. And is your father here today?
25
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10

12

14

16

18

20

12-14-05 State v.

11 their names?

13 Jones.

15 for the record?

17 Y-a-t-i-s-h-a.

19 jury to know about your brother?

21 didn't deserve what happened to him.
22 So, whatever you guys decide, just make
23 sure it's the right thing, because we deserve

1

A. Just to know that he was too young. He

Q. Did you have any other brothers and
2 sisters?
3 A. I have three more sisters, and I have a
4 recent younger brother. He's three now. He never
5 met his older brother.
6 Q. What's his name?
7 A. Yavion.

Q. Can you spell that for the record?8
9 A. Y-a-v-i-o-n Jones.

Q. And how about your sisters? What are

A. Kokitha Jones, Yateefa Jones, and Yatisha

Q. Could you spell all of their names, also,

A. K-o-k-i-t-h-a, Y-a-t-e-e-f-a,

Q. Is there anything else you would like the

24 justice for what happened, nothing less, nothing
25 more.
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1

2

3

THE CLERK: Thank you.

MS. PANDUKHT: Thank you. Lazon.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

THE COURT: Hang on a second.

4 Is there cross-examination?

5 MR. O'BRIEN: Lazon, we're very sorry for

6 your loss. I have no questions.

7 THE COURT: You may step down, sir.

Who's next?8

9

10

MR. KANE: Kokitha Jones, your Honor.

THE BAILIFF: Ms. Jones, if you'll remain

11 standing, please, raise your right hand, and face

12 the clerk.

13
14 KOKITHA JONES,

15 called as a witness, and having been first duly
16 sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

17 and nothing but the truth, was examined and

18 testified as follows:

19
20 THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you

21 please state your name and spell it for the

22 record?

23 THE WITNESS: My name is Kokitha Jones.

24 It's spelled K-o-k-i-t-h-a J-o-n-e-s.

25
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3

A. My little brother was the type of person

1 DIRECT EXAMINATION
2 BY MR. KANE:

Q. Kokitha, are you Lazon's and Dajon's

4 sister?

5 A. I'm their older sister out the whole

6 pack.

7 Q. And you were here in court just now while

8 Lazon was testifying. Am I right?

A. Yes, sir.9

10 Q. What would you like to tell the jury

11 about your brother, Dajon, what kind of person he

12 was?

13
14 that needed extra love and care, because our

15 family, as well as Budd's family, broke up. We've

16 been through the hard times. We done lost places

17 to live. We had to corneup the best way that we

18 could as well. And when my mother and father

19 divorced, it tore my little brother into shreds.

20 He just couldn't take it, because he needed his

21 mother and his father. He was the type of kid

22 that couldn't live without a mother.

23 And me and my little brother, we didn't

24 get along as good, but I can honestly say my

25 little brothers was my big brothers. Whenever I
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1 needed to lean on them or I needed somebody to
2 depend on, to depend on, it was my little
3 brothers. And my, and my little brother had
4 recently, before he died we had got into a fight,
5 and it was right before I had left Las Vegas. And
6 he called me about, I can say two days before his
7 death, because we went through the cursing each
8 other out, the fighting, the punches, you know,
9 all that stuff. And he told me, sister, I'm

10 sorry. He said, I love you. He was like, and
11 when you come back out here, I'm going to take my
12 nephew shopping. Because I had recently, my
13 brother died on May 25th or 26th. I had my son on
14 April 1st, a month before his death. So, he
15 really didn't get to know my son as much, but he
16 was the type that, he was, I can't hold him. Corne
17 get him. He too little for me. And I just loved
18 my brother, man, to death.
19 And I also knew Jason and Derrick. They
20 lived with me. I lived in Las Vegas with my
21 mother, and then they previously came out here.
22 Jason and Derrick were good kids. When I first
23 met them, I was like, oh, yeah. They're cool.
24 They're cool. But then I was like, these are more
25 like brothers, because they looked up to me as

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 well as their older sister. Jason, couldn't get

2 him to talk for nothing. He just always sat

3 around and observed and seeing what was going on.

4 I also knew Mr. Budd. When I first met

5 him, I'm like, okay. He's a cool, he's a nice

6 person. But after I got to know him I realized

7 that he wasn't the person that I thought that he

8 was. When his stuff came up missing, these were

9 his exact --

10 MR. O'BRIEN: Your Honor, I'm sorry to

11 interrupt you. May we approach?

12 THE COURT: Certainly.

13 (Conference at the bench.)

14 BY MR. KANE:

15 Q. Is there anything else, and I'll give you

16 a chance to explain how this has affected you and

17 affected your family. But is there anything else

18 that you want to tell the jury about Dajon or

19 about Derrick or about Jason that you think they

20 ought to know in making their decision?

A. Just that, like what I said, they were21
22 cool boys. They never like picked fights out

23 there with people. They stuck together. They was

24 more like brothers. When you went out, you seen

25 Lazon, Dajon, Derrick, and Jason always. They
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1 always didn't want Dajon to hang around, because
2 he was the younger one but, you know, he still
3 followed them around. So, eventually they end up
4 having to accept that he wants to be a part of the
5 crowd.
6 But this has affected me deeply, because
7 I'm like, I just had my baby. I just got through
8 going through the little things that I had already
9 been going through with my child's father. And I

10 had to realize I was falling apart and, and I had
11 to realize, okay. My little brother is gone, and
12 I can't just falloff in the gutter. I have to
13 get myself up and do what I need to do so that I
14 can get far in life, so that eventually one day
15 when the time come, I will see my brother again.
16 This has totally devastated my mother.
17 As you can see, she is not in this courtroom
18 today. My mother, man, she is really going
19 through it. She's seeing psyches right now.
20 She's been seeing them since my little brother's
21 death. She can't get herself together. That's
22 why we're not all together as a family now,
23 because she's still trying to get to our level.
24 We done been there, and then we done got ourselves
25 together, but my mother still trying to catch up

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 to our level. I call her, and I talk to her, and
2 all I can do is tell her I'm sorry and I love her.
3 I recently, in school, wrote a report on my little
4 brother's death, and my mother wrote a letter that
5 tore me to shreds, broke me down in tears. And
6 the only thing she blame herself, is for not
7 giving her kids the protection that she thought
8 they should have. She felt as if she was
9 friendly, friendly and cool with us, then

10 everything would be okay. But she soon to realize
11 that there was more to it than just being a friend
12 with your children.
13 And my father and my grandmother, they
14 have, my grandmother, that was her boy, Dajon
15 Jones. That was her boy. Every time he got into
16 an argument or he just didn't want to be at home
17 no more, grandma, come get me. I don't feel
18 they're treating me right. Come get me. She
19 would go get him, or he would make his way to my
20 grandma house. Foot, bus, bike, however he had to
21 get there, he made it there. And when he run away
22 from home, we knew who to call, grandma, because
23 that's where he was at.
24 And my dad, he's not the type that's like
25 emotional, that show his emotions, but I can see
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1 deep down inside that he is very hurt from this.

2 And all he's doing is recovering from a tragedy

3 that's happened in his life as well as ours. We

4 recently, two years before my brother's death we

5 lost a cousin. That's my mom's sister's only son.

6 So, now she lost two boys that are important to

7 her. So, she's really devastated. But my dad,

8 he's coming along pretty good. He's doing what it

9 take to get his self together and as well as to

10 build a community for our family. And we're

11 slowly building our community, gaining our respect

12 back up for each other, because everybody pointed

13 the finger at somebody. And then we all had to

14 realize it was just, I guess, his time to go. The

15 Lord called him, and he went home.
16 And I have nothing further more to say.

17 MR. KANE: I have no further questions,

18 your Honor.

19

20
THE COURT: Mr. O'Brien?

MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you, your Honor. No

21 questions.

22 THE COURT: You may step down.

23 Who's next?

24 MS. PANDUKHT: Judge, can we have a

25 minute?
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING

(702) 898-7676

45



10 testified as follows:

13 please state your name and spell it for the
14 record?

16 M-o-o-r-e.

19 DIRECT EXAMINATION
20 BY MR. KANE:

22 relationship to Jason Moore?

11
12

15

17

18

21

23
24

12-14-05 State v.

1

2

Q. I want to show you what has been marked

MR. KANE: Earl Moore, your Honor.
THE BAILIFF: Mr. Moore, if you'll remain

3 standing, please, raise your right hand, and face
4 the clerk.
5

6 EARL M:>ORE,

7 called as a witness, and having been first duly
8 sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
9 and nothing but the truth, was examined and

THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you

THE WITNESS: Earl Moore, E-a-r-l

THE CLERK: Thank you.

Q. Sir, when he was alive, what was your

A. He was my younger son.

25 for purposes of identification as State's Proposed
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 Exhibits 57, 58, and 59.

2 Would you look at those, please, and tell

3 me if those are pictures of your son?

6 Honor.

13 State's Exhibit 59.
14 Sir, would you tell the jury a little bit

15 about your son and what kind of person Jason was?

17 could have. You know, it's been two and a half

18 years, and it still seems like a dream. Jason

19 was, I can't explain how he was. He was lovable.

20 He was kind. He was generous, very, very shy,

21 very high standards, very high morals. If I'm not

22 mistaken, I believe that one of the witnesses said

23 that when she heard gunfire, Jason covered her up.

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

16

A. Yes.

MR. KANE: Offer 57, 58, and 59, your

MR. O'BRIEN: No objection.

THE COURT: They will be admitted.

MR. KANE: And may I publish, your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.

BY MR. KANE:
Q. State's Exhibit 57, State's Exhibit 58,

A. He has, he was the best son a father

24 That's the type of boy he was. That's the type of

25 son that, we raised him to know good and bad and
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 right and wrong. And he understood that. He was
2 very, very shy in his early life. We tried to get
3 him out of that by enrolling him in Little League.
4 He played Little League until he was like 14 or
5 15, very good athlete, very good person.
6 Q. How has his loss affected you, sir, and
7 the other members of your family?
8 A. Well, we'll never be the same. We will
9 never be the same.

10 Q. You've sat here through the trial,
11 correct?
12 A. Yes, sir.
13 Q. Has that helped any in resolving any of
14 these issues?

A. To be perfectly honest with you, no,15
16 because we were homeless. I believe everybody in
17 this room can go back and say what happened to
18 them and this and that. I could tell you stories
19 that will make that story sound like a fantasy.
20 We were homeless when we came to San Bernardino.
21 We were homeless. Jason was homeless, but he knew
22 good and bad. He knew right and wrong. He was
23 never a person, and I want to make this very, very
24 clear to the jury, is that whenever you hear a
25 shooting with young black men, that it's gang
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1 related, or it's drug related. Jason was not like
2 that.
3 Jason was a high school graduate. Jason
4 had a very short stint in the U.S. Navy. His life
5 was taken from him. And they said that they were
6 friends. They were not friends. Jason was only
7 down there for one week. He never even knew what
8 was going on. He was just there trying to fit in.
9 That's what Jason, Jason was a follower. He

10 wasn't a leader.
11 Q. Is there anything else that you think the
12 jury needs to know either about Jason or what this
13 has done to you and your family?

A. What it's done to our family, I feel so14
15 sorry, so bad for my wife, because, you know, it's
16 just, she just can't even, you know, she's on

17 medication and stuff, and she just, my two
18 daughters over there, I have another daughter, you
19 know. We just, like there are no more
20 Christmases. There is no more Thanksgiving.
21 There is no more holidays for us. There is no
22 more holidays for us. We can't have our son there
23 with us. There is no more holidays for us ever
24 again in life. This is what this has done to us.
25 We can't talk to him. We canlt call him.
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1

7

50

I'm an independent truck driver. My

2 dream was to have my son with me on my truck, Earl

3 Moore & son. That was my dream. This is taken

4 away. It's like I've lost both of my legs, and

5 they will never be back again. Our family will

6 never be the same.

MR. KANE: Thank you, Mr. Moore. I have

8 nothing further.

9

10

11
12
13
14

THE COURT: Mr. O'Brien?

MR. O'BRIEN: No questions.

THE COURT: You may step down, sir.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

THE COURT: Who's next?

MS. PANDUKHT: The State calls Linda

15 Moore.

16 THE BAILIFF: Ms. Moore, if you would,

17 remain standing, please, raise your right hand,

18 and face the clerk.

19

20

21

22

23
24

25

LINDA MOORE,

called as a witness, and having been first duly

sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, was examined and

testified as follows:
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THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you
2 please state your name and spell it for the
3 record?

5 L-i-n-d-a M double o-r-e.

8 DIRECT EXAMINATION
9 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

11 Moore?

15 mommy, no matter what.

19 with you?

22 couldn't be here with you?

24 having finals this week. So, she couldn't be

4

6

7

10

12
13
14

16

17

18

20

21

23

THE WITNESS: My name is Linda Moore,

THE CLERK: Thank you.

Q. What was your relationship to Jason

A. I was Jason's mom.
Q. And--
A. I'm, excuse me. He always called me

Q. And you have three daughters?

A. Yes, I do, Cameron, Adrian, and Marissa.
Q. And two of your daughters are here today

A. Yes.
Q. Is there a reason your third daughter

A. Yes. She's in law school, and they're

25 here.
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1 Q. How hard has your son's death been on
2 you?
3 A. It's been devastating. For a while I was
4 really, really in a very deep depression that I
5 had to take some time off from my job, about six
6 months, because I couldn't function. I'm on
7 medication, still on medication, and sometimes it
8 works. Sometimes it doesn't. It's, it's hard for
9 me to get up and go to work. I know I have to,

10 but it's hard. I wish I could just stop the world
11 and take a break or something, because every day,
12 there's not a day that goes by that I don't think
13 about my baby. And he was my baby. He was my
14 only son, and he, he did everything for me.
15 He was the fix-it man around the house.
16 When I buy things that had to be put together, I
17 say, Jason, put this together for me, and Jason
18 would do it. I like to work outside in the garden
19 in the yard, and Jason would go, I would love to
20 go and show him off with me, my big, handsome son,
21 strong son, at the, like Home Depot or whatever.
22 When we would gather up things that I wanted to
23 plant, and I would say, Jason, put that here for
24 me. Jason, do this for me. And Jason always did
25 it. He didn't complain. He did it. And he knew
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1 that I loved him for that. He was my son. He was
2 a mama's boy. I kept him close to me.
3 And now I don't have him anymore, and I

4 don't know what to do. It's just awful. And when
5 I think about when he was young, when I first saw
6 him when he was first born, I looked at him, and I

7 said, oh, my god. This is such a beautiful baby.
8 And everyone that would see Jason will tell me how
9 handsome and beautiful he was. And he was shy

10 just like his father said. And we put him in
11 Little League to try to get that shyness out of
12 him.
13 Q. Ms. Moore, did you bring some pictures
14 with you today?
15

16

A. Yes, I did.
Q. We've had them marked as State's Proposed

17 Exhibits 60 through 66. Could you look at these
18 and tell me, these are the photographs that you
19 brought?
20 A. Yes.
21 Q. These are all photographs, 60 through 66,

22 of your son, Jason?
23

24
A. Yes.

MS. PANDUKHT: Move to admit and publish
25 to the jury.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1

2

MR. O'BRIEN: No objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: It will be admitted, and you

3 may publish.

4 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

5 Q. What I would like you to do, Ms. Moore,

6 is, I'm going to show you them one at a time, and

7 I would like you to tell the jury about the

8 picture.

9 First number 60, and I'm going to bring

10 this back down.

A. That's Jason one day old. And he was so11

12 beautiful. And all I had was thoughts of what he

13 could be, what he might be. And that's all I saw

14 in him.

15 Q. Could you tell us about number 61?

16 A. That was Jason's first Christmas. It

17 was, he was like maybe three months old. And you

18 can see that he's crying. He always did cry.

19 And, you know, and the lamb he had across his lap,

20 he grew up with that lamb. He used to call it

21 Lammy and, you know.

22

23

Q. What about number 62?

A. That's Jason in preschool. He was

24 graduating from preschool. And I thought that was

25 the most handsome picture I had ever seen of my
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1 son.
2

3

Q. And how did you get him to smile?
A. At that time it was easy to get him to

4 smile. He was so young and innocent. He knew he
5 had to take a picture for his mom.
6 Q. You also mentioned he was in Little
7 League. Could you tell the jury about number 63?

A." That's the first team he was on. I think8

9 he was about nine, I believe. And Jason was a
10 natural athlete. I remember one time we were
11 sitting in the stands, and Jason was playing
12 outfield. And Jason threw the ball all the way to
13 horneplate. And someone in the stand said, whose
14 boy is that? And I turned around. I said, that's
15 my boy. Because he was so good. He was so good.
16 And we used to make sure we went to every game.
17 His father was a truck driver, and he would
18 arrange his schedule to make sure he's in town to
19 see Jason play. And if he knew he was going to be
20 late, he would tell me, you make sure Jason sees
21 you. You sit in the stand, and you, make sure he
22 sees you. And that's what I did. That's what I
23 did.
24 Q. How about number 64?
25 A. That's Jason. I think he's about 15 or
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5

1 16. That was the last time he played for Little

2 League. And by then he wouldn't smile for me. I

3 used to stand by the cameraman and make faces,

4 trying to get him to smile, but he never would.

6 Who's in this picture?

8 Adrian, Marissa, and Cameron and Jason. He took a

9 picture just like I expected. And I used to love

10 his cheeks. I used to like to kiss his cheeks.

11 And he would shy away from me, but I just, he was

17 oldest.

20 We haven't had any more since Jason's been gone.

7

12

13

14
15

16

18

19

Q. Could you tell the jury about number 65?

A. Those are his three sisters. This is

my boy.

Q.
A.

Q.
A.

How old was he in this picture?

I believe he was like maybe 15.

And was he the oldest?

No. He was the second. Marissa is the

Q. And finally, number 66?

A. That's the last Christmas that we've had.

21 Like my husband says, no holidays, no nothing. I

22 tried to do something last year, but it didn't

23 work out, because we had an empty table, a empty

24 chair sitting at the table where Jason used to
25 sit. And it was just awful.

56

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
(702) 898-7676 nu1658



L ~ __

12-14-05 state v.

1

2

A. Yes, we did. We did a lot of family

Q. Who's in this picture?

A. His three sisters, Cameron, Marissa, and

3 Adrian.

4 Q. And did you always spend all the holidays

5 together, the whole family?

6

7 things. We played games together. We played, the

8 kids had a basketball court. They played

9 together. I mean, Jason was closer to his younger

10 sisters. One time he was outside playing mud pies

11 with them. I mean, that's the way he was. And at

12 the family get-togethers Jason would never eat

13 anyone's cooking but mine. And I used to laugh

14 about it and thought that was so cute.

15 I don't know what to say, you know. I

16 miss my son. You know, all of this has taken its

17 toll on me. I miss my son.

18

19

Q. Did he continue to play baseball?

A. When he got to high school, he played

20 briefly, but then he suffered a broken arm, and

21 that kind of stopped it. But he did go on and

22 finish high school, and he did get his diploma,

23 and he did join the navy. And I was so proud of
24 him for that.

25 Q. Did he actually get to go to the navy?
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1 A. He, he was almost finished with his --
2 what do you call it -- basic training or something
3 like that. But, like the judge says, you have to
4 have a good fit and, you know, he was basically
5 not a good fit for the navy. But he tried. But
6 he also would listen to us. And I told him, I
7 said, well, Jason, you need to go back to school.
8 And he was making plans to go back to school.
9 Q. How has your son's murder affected you

10 and your family?
11 A. It's torn us apart. It's, it's, it's
12 like part of my heart is missing, and it's, it was
13 torn out, and nothing can, can heal it. You know,
14 every day, you know, I get up. It's a struggle.
15 Every day I get up it's a struggle. His sister,
16 Cameron, she had started cutting herself, because
17 she was upset, you know, about Jason, because they
18 were close. It's just, it's just awful.
19 My older daughter, she told me about
20 maybe a month ago one, in one of her classes they
21 were discussing -- well, I don't know if I can say
22 this capital punishment or whatever. And
23 someone told her in class, not knowing her
24 background, that she wouldn't feel the way she
25 felt if something had happened to someone in her
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15

16

17

19

20

21

22

23
24

12-14-05 State v

10 like this jury to know?

12 mommy. No, I mean, he was 19. He still called me

14 have anything else to say.

9

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we're

1 family like that. And she said she just broke

2 down. And people were looking at her, because

3 they didn't understand why she was crying and, and

4 why she was hysterical. And it's, it's affected

5 us very deeply.

6 And I don't know if I'll ever get over

7 this. I'll probably go to my grave feeling the

8 way I'm feeling.

Q. Is there anything else that you would

A. Jason was a loving son, and he called me

13 mommy. And I just loved him for that. I don't

MS. PANDUKHT: Thank you, Mrs. Moore.

THE COURT: Mr. O'Brien?

MR. O'BRIEN: We're very sorry, ma'am. I

18 have no questions.

THE COURT: You may step down.

Who's next, Mr. Kane? Ms. Pandukht?

MR. KANE: Can we approach, your Honor?

THE COURT: Certainly.

(Conference at the bench.)

25 going to take our lunch recess. Today it's going
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1 to be very, very brief. In fact, I have made
2 arrangements through our court administration to
3 provide you with a lunch that will be served here
4 in the back of the courtroom. So, you'll go with
5 Mr. Bailiff, and you certainly can take a break
6 before you have your lunch, but we'll come back in
7 pretty short order.
8 I do want you to remember, however, that
9 during our lunch recess it's your duty not to

10 discuss this case among yourselves or with anyone
11 else. Don't read, watch, listen to a report of or
12 commentary on anything which might be associated
13 with this matter. Don't form or express an
14 opinion in any of these issues until it has been
15 fully and finally submitted to you under
16 instruction of law by me.
17 I'm going to ask you to wait until the
18 bailiff comes back into the courtroom, because he
19 will take you where you need to go.
20 Mr. Bailiff, can you take care of the
21 jury for our lunch?
22 We'll be in recess until approximately
23 1:00, 1:10, 1:15 according to my watch right now,
24 which is a little bit longer than I would like to
25 go. But we'll go that long if we need it.
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4

6

9

(Recess taken.)
THE COURT: Any matters we have to take

3 up outside the presence?
MS. PANDUKHT: I did, but it became

5 resolved by the time you got on the bench.
THE COURT: Okay. Then let's get the

7 jury.
8 Do you have your next witness ready?

MS. PANDUKHT: Yeah.
THE COURT: Why don't we go ahead and get10

11 them up here on the stand, and then we'll bring
12 the jury.
13 (Thereupon, the jury entered the courtroom.)
14 THE COURT: Welcome back. Let the record
15 reflect we are again present in the matter of
16 State versus Budd. All parties are present.
17 Counsel, will you stipulate to the
18 presence of all the jury?
19
20

21
22
23

24

25

MS. PANDUKHT: Yes.
THE COURT: Mr. O'Brien?
MR. O'BRIEN: We will, your Honor.
THE COURT: Very well. We have a witness

already here in the stand.
Mr. Pandukht, for the record would you

please state the witness's name?
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12 please state your name and spell it for the
13 record?

15 L-i-z-z-i-e, Jones, J-o-n-e-s.

18 DIRECT EXAMINATION
19 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

21 Derrick Jones, Jr.

23 him as my son. He's my oldest son's child.

10
11

14

16

17

20

22

24

------------_._. -_ ..----- _ .._ ... _.

12-14-05, State

1

2

Q. And I would like to show you some

MS. PANDUKHT: Yes, Lizzie Jones.
THE COURT: Ms. Jones, would you stand,

3 please, and raise your right hand?
4

5 LIZZIE JONES,
6 called as a witness, and having been first duly
7 sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
8 and nothing but the truth, was examined and
9 testified as follows:

THE CLERK: Please be seated. Will you

THE WITNESS: My name is Lizzie,

THE CLERK: Thank you.

Q. Ms. Jones, what was your relationship to

A. I, I was his grandmother before I adopted

25 photographs.
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May I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

3 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

4 Q. I'm showing you what we have had marked

5 as State's Proposed Exhibits 54, 55, and 56.

6 Could you look at these photographs and

7 tell me if you recognize who is in them?

8

9

10
11

A. That's Derrick, Jr.

Q. In all three photographs?

A. All three.

MS. PANDUKHT: Move to admit and publish

12 for the jury.

13
14

MR. O'BRIEN: No objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: It will be admitted, and you

15 may publish.

16 BY MS. PANDUKHT:

17 Q. This is State's Exhibit 54, State's

18 Exhibit 55, State's Exhibit 56.

19 Ms. Jones, I have what is marked, a

20 photocopy of State's Proposed Exhibit 67. And I

21 have the actual photograph here. Who is this?

22 A. My great grandson, Derrick's little boy.

23 Q. Howald was he when this picture was
24 taken?

A. I think little DJ was about seven or
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1 eight months old, maybe a year. He's two and a
2 half now.
3 MS. PANDUKHT: And, judge, this is the
4 only copy we have of the photograph. So, I'm
5 having this moved into evidence, the photocopy,
6 but if I can publish, move to admit and publish
7 the actual photograph
8

9

MR. O'BRIEN: No objection, your Honor.
THE COURT: You may do so.

10 BY MS. PANDUKHT:
11 Q. And that, for the record, was State's
12 Exhibit 67.
13 Could you tell us about your grandson,
14 adopted son?
15 A. Well, Derrick was born November the 12th,
16 1983, and he was about two weeks old, and his
17 mother called me and said, I got your grandson,
18 Ms. Jones. So, I went to her aunt's address that
19 she gave me and picked him up. I'm sorry. This
20 is going to be kind of rough, hard for me, because
21 since Derrick's death I developed a heart
22 condition.
23 He was such a beautiful baby. And as,
24 growing up, I raised him. Because I was so close
25 to him, his mom and my son say, you know, we just
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1 going to go ahead and let you take him. I spoiled
2 him, gave him everything, you know. We moved up
3 to Hesperia, California in 1990, November the 8th.
4 He went to all the schools from kindergarten up to
5 the high school, and he graduate from Hesperia,
6 Hesperia High School. He went to VVC, Victor
7 Valley College for not even a year, because he,
8 his dream was coming to Las Vegas. We would take
9 trips here three and four times a year, our

10 vacations. And so he said, I'm going to go to
11 Las Vegas and get me a job, grandma, and get
12 married. But he was engaged before he left to
13 Pamela Miranda, and she was pregnant with a baby
14 boy. She came to Vegas on Charleston to the
15 apartment and visit him maybe not even, not even a
16
17

month or maybe two or three weeks so I might be
just off a little bit on the time before he got

18 killed.
19 I spoke with him on the phone on the 26th
20 about 9:45 at night. He was living at the two
21 young men house over on Charleston, at their
22 apartment I mean. And he called me, and he said
23 he's coming to his brother's graduation, Samuel's
24 graduation and to Pam's graduation. And he said
25 Pam had already sent him the money to take the
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1 bus. He stated that he had went and applied for a
2 job, he and, he and AI, which I met AJ Mother's
3 Day the same year that Derrick was killed. I
4 bought the kids to a track meet. But I'm trying,
5 kind of getting off track here about Derrick.
6 Derrick loved to play sports. He loved
7 sports, basketball, football, baseball. And he
8 didn't meet no strangers. I'm not trying to paint
9 him as being the perfect young man. I'm saying

10 that everybody he meet was his homey, his friend.
11 He had kind of little tight-tongued boys, and he
12 would, grandma, that's my friend there. Meet my
13 friend. And he would just give his last to
14 people. He didn't look down on nobody, because he
15 was good-looking, handsome with the natural,
16 curly, straight hair, because his mom is Indian,

17 and his dad is black, which is my son. And he
18 just didn't paint no picture of a person being
19 ugly or don't have it, because, you know, he has
20 it all, you know, in a sense, because I worked
21 hard for that.
22 So, I made sure my adopted son, my
23 grandson, my children didn't have ~o go out and
24 beg, although maybe I spoiled him a little bit too
25 much, you know, because I didn't want him to leave
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1 horne. I begged him not to leave. He said,
2 grandma, I'm 19 now. I want to get out. Idon't
3 want to be cluttered in all the time. I begged
4 him to get a job there and stay in VVC. He wanted
5 to come to Las Vegas. That was his dream.
6 And I just, you know, it just took a lot
7 out of me when I got that phone call that he was,
8 that he was, you know, had been shot. And then
9 the next phone call from the hospital, the doctor

10 called me and told me that he was, he had expired,
11 you know. And, because I was on my way out the
12 door to come here, because he was injured, to
13 drive and, you know, to see, to see about him, you
14 know. I, and I learned the friend, you know, that
15 he said it was his friend. They played ball.
16 They went job seeking together. How could you do
17 that to a friend? How could a friend do that to a
18 friend? If it was money, I would have sent it to
19 him over night, whatever, you know. I didn't
20 actually see this person do this, but this is what
21 was told to me by the detective. So, I have to go
22 along with what they said.
23 But Derrick never seen his little boy.
24 His baby never seen him. The baby was due October
25 the 8th. Pamela COUldn't hold the baby after
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1 Derrick was murdered. She just was so stressed.
2 The baby carneJuly 8th. He had a lot of problems.
3 We call him the miracle baby_ He had tubes all
4 over him, problems with his hearing, problems with
5 his digesting system. The little boy, we call him
6 the miracle baby. And he looks just like his
7 daddy. But he don't know who his daddy is. He
8 can't see his daddy. Daddy is dead. Father can't
9 see the child. The child can't see the daddy, you

10 know, vice versa. But that's his first born.
11 Like I said, Derrick did not look down at
12 anybody. He was a very nice young man to know,
13 very nice young man, very polite to older people.
14 And you wouldn't believe this, but he never talked
15 back to me. He never cursed me. He never made a
16 mumbling word when I would get on his case. And
17 I'm a tough, tough grandmother and a tough mom.
18 He never talked back. And I give him that. I
19 gave that to him. When he was living, I said, you
20 know what? You never talk back to me. There is
21 nothing I wouldn't do for you. Please don't
22 leave. I didn't want to just give him everything,
23 give him a car. He had nice clothes, give him
24 everything. He needed to get out and earn things,
25 you know, so he can appreciate it better when he
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1 earn it.
2 Q. So, what impact has his murder had on you

3 personally?

4 A. Pardon me?

5 Q. What impact has his murder had on you

6 personally?

7 A. It woke me up to people. I stopped

8 seeing, I stopped dating this guy I was dating

9 because, and then I stopped associating with

10 certain people when I noticed attitudes in them.

11 It's hard to kind of detect sometime, you know.

12 But it just woke me up that, you know, you never

13 know, you know, who wants to, when I ordered my

14 grandson's, what you call them, the, I can't even

15 think now. You know when they tell you everything

16 that went wrong, and what you call them, at the

17 hospital, the morgue? The thing when I ordered,

18 it was three different pages.

19

20
Q. Autopsy?

A. Autopsy. And it says that he was wet,

21 and he was nude the time that the ambulance picked

22 him up. And, and I just put two and two together.

23 He probably was in the shower or something, you

24 know. I just, it, that itself, it made me realize

25 that you, to appreciate life, to appreciate
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1 understanding and know who, you know, find out who
2 a person is before you get so involved, you know.
3 And then it gave me a bad heart, and it just, you
4 know, just, that took a lot out of me. That took
5 a lot out of me, you know, because, first of all,
6 he was young. He was 19 years old the time he was
7 murdered. And that just took a lot out of me, you
8

9

know.
I don't even know. Sometimes I have to

10 pinch myself. Lizzie, is this you? How you going
11 on? How could you go on like this? And then I
12 look at this State of Nevada where I always would
13 come and visit, and I, and at one time we were
14 going to move to Henderson, Nevada. And I said,
15 now how can I live in Nevada when, knowing Derrick
16 got killed in Nevada, you know. I, you won't
17 never know until you lose someone close, because
18 we're a very close family. It might not appear to
19 be, because my older son say, no. His daddy said,
20

21
no. I can't come and face someone and look at
some person that killed my son. And my son say,

22 no. I can't face someone that killed my nephew.
23 And my daughter says, no. I will not go, mom.
24 So, I had to do this, you know, because nobody
25 wants to face this because, you know, they don't
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1 want to end up in trouble or, you know. It's

2 hard.

3 Q. How has it affected your children?

4 A. They, that's what I was just saying.

5 Everybody is hurt. We never would get over this.

6 It happened in 2003, but you walk in the houses,

7 we still have the homes. My daughters have their

8 homes. My sons have their homes. And you can

9 just, we all know Derrick was a part of it. He's,

10 he was a part of, because we all was right there

11 in Hesperia on, from Hesperia to Victorville in

12 that desert from the time from 1990 up until

13 Derrick's death. And, like I said, we're still

14 there. And he was always at all these different

15 homes, you know, visiting. And we all did

16 everything together. When you see three, you see

17 us all. When you see 20, you see us all. We just

18 did everything together, everything, gatherings,

19 vacations. And until Derrick carnehere, of

20 course, without us, people would see him and say,

21 no. Where is your mom? Where is your grandma?

22 Where is your aunt? Where is your uncles? No. I

23 know you're not by yourself here and stuff like
24 that.

25 But, oh, Lord. Help me, Lord. But now
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1 we, we watch his little son growing up, you know,
2 and he saying da da, you know. And Pam says, I
3 can't put another man over Derrick's son. So,
4 she's working, and he stays with me sometime and
5 my little child care I have at home. And then she
6 takes him to the day care, too. So, I'm just
7 trying to deal with that, you know. I look at
8 that baby, and he looks so much like his daddy
9 when his daddy was young like that, a toddler.

10 Looks just like him.
11 Q. Is there anything else you would like
12 this jury to know about your grandson?
13 A. I would like to say that my grandson
14 should not have, life should not have been taken
15 like that. He deserved a chance to live, to get,
16 to be older. I won't say my age, though, older
17 like me and other people, you know. He just
18 didn't deserve that. Like I said, whatever money
19 that the person needed, whatever it was, I would
20 have took care of it. And he know. And I'm
21 pretty sure if it was something like that, he
22 would say, my grandma would give me money or
23 whatever. I would give it, you know, to spare his
24 life. Nobody deserve to be slaughtered, shot
25 down. Nobody deserves that, nobody. I don't care
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1 how angry a person get. Walk away. Think about
2 it. Nobody deserve it. He was a, he, you know,
3 it was just a waste. He didn't deserve it. He
4 should have been around to be free, laugh, work,
5 take care his baby, you know, because he was a
6 good boy. He was a darn good young man, very
7 respectful.
8 People in the neighborhood, two police
9 live on my street, and they couldn't believe it.

10 Oh, no, not Derrick. My neighbors, he would cut
11 their yards and stuff, you know, run errands to
12 the store for them. Oh, not Derrick. No. No.
13 It just took a toll on everybody, you know. Thank
14 you for hearing me out. I appreciate it.
15 MS. PANDUKHT: Thank you. I have no
16 further questions.
17 MR. O'BRIEN: No questions. Thank you,
18 ma'am.
19 THE COURT: You may step down. Thank
20 you. Who's next?
21 MR. KANE: Judge, the State has no
22 further evidence to present or witnesses to call
23 at the penalty phase. With the understanding that
24 the jury will be instructed that they're allowed
25 to consider the evidence from the first phase of
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1 absolutely sure.

2 Let's start with the testimony of Lazon Jones.

3 Lazon Jones came in here and testified, but he never

4 said -- ever -- "I sawGlenford Buddkill these people."

5 Whathe said was that he did not see the shootinqs , He

6 was in the apartment, he heard the shots, and he left. He

7 said that he and his friends were drinking alcohol. And

8 in response to myspecific question, he denied they were

9 smokingmarijuana. He says that Glenford goes into the

10 master bedroomand he hears the shooting. But he also

11 says that he, Lazon, never actually went and looked into

12 the other two bedrooms. So, clearly, he doesn't knowif

13 anyone else is in that apartment at that time. Remember,

14 there are three bedroomsin this house -- or apartment --

15 and the shooting occurs in one, but not a single witness

16 can tell you whether scrnebodyelse was in that apartment

17 in those other bedrooms.

18 He also says that he left and ran downthe

19 stairs, but he never, ever, acknowledges that he ran down

20 the stairs with another person. Yet, we knowthat I s what

21 happened. He ran downthe stairs with Krissy, and two

22 witnesses testified to that. Andhe says that he ran

23 north -- look at the diagram, here -- he ran north over

24 towards Charleston, and somewhereover here to the

25· 7-Eleven, just a little bit to the east, and that's where
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1 he calls the police. Andhe said that he saw Glenford, I

2 think after he madehis phone call, rurming away. So, I

3 guess he seen Glenford running either to the north or the

4 east part of the canplex.

5 Now, let's compareLazon's testimony with that

6 of the only other eyewitness in this case. And that is

7 Celeste Palau. And I want to remind you -- I'm holding up

8 for you Defendant's Exhibit C. This is a photcgraph that

9 shows the view fram Celeste Palau'S apartment to the

10 building where the killings occurred. This is in the

11 daytime. It's 218 feet. The killing occurs at nighttime.

12 And 1'11 show it to you on the overhead, here. I mean

13 this is hard to see, real hard to see. But if you look at

14 it, basically, the apartment where the killing occurs is

15 over in the corner 218 feet away. And just before

16 midnight, she says she hears what she thinks are

17 firecrackers. And, so, she and her friend stand up and

18 are looking wayover there, and she sees a shooting, and

19 she identifies Glenford as the shooter.

20 But she also says that the shooter runs awayto

21 the west. And that would be over that direction, there,

22 to the right on the diagram. So, seeing it very long

23 distance, she sees a shooting, she thinks Glenford does

24 it, but she sees the shooter running off to the right, to

25 the west.
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1 She also testified that she saw two people leave

2 the apartment, one of those being Lazon, and I think that

3 he was with Krissy whenhe leaves; which, of course, is in

4 direct contradiction to what he testifies to.

5 Now,the inconsistencies between her testirrony

6 and Lazon's testirrony are not unimportant. They're

7 crucial. First of all, it suggests that perhaps Lazon,

8 whowas srrokingmarijuana, maynot have that good a grasp

9 on what was going on in the apartment. I mean, the

10 details he's missing are pretty amazing. He's either

11 missing details, or he's lying. I mean, he's claiming

12 that they're drinking, not srrokingpot. Weknowthat Is

13 false, because the coroner testified the alcohol would be

14 in their bodies. There was no alcohol in their bodies.

15 They had marijuana in their bodies.

16 It's their burden, folks, to have a case that

17 holds together and it proves the killing occurred in a way

18 that creates criminal liability. And it's their burden to

19 prove it beyond a reasonable doubt.

20 This eyewitness testirrony is confusing, it's

21 inconsistent, and it suggests we don't knowfor sure what

22 happened in this case. The implications of the testimony

23 of Celeste Palau with the testimony of Lazon are very

24 interesting. Now,think about this. Let's assume that

25 Celeste did, in fact, see the shooting, but she's wrongan
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1 the identity of shooter because of the great distance.
2 Let's also assume that lazon is correct when he tell us
3 that when he's over here at the 7-Eleven he sees Glenford
4 running that direction. Remember, he could not have seen
5 Glenford running away unless he could see through
6 buildings or around buildings, if Glenford's running off
7 to the west.
8 I suhnit to you those people sitting in that
9 apartment doing marijuana may not have known precisely who

10 was in that apartment. I subnit to you Lazon did not
11 know. I submit to you Celeste Palau is not certain who
12 actually was doing the shooting. And I sutrnitto you that
13 people, as people do, talked after the shooting. It is
14 totally natural that neighOOrs and friends and family are
15 going to talk together, especially in like something
16 tragic like this. And I submit to you that Lazon, by
17 telling his story, told a story that essentially tagged
18 A.I., or Glenford, with a blank. And I sutmit to you that
19 Celeste has incorporated that information into her
20 testimony. That, ladies and gentlemen, is probably a lot
21 closer to the truth than anything else in this case.
22 Based on the eyewitness testimony, the State's
23 case doesn It cut the mustard, base on the eyewitness
24 testimony, their case doesn't hold together. Based on the
25 eyewitness testimony, there is absolutely reasonable doubt
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1 about;whodid the killing in this case.

2 Now,whenyou get toqether and start discussing

3 this, sanebody1s going say, "Wait a minute; but the State

4 has so muchevidence. II And I hope that one of you will

5 say, "Wait a minute; they donlt have any other evidence."

6 Think about it. Howmuchphysical and scientific evidence

7 connects Glenford Buddin this killing? Absolutely zero.

8 Zero. Is his blood on the scene? No. Is there any blood

9 found on him fran the dead people? No. Is there any

10 blood or gunpowderresidue ever found in his clothing?

11 Absolutely not. The only scientific evidence in the whole

12 case is the evidence that showsLazon was lying about the

13 alcohol versus marijuana issue, and then also the fact

14 that we knowone gun did the killing.

15 There is not a bit of physical or scientific

16 evidence that backs up the State I s case. Taking the

17 eyewitness testimony, the physical evidence and the

18 scientific evidence t.cqet.her , they haven I t got it. And I

19 submit to you detectives can comein here and testify like

20 movie stars, and they can sound so confident. But the

21 reason we have juries, ladies and gentlemen, is because

22 you1re supposed to look through all this stuff and see

23 what really happened. In this case, their case doesn't

24 cut the mustard.

25 Now,you I re going to discuss this. And somel::x:x:ly

PRESTIGE COURT REroRTING
State of Nevadav. Budd

------------------------------------------------------- -

56

Ou1564



._.- ------------------------------

1 will say, "wait a minute. He confessed. He admitted he

2 did it." Well, I ask you: Is that really what you have?

3 Think about this. Howmanyreliable witnesses have walked

4 into this court roan , sat in that stand, and looked you in

5 the eye and told you that Glenford confessed to them? How

6 many? The answer is not one.

7 Let's start with Winston Budd, Glenford's uncle.

8 At samepoint in the past he testified that Glenford told

9 him he killed these people. And the Court told you you

10 have a right to consider that testirrony. Youalso have

11 the right to reject that testimony. The fact is, nobody

12 came in here and looked you in the eye, and you can't

13 judge his credibility. YoudonI t knowif he's telling the

14 truth. If you can tell the truth fran an actor, or

15 whoever, reading his statement, you're a lot better than I

16 amat telling the truth. This is a death penalty trial.

17 Youhave the right to hold the State to the highest

18 standards imaginable. And, again, that doesn't cut it.

19 His testirrony, his evidence, is thin. Thin. Thin. Thin.

20 So, what about Greg Lewis? Greg Lewis, of

21 course, is the manwho's in prison. HeIs a convicted

22 felon, and he came in here and told you that Glenford

23 confessed to him in the jail and then wrote him a letter.

24 L'm fromAlabama, a little town in the redneck

25 part of Alabama. Wehave trailer courts in my little
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1 town. In fact, I have family memberslive in trailer

2 courts, and I've' lived in a trailer before. So, I think I

3 can say this without offending anybody. There I s an old

4 saying in Alabamathat, "If you drag a hundred dollar bill

5 through a trailer court, youIII always comeup with

6 sanething." well, I Im going to tell you another truth,

7 folks: Youdrag the premise of parole through a prison,

8 and youIII always care up with sanething.

9 Noone in this case is less reliable than Greg

10 Lewis. Let me repeat that. No one in this case is less

11 reliable than Greg Lewis. This is not somebodywhodi.dn 1 t

12 perceive things correctly. TIlls is not somebodywho

13 srrokedmarijuana and doesn't knowexactly what happened.

14 '!his is not somebodywhowas in a long distance away and

15 couldn't see exactly what happened. This is somebodywho

16 sold his soul for the promise of parole. He should not be

17 trusted. He is serving 72 months in prison. He has a

18 wife or a girlfriend. Read the letter; it's in evidence,

19 Defense Exhibit A. He discusses his wife or girlfriend.

20 He has three kids.

21 He has strong motivation for getting out of

22 prison. He told you, "I don't like prison. I want to get

23 out." He wants out and there I s a way to get out. And the

24 way to freedom, the way out of that prison is called

25 parole. Andhe told you he has a parole board hearing
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10 NowI I submit to you this is not a letter. That

1 camng up in Marchof 2006. Now,let me tell you

2 sanething .

3 I'm sorry, State's Exhibit 50, please.

4 Into evidence wehave the letter fran a

5 prosecutor in this case, not one of these two, one of

6 their predecessors. This is a letter fran the District

7 Attorney's Office to the Parole Board, and it's a letter

8 basically telling the parole board what service Greg Lewis

9 has provided.

11 is gold. TI1at is pure 100 percent gold. Howmanypeople

12 do you think go to the parole board with that kind of

13 letter? With this letter, parole day is party day for

14 Mr. Lewis. And, by the way, there were questions raised

15 by the prosecutor whosuggested, perhaps/ he didn't get

16 any consideration for this fran the court or sanething

17 like that. This has nothing to do with the court. This

18 is about the parole board. This man is serving six years

19 in prison. Hewant out; the parole board can let him out.

20 Andthat letter, myfriends, that's the wayyou get out.

21 Now/he has sold his soul for the promise of

22 parole. And, now, let's talk about just howeasy it was

23 for him to do this. He talked about conversations he had

24 with Glenford in jail. Andwer re not going to play games

25 here. Theywere in jail together. They had every chance
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LewisI S letter from Glenford Budd. There's no difference

1 to talk about it. Theyhad chances to talk not only about

2 what Glenford said, but what the State's alleging. He

3 could have learned the facts that the State's claimed

4 happening just fran talking to Glenford.

5 Of course, he also had the chance to read the

6 paper and watch the news. So, he had a chance to learn,

7 independently, what the facts of this case were. And, so I

8 he claims that Glenford told him the story, and basically

9 admitted liability _ Well, that's one thing.

10 The other thing, of course, is State's Exhibit

11 49C, the rap sang, which is a devastating piece of

12 evidence. I mean, it's a horrible piece of evidence.

13 Well, look at howeasy it was to fabricate. First of all,

14 Greg Lewis told you he had possession of this. You've

15 never heard any evidence that Glenford ever had possession

16 of this. Greg Lewis said, "My fingerprints would be on

17 that letter. JJ He also told you he had an interest in rap

18 music. He told you he was in to rapping at the jail, and

19 there were group of them that were rapping. So, the man

20 clearly had an interest in this type of dialogue or music,

21 whatever you want to call it. He could have written this,

or somebodyelse could have written it.

23 The stationery this is on is precisely the same

24 stationery that Defense Exhibit A is on, which is Greg

25
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Okay. They could have done a handwriting

1 at all. So, if he decides, "Hey, I'm going to make this

2 up, II well, that's howyou do it. Youuse the stationery

3 you have, and it just so happens the stationary matches.

The rap song has language. And you can read it.

5 You'll have this back with you. It talks about the danger

6 of snitches. Well, if you take his letter to Glenford, he

7 talks al so about the danger of snitches. Whowould know

8 more about the danger of snitches than Greg Lewis?

9 So, in these circumstances, what could have been

10 done for us to find out the truth about this so-called rap

11 song? Well, there's a numberof things that could have

12 been done. First of all, it would be nice to have a

13 fingerprint analysis done. WeknowGreg Lewis's

14 finger.prints are on this. WereGlenford's fingerprints on

15 there? If he ever handled the rap song, they should have

16 been. They didn't do a fingerprint analysis. They didn't

17 even try to do one.

18
19 analysis. Andyou might say to yourself, "Wait a minute.

20 This is a highly stylized document. This is not normal

21 handwriting." And that's true. But, maybe, if you did a

22 handwriting analysis, you might find something in either

23 Glenford's handwriting or Greg Lewis's that matches. Let

24 me 9ive you an example. Whenyou go back there, look at

25 the Gs in Greg Lewis's letter, and look at the Gs in this
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1 rap song. A "G"nonnally has a curl at the bottan. Not

2 in Greg Lewis's letter I and not in the rap song. Andhe

3 also has a particularly interesting diarrond sort of top,

4 which occurs in both documents. I think if the State had

5 done a writing anal.ysf,s, wewould knowa lot more about

6 the origins of this rap song than the State wants to know.

7 Is there anything else the State could have

8 done? Absolutely. Whynot just get the jail to search

9 Glenford's cell several times in the last two years and

10 just try to find one documentin his possession where the

11 same stylized handwriting that exists in this? That would

12 be very helpful. Similarly, it would be very helpful to

13 do the exact same thing for Greg Lewis. MaybeGreg Lewis

14 had this kind of stylized handwriting in his cell. That

15 would be incredibly helpful. I asked Detective Vaccaro

16 about this. HewasnI t interested.

This is such an important case. The stakes17
18 can I t be higher than in this case. AndI yet, there are a

19 lot of things just not done here. A lot of things not

20 finished. And the stakes are so high. Youhave the right

21 and the duty to expect the highest standards in this type

22 of case, absolutely the highest standards imaginable.

23 Wehave the right to commentnot only here an

24 what the State has not proven or has proven, but on things

25 that didn't go right. Mr. Kaneccmnented in his opening
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1 statement that the State would present the testimony of

2 Tracey Richards, whowould testify she picked Glenford up,

3 took him to her home. He spent the night there, and the

4 next morning before he leaves he says, "I had a dream."

5 And the dream that he supposedly relates is, "I killed

6 three people over somemarijuana. II And I'll tell you

7 sanething -- and you all knowthis -- this person never

8 testified. Never testified at all. But if you listen to

9 Detective Vaccaro's testimony closely, you will see that

10 there were motivations for any such person to concoct that

11 story, because he said, "Lookif a person transports a

12 fugitive, haibors a fugitive, feeds a fugitive, under

13 certain circumstances that could be a crime." Think about

14 it. If you're in that boat and you knowthat you're

15 facing that kind of liability, howdo you get out of it?

16 Youbecom.eState's evidence. And listen to howgeneral

17 that statement was. "I had a dream. Three people killed

18 over marijuana." That could have cane fran anywhere, not

19 necessarily from Glenford Budd.

20 I also want to commentbriefly on the

21 nonexistent testimony of our other eyewitness. There

22 weren't -- there was not one person at Celeste Palau's

23 apartment i there were two. And she was standing right

24 beside Celeste Palau. Everything that Celeste Palau saw

25 she would have seen. Where's her testimony? Nonexistent.
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1 Death penalty case, the highest stakes imaginable,

2 nonexistent. Oh, well.

Whereare we? WeknowLazon did not check the3

4 two other rcx::rns. He has no idea if anyone else was in

5 that house. WeknowLazon lied about the marijuana versus

6 alcohol. The fact is they were all getting high in there

7 and it I S entirely possible their perceptions were not that

8 great. Weknowthat Lazon told us less than the truth

9 about leaving with Krissy. Whywould he have forgotten

10 such an Irrport.ant; detail? Whydid he anit this. Weknow

11 Celeste saw somebodyin a long distance awaywhodid the

12 shooting. It was alrrost midnight. It was dark outside;

13 at that distance it's very possible that she did see the

14 shooting, but did not see the precise identity of whodid

15 the shooting. Andwe knowCeleste Palau said the shooter

16 headed west. She had no rrotive to lie about that. We

17 knowthat Lazon said Glenford Buddheaded either north or

18 east. He wouldnI t lie about that if he knew it. Weknow

19 the State has no physical evidence, no scientific evidence

20 of any kind linking Glenford to the shooting. Weknow

21 Greg Lewis is in prison. Weknowhe wants to leave

22 prison. Weknowthat he knowshow to get out of prison,

23 and it I S call the parole board. And, so, we knowthat he

24 has sold his soul for the promise of parole, and maybe

25 he'll be getting out in March 2006. Weknowthe State
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MR.KANE: Ladies and gentlemen, I'm talking to

1 presented testirrony fran Winston Budd, but Winston Budd

2 did not look you in the eye, and it's almost impossible to

3 really figure out whether he's telling you the truth. We

4 knowthe State did not present the testimony of Tracey

5 Richards; but if they had, she had a motivation to concoct

6 this little story she told the cops.

7 Under these circumstances, ladies and gentlemen,

8 this is not a close case. This is not beyond a reasonable

9 doubt case. This is not a case that holds together. This

10 is not a case where you can say you knowwhat happened.

11 Not at all. This case, ladies and gentlemen is riddled

12 with doubt. It's riddled with things not done. It's

13 riddled with investigation not carplete. This, ladies and

14 gentlemen, is a not guilty case. They didn't prove their

15 case. Makethe presurrption of innocence mean sanething.

16 Makethe standard of prove mean sanething.

17 My client came in this roan, this court roan , as

18 an innocent man. He's still an innocent man. Andplease

19 find him not guilty. Thankyou.

20 THE COURT: Thankyou, Mr. Brooks.

22

Any rebuttal, Mr. Kane?

MR.KANE: Thankyou.

REBUTTAL ARGUMENT BY TIlE STATE23

24
25 you last, and I'll try to be brief. My purpose up here
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There is no evidence before you that the

1 isnlt to repeat the arguments that youlve already listened

2 to. As the Court told you, the State gets two chances to

3 argue, first and Last , and that's because we bear the

4 burden of proof, and that burden never shifts to a

5 defendant throughout the trial. Because of that heavy

6 burden, we get the first chance and the last chance to

7 talk to you.

8 And I want to talk to you about four po.int.s , and

9 then 11m going to sit downand let you deliberate.

Point one, Tracey Richards. In listening to

11 counsel, you mayhave gotten a misapprehension, and 11m

12 sure that was not his intention. Youmayhave gotten the

13 misapprehension that the defense, somehow,has to explain

14 awaywhat Tracey Richards might have said and why she

15 might have said it. Let memake something perfectly

16 clear. Tracey Richards did not testify. My remarks in

17 opening statement about what I expected her to say were

18 not evidence. It turned out that Tracey Richards was

19 unavailable and I couldn I t call her at trial. So, you

20 must totally disregard my statement in opening statement.

21 Itls not a question of did the defendant say to Tracey

22 Richards, "I had a dream about killing three guys, II and

23 did she make it up because she was afraid of being charged

24 as an accessory. Thatls not an issue.

25
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1 defendant ever said to anyone, "I had a dream about;

2 killing three people," and you must absolutely disregard

3 that. It didn't happen, it's not before you, it's not

4 evidence.

5 Point two, it is part of a defense atto:mey's

6 job to attack -- and I don't mean in any wrongway -- but

7 to attack the State's witnesses, to suggest reasons why

8 the State's witnesses are either mistaken, deliberately

9 misstating evidence, or for someother reason should not

10 be believed. And there were two of our witnesses whocame

11 under particular attack, and they were Lazon Jones and

12 Greg Lewis.

13 Don't believe Lazon Jones, says the defense, for

14 a couple of reasons. First, because he didn't mention

15 Krissy running downthe stairs at the same time that he

16 was running downthe stairs. Well, let me apol.cqi.ze on

17 Lazon's behalf. His 14-year-old brother lies dead in the

18 bedroomof an apartment at the top of the stairs. His to

19 friends, against his advice, have discharged back into the

20 line of fire, and they're probably being killed while he's

21 running. I'm sorry he didn't notice whoelse was on his-

22 stairs. TheMormonTabernacle Choir could have been

23 running downthose stairs behind him, and I'll be he

24 couldn't have identified a single face. Because what he

25 was concentrating on -- and justifiably -- was being the
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1 only person to escape Apartment 2068 alive, except for the
2 killer, Mr. Budd.
3 Don It believe Lazon Jones, says the defendant,
4 because he says he saw the defendant fleeing the
5 apartment. And since that's in the wrong direction, he's
6 got to be wrong or looking through buildings. What Lazon
7 Jones said is after he ran down the street to the 7-Eleven
8 and after he made the 911 call, which you listened to and
9 which was over three minutes long, and while he's waiting

10 for police personnel and ambulance personnel to show up,

11 he believes he sees the defendant, who is now outside the
12 apartment complex, running across Charleston Boulevard.
13 There's nothing inconsistent between that observation and
14 the defendant leaving the apartment in a westerly
15 direction. After he gets out of the apartment complex, he
16 crosses Charleston Boulevard, he's seen by Lazon; a
17 reliable observation and no reason for you not to believe
18 it.
19 And, finally, he said, "Don't believe him
20 because the coroner told you that you should expect to
21 find blood alcohol levels in these three dead teenagers
22 and you didn' t : and, so, he's got to be wrong about
23 everything. Well, what the coroner said is, "If at the
24 time of the death of these people they had a substantial
25 blood alcohol level, you1d still expect it to be there a
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couple of days later. II WhatLazon's testim::my was is that

aver period. of hours, each one of them drank, at the most,

a couple of cans of beer. Youknow, fran your own

personal experience -- and you've got a Jury Instruction

that says you don't leave your carm::msense out in the

parking lot whenyou're reporting for jury duty -- that

whenyou drink you feel the effects of alcohol, that

gradually increase, that gradually wear off.

So, yeah, if all three of the victims had

chugged two or there cans of beer minutes before they

died, then you might expect that all of that stuff would

still be in their system days later. But that I 8 not the

wayyou drink, especially not whenyou're drinking

socially. You'll drink a can of beer or two over a couple

of hours, your blood. alcohol goes up, the effects wear

off, your blood. alcohol level goes down. And, 80, there's

. nothing surprising about the coroner not finding any

appreciable blood. alcohol levels in the dead bodies of the

three teenagers a couple of days later, and there's no

reason, there, for you not to believe Lazon Jones.

Now,the defense argues you've got to look at a

witness like Greg Lewis, and Greg Lewis, in particular,

with skepticism. That's one thing 11m going agree with

him on. You'd be fools not to. Does Greg Lewis have an

ax to grind? Absolutely. Is he hoping that he'll get

69
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1 some benefit out of the testimony that he's given?
2 Absolutely. And, so, should you test what he says and
3 should you view what he says with skepticism until you're
4 satisfied that there's independent reasons to believe him?
5 Of course.
6 So, let's take a Lcok at the two things he
7 testified about. He testified that a conversation that he
8 had with the defendant in the jail, quite sane time after
9 the murders; and then he testified about a letter that he

10 received from the defendant and the rap song that was
11 contained in the letter.
12 When he told you about the conversation he had
13 with the defendant in the jail, if he came in here and all
14 Greg Lewis said to you is, IIYeah , we were in jail together
15 and Budd says to me, 'I killed three guys, '" would I get
16 up here and say to you, "You've got to believe him, boy,
17 That's credible stuff. That's really good. You should
18 believe him"? Of course not. But that's not what he
19 said.
20 'Thinkback to what Greg Lewis said the defendant
21 told him in jail. 'Thedefendant told him he killed three
22 boys because he thought they stole his marijuana. He told
23 them that he tried to find out which one of them stole the
24 marijuana so he could get it back. He told him he tried
25 to find out by hanging around with them all day and
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17 And then you've got the rap song. Andyou can

1 playing basketball with them. Now,howdoes Greg Lewis, a

2 year after the event knowthose things? Do you he suppose

3 the papers reported that the three of them were playing

4 basketball together?

5 The only way that Greg Lewis knew the statements

6 that Glenford Buddmade to him in j ail and that Greg Lewis

7 told you about; is because Mr. Buddactually made those

8 statements to Greg Lewis. Hewas telling you about

9 details of what happened that day that could only be known

10 to someonewhowas there. And, so, you didn't believe

11 Greg Lewis because you think he's a nice guy or because he

12 wouldn't lie to YOUi you believe him because he I s

13 corroborated by the independent evidence of what you know

14 happened that day, and that fact that Greg Lewis had no

15 other wayof knowing those things, unl.ess Mr. Budd told

16 him.

18 usually tell the strength of a piece of prosecution

19 evidence by the vociferousness of the attack that's

20 launched against it by the defense, and this is no

21 exception. Youshoul.dnt; believe that Mr. Buddwrote the

22 letter because we didn't fingerprint it, we didn't subject

23 it to handwriting, and because we didnlt search his cell.

24 Youknow, every time that I think L've seen everything in

25 this business, I see something that I haven't seen beforei
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Handwriting analysis. This rap song itself

1 and I have nowseen the spectacle of a defense lawyer

2 criticising me in court because I didn't go toss his

3 client's cell and search his personal belongings. Well,

4 we didn't do it.

Wouldit have helped to fingerprint? Well, the

6 defense speculates, with absolutely no scientific or

7 evidentiary basis that if I touched this piece of paper

8 and you fingerprint it sane time later, myprints are

9 going to be on there. WhereI sthe evidence before you

10 that tells you that happens. There's stuff that we touch

11 everyday that wemayor mayfingerprint that even holds

12 fingerprints that you can recover later. There I s no

13 reason to believe that the pol ice should have

14 fingerprinted this.

15
16 states -- Exhibit 49C -- contains a particular written

17 note that says it is disguised handwriting. It says, "So

18 sorry. This is howI write, so people can't read over my

19 shoulder. This shit is for your eyes only. II So, the

20 person writing this is saying, "1'm disguising my

21 handwriting. II Whatgood would a handwriting analysis do

22 in identifying this guy's handwriting? Howare we going

23 to makeMr. Buddsit downat a table and say, IIWewant to

24 prove you wrote this damagingletter, so wewant you to

25 disguise your handwriting f just the wayyou did whenyou
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1 wrote this, so we can compare it and put you in prison"?

2 Obviously,_that couldn't be doneI and that's why

3 handwriting wasn't done,

4 So, all of the things that defense counsel said

5 should have been done to establish the authenticity of

6 this letter I were done; and for g<Xldreasons. And there's

7 no evidence that they would have proven anything.

8 Now,on the other hand, what is there about this

9 letter, 49Band the rap song, 49C, that indicates the

10 defendant wrote it? Andhere you've got what we call in

11 the trade, self-verifying detail. And that's something

12 within the documentitself that makes it appear to be

13 genuine.

14 Andyou heard a couple of stipulations or taking

15 of judicial notice matters in the course of the trial that

"16 mayhave seemedto you real mysterious at the time. We

17 stipulated that the defendant and Greg Lewis werenI t back

18 in the sameunit in the jail back in October of 2003. We

19 stipulated that the defendant, at somepoint, movedto a

20 single cell; that being cell number18. And, finally, we

21 stipulated that back at the time that this letter was

22 writtenl the defendant's trial date was set for November

23 of 2004. Andyou mayhave been sitting there scratching

24 your head, thinking, IlWell, whyare weworried about

25 things like that?" The reason is, they're all things that
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1 are referred to in this letter, and they're things only

2 the defendant would be in a position to know.

3 It is true that the defendant and Greg Lewis

4 were in a corrrronurrit on the ninth floor of the j ail, back

5 had the admissions were madeto Greg Lewis. And that's

6 referred to here in the letter, "Backwhenwewere on the

7 ninth floor together." It is true that the defendant, at

8 the time he wrote this letter was in cell number 18 on the

9 ninth floor. Andhe said in here, "I movedinto 18, which

10 is a single cell." And it's that at the time this letter

11 was written, the defendant's trial date was set and had

12 just been reset for Decemberof 2004. And the defendant

13 says in the letter, "As far as mytrial date, it's just

14 been rrovedback to November." So, this is a letter that

IS you don't need handwriting and fingerprints whowrote it,

16 the contents tell you whowrote it.

17 The defendant, in writing this, he knowswhat

18 cell he's in. He knowwhenhis trial date is set, and has

19 just been reset. Heknowswhat un.it; he was in six months

20 or so before, whenhe had sane conversation with Greg

21 Lewis, and there r s nobodyelse that knowsall of that.

22 Greg Lewis knowsthat they were in the sameunit six

23 months; before but there's no evidence that he knowsthe

24 cell numberof the defendant whenthis letter I s written.

25 There's no evidence that he knowsor had any way to know

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
State of Nevadav. Budd

74

Ou1582



12 But what it says is: Third P.S. "I got killer

1 the trial date that the defendant at the time this letter

2 was written. The letter itself and the facts contained in

3 it tell you that no one could have written it but the

4 defendant.

5 And, again, you want to knowwhowrote the

6 letter, and if it was the sameperson whowrote the rap

7 song. Well, I've suggested to you the reasons whywe know

8 the defendant wrote the letter, 49B. And at the top of

9 the letter he includes a P.S. Andyou'll have this back

10 with you in the jury roan, so don't worry if you can't

11 read it on the scene.

13 in me, still." And then you turn to the rap song, and

14 what's the title? "Killer In Me." Whatdo you think?

15 Did the sameperson write this and this?

16 Don't believe Greg lewis, because you think he's

17 a nice guy or a public spirited citizen or is acting out

18 of altruistic rrotives , Believe him to the extent that

19 he's corroborated and backed.up by other evidence. And

20 if, based on that evidence, you find he's believable, then

21 you use that as part of the evidence that you consider.

22 Third of the four points I want to cover with

23 you. A couple of times in the Inst:ructions, it's

24 mentioned that if you're in a situation of doubt, you need

25 to give the defendant the benefit of that doubt. If you
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1 have doubt as to whether it I s first or second degree, if

2 you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not he I s been

3 proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, you must give him

4 the benefit of the doubt. And that IS a fundamental tenant

5 of our justice system. If you I re in doubt about

6 something, the defendant's entitled to the benefit of the

7 doubt.

8 So, when you get back in the jury roc:m, I'm

9 going to make a request of you, and you can do this or not

10 on do, because I don I t have any right to tell you how to

11 conduct your deliberations. But I'm going to ask you to

12 perfonn a mental exercise, where you give the defendant

13 the benefit of the very doubt that the defense lawyers are

14 asking you to give. The defenses lawyers say that Greg

15 Lewis is not believable. Fine. Whenyou get back to the

16 jury room, aSSlID1ethat Greg Lewis doesn't exist. Assume

17 the defendant never made any statements to Greg Lewis.

18 Assumethe defendant never wrote the rap song.

19 And then make a second assumption. The defense

20 wants you to assume that Celeste Palau was too far away to

21 make a positive identification of the person she saw

22 shooting on the balcony. 1'11 give you that one, too.

23 Whenyou get back there, assume that Celeste Palau is

24 lying about her eyesight, and she really couldn't see the

25 guy clearly and she couldn't make a positive
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1 identification. And put those two things aside -- Greg
2 Lewis and Celeste Palau's eyesight . Resolve them in favor
3 of the defendant.
4 And then look at what's left, and ask yourself,
5 lIIsn'tthat without Greg I..ewisand without Celeste Palau's
6 positive identification, enough evidence to establish
7 guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. And I'm going to suggest
8 to you why it is. And why it is, is because you don't
9 have to consider any witness's testimony, and you

10 shouldn't consider any witness's testimony, in isolation.
11 You consider the witnesses' testimony as it relates to the
12 testimony of every other witness. And you add those
13 testimonies and those observations together, to the extent
14 that they strengthen one another, to support inferences.
15 And an inference is a conclusion you draw fran a
16 chain of evidence. It's like adding two plus two and
17 getting the inevitable answer for it. And two plus two
18 always equals four, whether a defendant wants it to or
19 not. And three plus two always equals five. And the
20 three plus two I want to talk to you about are the three
21 non-police officer witnesses who were present when these
22 shootings occurred and the two police officer witnesses.
23 And I'm going to suggest to you that what the
24 evidence shows is that when you consider the testimony of
25 those five witnesses together, it establishes the
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4 Andhere's what I mean: Lazon Jones testified

1 defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, without Greg

2 Lewis and without a positive identification of Celeste:

3 Palau.

5 that he's present in apartment 2068, and that he hears a

6 couple of shots, runs out the door. His two friends run

7 back in the door, and he run downthe stairs.

8 At the same time, Celeste Palau, sitting over

9 here on her balcony, looks over and sees two people

10 running downthe stairs. Now,we knowat this po.int; that

11 those two people are Lazon Jones and Krissy Smith, because

12 you heard from both of them; and you knowthat they're the

13 two people that were rurming downthe stairs. AndCeleste

14 Palau sees them both. And she's still looking at the

15 balcony.

16 Andnowwhat she sees is a person cane out on

17 the balcony, fire a shot down, fire a shot a little

18 further up, and then take a step or forward, and fire a

19 third shot. Andwe know, fran looking at all the rest of

20 the evidence, that what she was witnessing was the

21 execution of Jason Moore, whowoundup dead in a pool of

22 blood in the corner of the patio.

23 But the point is, she is watching the shooter,

24 whoever the shooter is. And, rerrember, for the purpose of

25 this little mental exercise, I'm asking you to assume she
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1 can't identify him, she's too far away, she can't see him.

2 But she sees the person doing the shooting. And she

3 watches that person run downthe stairs, run downthis

4 street, and tUTIlthis way. Andwhile she' s watching him,

5 the police car is r'oundi.nq the comer. And they

6 literally, according to her testimony, she they almost hit

7 each other. The pol ice car pulls up here and stops, and

8 the shooter, whoever is he, continues downthis street.

9 Now,the important thing to rememberabout the

10 testimony of the two p:::>liceofficers, is they testified

11 that as they W01IDdthis comer they notice somepeople

12 kind of milling around, Andnowwe knowwhothose people

13 were; they were the people downstairs that Krissy Smith

14 banged on their door and said, "Hey, there I s shooting

15 going on."

16 So, the police see this group, and now the

17 police officers, as well as Celeste Palau are looking

18 right at apartment 2068, to the extent that they even see

19 one of these guys downstairs go halfway up the stairs, and

20 then he peeks over and see Is Jason MooreIs body and starts

21 back down. The point is, the pol i.ce officer's fixed

22 observation on 2068, make it impossible for anyone else to

23 have exited that apartment. Celeste Palau I s looking,

24 theY're looking, there's no way that anybodybut that

25 shooter, the person whogoes downthe street here, exited
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1 the apartment. There's just no physical way for anyone

2 else to have done it.

3 Now,howdoes that establ ish the defendant's

4 guil t beyond a reasonable doubt? Well, here's how. What

5 the detectives do after they make these observations, is

6 they walk up the stairs and they slowly and painstakingly

7 and with the assistance of other officers, seal that

8 apartment and inspect every square inch of it, including

9 those two locked bedroans that the defense is so found of,

10 and they find out there's nobody else there.

11 So, whenyou put the testirrony of these five

12 witnesses together, what you knowis there were five

13 people in and around this apartment. There were the three

14 dead people, there was Lazon Janes, and there was Krissy

15 Smith, and then there was the person who shot them. We

16 knowwhere the three dead people are, because they stay in

17 apartment 2068. Weknowwhere Iazon and Krissy went,

18 because Lazon goes to the 7-Eleven and Krissy goes right

19 downstairs and stays there.

20 Now,we knowwhere the shooter went, because he

21 went that way. Andwhat does that got to do with the

22 defendant? Well, the defendant told the police he was

23 there. Whoelse was that person that Celeste Palau saw

24 leave? Weknowfrom five separate witnesses -- not just

25 from Celeste Palau with her supposedly questionable
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19 Of course that's what it is. But counse.lsays,

1 eyesight -- we know fran five people that the only person
2 who left that apartment and is unaccounted for is the
3 shooter who goes down that street. And we know fran the
4 defendant's own admission that he was there and left the
5 apartment. And that, fran his very own mout.h,makes him
6 the shooter.
7 And the final thing I want to talk to you about
8 is this idea of premeditation and deliberation and whether
9 or not this is first degree murder. Lawyers make anything

10 complicated, and premeditation and deliberation amount to
11 knowingly making up your mind. And yet, by the time a
12 lawyer gets through describing them, it sounds like you

13 got to set down and make up a list, like your Christmas
14 list. What are the reasons why I should kill Jason Moore?
15 What are the reasons why I shouldn't kill Jason Moore.
16 And do the reasons why I should kill him outweigh the
17 reasons why I shouldn't. And then if you make that
18 decision, that's premeditation and deliberation.

20 "Well premeditation and deliberation and trying to figure
21 out what's going on in the defendant's mind, that's
22 theoretical nonsense. II Is it really? I'm going to
23 suggest to you that every one of you goes through a
24 process of deliberation every single day, and that you
25 went through it today. And you did so in a situation
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4

That's deliberation. Youhave weighed the

1 where your life was at stake, and it took you a couple

2 seconds. Andyou did it whenyou crossed the street at a

3 traffic light.

Because think of what you do. Youwant to cross

5 the street. Youstop at the comer. Youcheck to see if

6 the light is for you or against you. Even in the light IS

7 for you -- unless you're fran sanewhere other than New

8 York City, like I am -- you look left and right, just to

9 make sure there isn't anything approaching the

10 intersection whoI s disregarding the light. And if there

11 are other cars approaching, we gauge their speed and

12 direction, and you decide whenit's safe for you to step

13 of the curb and cross the street.

14

15 options, you considered some inputs, and you madea

16 decision. And if you I re wrong, you're dead. You're going

17 to be hit by a car and you're going to be injured or maybe

18 die. Does it take you five minutes? Ten minutes? Thirty

19 minutes to do that? It takes seconds. That I s howlong it

20 take to consider a course of action, a potentially fatal

21 course of action, to consider the consequences, and to

22 decide what you're going to do, and do it. And that's how

23 long it takes to premeditate and deliberate.

24 And, finally, counsel says that what went on in

25 the apartment doesn't shed any light about that. He says
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1 there was no thinking at all. The defendant wasnI t

2 thinking throughout this entire incident. Oh, really? It

3 is about two minutes to midnight on the 26th. I'm the

4 defendant. I'm on the stairs outside apartment 2068. I

5 knowsanebcdy stole sane dope of mine, or I believe they

6 did. I spent the afternoon with a couple of people that I

7 think did it I and I Im trying to warranted serne information

8 out of them, and I havenI t been able to. And, so, I Ive

9 gone and armed myself, and 11m back at the apartment where

10 the thieves are. AmI thinking yet?

11 I Imwalking up the stairs to the apartment. I Irn

12 at the door. AmI thinking yet?

I walk through the door of the apartment. I say13
14 I have to use the bathroan, and I makea left turn into a

15 bedroom, which just coincidentally holds the youngest,

16 smallest most vulnerable occupant of the apartment. AmI

17 thinking yet?

18 I go into the roan and I close the door behind,

19 and I take out myqun, And I fire a shot either through

20 the windowor into the neck of this 14-year-old. AmI

21 thinking yet?

22 I fire two more shots; one through the window

23 and another into his neck. And I say, IIWherelsmy stuff?"

24 AmI thinking yet?

25 I walk out of the roomand there are two
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1 19-year-olds in the living rcx::m. I follow one of them

2 downthe hall. I shoot him seven times. Slugs are

3 ripping into his body. Saxe of them are passing through a

4 grocery bag with toilet paper and paper towels, that he's

5 either hiding behind or maybeclutching to his chest to

6 try and save his life. AmI thinking yet?

7 After he's dead, I turn and I go to the door of

8 the apartment. Jason Moorecrawls across the threshold

9 for his life. I stand over him. I fire a shot into his

10 back. AmI thinking yet?

11 He crawls a few feet. I shoot him again. AmI

12 thinking yet?

13 He crawls to the corner of the patio and I

14 execute him. AmI thinking yet?

15 First-degree, premeditated, deliberate murder.

16 Thank you.

THECOURT:Thankyou, Mr. Kane.17
18 ladies and gentlemen, this is the time whenyou

19 will finally leave the courtroom without the admonishment;

20 because, indeed, this is the time whenyou will meet

21 together and you will go to your deliberation roomand you

22 will discuss the case, you will discuss the evidence, and

23 you will ultimately reach a verdict an a verdict form that

24 has been provided for your convenience.

25 At this point, one of you is an alternate, and
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1 you will be kept separate fran the rest off the jurors

2 during their deliberation. The fact that one of you has

3 been chosen as an alternate does not meanthat that one

4 person is any less important than any of the others. I

5 have had more trials than I care to count, where an

6 alternate, even during deliberation, was called into

7 service. So, the fact that an al temate remains a part of

8 this process is very, very important.

9 I have also had a numberof trials where an

10 alternate or two alternates have been kept separate, and

11 the jury has madeit through their entire deliberation

12 process without the alternate ever participating in the

13 deliberation process. Either way, all of your service to

14 this process/to this trial, to the State, to the

15 defendant, all of your service is equally important. The

16 system wouldn't workunless we had people like you to

17 serve.

18 As weknow,we lost one juror already during

19 this process. So, if we didn't have extras, then the

20 entire process would be tainted or certainly very

21 negatively affected. So, while we identify one of you

22 amongyou whoare the alternate, please don't feel as if

23 your time has not been important, because it has been.

24 Whenyou go to deliberate, Mr. Bailiff will take

25 a special oath. And, in fact, he will be sworn to keep
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THECOURT:Andwould you swear Mr. Bailiff to

1 you separate fran people whomight influence your

2 deliberation. Andhe can-t; talk to you himself. The only

3 thing that he can do is to allow you an opportiunity to use

4 the restroom, if necessary, and/or to pass a note through

5 him to me for one of the subjects, such as a readback or a

6 question that you might have.

7 Whenyou finally reach your verdict, you will

8 tell Mr. Bailiff whenyou have reached a verdict, and when

9 you are ready to return to the courtroom with your

10 verdict.

11 With that in mind, Mr. Bailiff, would you raise

12 your right hand, sir.

13 (The clerk, administers the oath to the

14 bailiff. )

THECOURT:Ms. Clerk, would you identify the

16 alternate.

17 THECLERK: It will be badge number -- or,

18 actually, seat number 13, Ruth Hardy.

19

20 take appropriate care and custody of our alternate.

21 In fact, weI re going to have you swear myclerk,

22 as well.

23 Very well, weill swear my law clerk, if you

24 would, please.

25 (The clerk administers the oath to Judge
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2

THE ALTERNATE JUROR: Sure. Even though it is

1 Saitta's law clerk.)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, you're going

3 to go to the deliberation room. YouI re going to take your

4 belongings, your notes, your notebooks with you. Wewill

5 be creating copies of the jury instructions for you. And

6 it is at this time that I thank you for your service. The

7 hard part of your job is upcaning.

8 Mr. Bailiff.

9 ('!he jury exits the courtrocrn at 3 :55 p.m., for

10 the deliberation process.)

11 THE COURT: Miss Hardy, would you go with my law

12 clerk, please?

13

14 shortly before 4: 00 0' clock, I'm going to have the jury

15 begin the deliberations this afternoon. TI1ere's still

16 adequate time for them to do so. I suspect that we'll

17 have 15 or 20 minutes -- you know, taking a break or

18 getting themselves settled in. But I knowthat Cliff has

19 already collected from you all phone numbers where we can

20 reach you. If you have not heard from us by 6: 00 0' clock

21 you can assnme that we have excused the jury and they will

22 be back tomorrowto consider their deliberations.

23 If we -- and what happens is, at about ten

24 minutes before 6:00, Cliff will go in and he will tell

25 them precisely this: "The Judge is going to dismiss you
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1 at 6: 00 0' clock. " Nowwhat's happened in the past, if

2 they're close and they say, "No, we just need 15 more

3 minutes, If we keep them. And we'll call you so you know

4 we're going to go past the 6: 00 0' clock. But that's the

5 only thing -- the only carmunications we will have with

6 them.

7 Thank you very much.

8 MS. PANDUKHT: Could you remind us again about

9 the time you said for tomorrow or the next day? Is it

10 10:30?

11 TIm COURT: I would 10:30 for tarorrow, yes.

12 And we'll go as late as we need to tarorrow. Well

13 Mr. O'Brien, your witnesses will be here

14 tomorrow, I presume?

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes.15

16 THECOURT:Okay. And if we need to -- well, if

17 we need two more witnesses, that is -- but this matter

18 will then be placed back on calendar, if the jury is still

19 in deliberation, for Thursday morning at -- we're probably

20 going to bring them back earlier, at 8:00 o'clock.

21 MR. 0' BRIEN: Tamorrowyou're going to bring

22 them in at 8:00.

THECOURT:They'll be here at 8:00 or 8:30.

MS. PANDUKHT: But on Thursday, it would also be

23

24

25 10:30?
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1

THECLERK: '!he State of Nevada, Plaintiff,

2

THECOURT: No. Thursday will be 8:00 or 8:30.

Mr. Kane.

3 r.m.. KANE: I f weI re present evidence.

4 THECOURT: Correct.

5 MS. PANDUKHT:So, Thursday will be eight or

6 8:30?
7 THECOURT: Yes.

8

9

MS. PANDUKHT:10:30 only tarorrow.

THECOURT: Correct.

10 MS. PANDUKIIT:Thank you.

THECOURT: Thank you.

(Recess taken at 4: 10 p.m. for jury

11

12

13 deliberation. Court resumes at 6 :48 p.m., and the jury

14 enters the courtrcx:xn.)

15 'lliE COURT: Please be seated. Welcome back.

16 Ladies and gentlemen, it is my understanding

17 that you have reached a verdict; is that correct?

18 THEJURORS: Yes.

19 THECOURT: Who's your foreperson?

20 THECLERK: Number 12 is the foreperson.

THECOURT: Would you please hand your verdict21
22 to my bailiff.

23 Ms. Clerk, would you read the verdict.

24 Mr. Budd, would you stand.

25
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1 versus Glenford Anthony Budd, Defendant, case Number

2 C1l -- C193182, Department Number 18. verdict: nWe, the

3 jUIY in the above entitled case, find the Defendant,

4 Glenford Anthony Budd, as follows:

5 "Count 1 -- Murder With Use Of A Deadly Weapon

6 (Victim - Dajon Jones), Guilty of First Degree Murder With

7 Use Of A Deadly Weapon.

8 "CO\ll1t2 - - Murder With Use Of A Deadly Weapon

9 (Victim - Derrick Jones), Guilty of First Degree Murder

10 With Use Of A Deadly Weapon.

11 "Count 3 -- Murder With Use Of A Deadly Weapon

12 (Victim - Jason Moore), Guilty of First Degree Murder With

13 Use Of A Deadly Weapon.

14 "Dated this 13th day of December of 2005, signed

15 by the Foreperson Rachel Goldner."

16 THECOURT: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, is

17 this your verdict as read? So say you one, so say you

18 all.

19 THEJURORS: Yes.

20 THECOURT:Would either side ask that the

21 jurors be polled?

22 MR.BROOKS:The defense does, Your Honor.

23 THECOURT: Very well.

THECLERK: Juror Number I, Warren Ikei, is this24

2S your verdict as read?
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1

JURORNUMBERNINE: Yes.

JURORNUMBERONE: Yes.

2 THECLERK: Juror Number 2, Robert Garbaccio, is

3 this your verdict as read?

4 JURORNUMBERTWO: Yes.

5 TIm CLERK: Juror Number 3, Idona Huntt, is this

6 your verdict as read?

7 JURORNUMBERTHREE: Yes.

8 THECLERK: Juror Ntm1ber4, Sharon Kirby, is

9 this your verdict as read?

10 JURORNUMBERroUR: Yes.

11 THECLERK: Juror NUmber5, Beverly Daisley, is

12 this your verdict as read?

13 JURORNUMBERFIVE: Yes.

14 THECLERK: Juror Number 6, WendySclmeider, is

15 this your verdict as read?

16 JURORNUMBERSIX: Yes.

17 THE CLERK: Juror Number 7, vedaj enne Wonnely,

18 is this your verdict as read?

19 JURORNUMBERSEVEN: Yes.

20 THECLERK: Juror Number 8, Lydia Ablaza, is

21 this your verdict as read?

22 JURORNUMBEREIGHT: Yes.

23 THECLERK: Juror Number 9, Paul Shubert, is

24 this your verdict as read?

25
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14 that going to be sufficient for the State? Are you

15 prepared to go forward?

24 reconvene tarorrow at 10: 30. I do want to be fair. When

25 I explain to you that weI re going to try and start at

16

18

20
21
22
23

1

THECOURT: Ladies and gentlemen/ we will

THECLERK: Juror Number 10, Keith Nelson, is

2 this your verdict as read?

3 JUROR NUMBER TEN: Yes.

THECLERK: Juror Number 11, Joseph DeMilliano,4

5 is this your verdict as read?

6 JURORNUMBERELEVEN: Yes.

THECLERK: And Juror Number 12, Rachel Goldner,7

8 is this your verdict as read?

9 JURORNUMBERTWELVE: Yes.

10 THECOURT: Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

11 This matter will have to go into the second

12 phase, what we refer to as the penalty phase.

13 11mprepared to reconvene tarorrowat 10:30. Is

MR. KANE: Yes, Your Honor.

17 MS. PANDUKHT:Yes, Your Honor.

THECOURT: On behalf of the defendant, are you

19 prepared

MR.O'BRIEN: Maywe approach, Your Honor?

THECOURT: Certainly.

(Side bar discussion held off the record.)
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REPORTER' 8 CERTIFICATE

1 10: 30, I do have a criminal calendar. It IS a calendar

2 that is required -- it's a type of calendar, if you will,

3 that has required us to start in the afternoon, usually.

4 I'm going to do my very best to be prepared to start at

5 10:30 tanorrow. There maybe a need for us to start a

6 little bit later than that, but I'll try to move things as

7 quickly as I amable tom::>rrowon my calendar, so that we

8 can start at 10:30.

9 If for some reason you are assembled and ready

10 to start at 10:30 and we aren't able to do, so please bear

11 in mind that it is not the fault of these at.t.orneys, but,

12 instead, it is because of my schedule. 80, just so you

13 understand that.

14 COlIDSel,would you please approach one rrore

15 time, briefly.

16 (Side bar discussion held off the record.)

THEmURT: (The Court admonishes the jw:y for

18 the evening recess.) See you tcxrorrowat 10: 30. Thank

19 you very rru.ch.

20 THECOURT: Whereis the C.O.? Could you

21 approach, and would counsel approach as well.

22 (The Jury leaves the courtroom for the evening

23 recess, and court adjourned at 6:53 p.m.)

24 * * * * *
25
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
accurate and complete transcription of my stenographic
notes taken at the time of the aforementioned trial
proceedings.

JEAN M'l' DAHLBERG, RPR, eCR 759,

Dated: December 14, 2005
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12-14-05 state v.

1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, DECEMBER 14, 2005, 11:30 A.M.
2

3

* * * * *
THE COURT: I understand there are some

4 matters out of the presence.
MR. BROOKS: Yes, there are, judge.5

6 Howard Brooks on behalf of Mr. Glenford Budd.
7 There are five issues I would like to address
8 briefly. The first is, I would like to make a
9 record as how I perceive what happened last night.

10 And perhaps the Court can then augment and clarify
11 what I don't know, because I don't know the full
12 story, but I want to make sure the record reflects
13 what I think occurred in terms of resolution of
14 this case.
15 At approximately 5:35 I received a
16 telephone message from your secretary saying that
17 the Court wanted to have a conference. There was
18 a conference at approximately 5:38 with Ed Kane on
19 the telephone, myself on the telephone, Tim
20 O'Brien on the telephone, and the Court on the
21 telephone. I believe at that time we were
22 informed that there had been two notes from the
23 jury. One note said the jury wanted to, they
24 wanted to know what time they were going to be
25 released that evening. The second note, I

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05, state v.

1 believe, said that, that they had some obligations
2 after 6:00 o'clock that needed to be taken care
3 of. At that time the Court informed us that the
4 jury would be excused at approximately 5:40. I
5 left my office at approximately 5:40, and within
6 five minutes I received a phone call from the
7 Court's secretary saying that the jury had
8 apparently reached a verdict. And that was
9 confirmed at 6:00 o'clock.

10 If there is anything, I'm not sure if it
11 was actually instruction by the Court to the jury,
12 if the Court actually met with the jury or not.

THE COURT: Let me clarify for you. The13
14 first note came at -- and I can't tell you what
15 time. I trust your time frame with respect to our
16 conference is accurate -- probably 15 minutes
17 before our phone conference. I first received a
18 note from the jurors indicating that they wanted
19 to know what time they could be excused. I didn't
20 even call you on that, because I simply sent the
21 note back to them with my bailiff instructed to
22 tell them, quite simply, keep deliberating. When
23 the second note came, that actually fully
24 explained that some of them had obligations
25 outside of the Court. At that time I called you

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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12-14-05 State v.

1 all, and it was my intention at that point to
2 bring the jury, as I told you, bring the jury back
3 into the courtroom, advise them they could be
4 excused for the evening but that they should be
5 prepared to come back and deliberate today.
6 Between the time that that oral message
7 was being conveyed from me to Mr. Bailiff, who
8 then walked, you know how close it is now. The
9 jury room is literally three doors away. They, as

10 he walked back into the room to tell them they
11 were going to be excused, they put up their hand
12 immediately, several of them -- and I don't care
13 if you polled them if you'd like -- and said,
14 we're almost at a verdict. So, no other
15 explanation was ever given to them. He just came
16 back, and he told me they were going to reach a

verdict. And at that point they said, give us a
few more minutes, you know. Give us a few more
minutes. We think we got a verdict. It was a
good, at least 20 to 25 minutes before I actually

17
18

19
20
21 knew that they had a verdict. So, it was an
22 additional, you know, period of time.
23
24

MR. BROOKS: Okay. Thank you, judge.
THE COURT: Sure. Anything else? You

25 said five items.
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 MR. BROOKS: Issue two, I can't recall if

2 I mentioned this on the record or not yesterday.

3 I might have said at some point that I wanted to

4 enter in all the volume numbers and the transcript

5 numbers for the purposes of appeal. I can't

6 recall if I actually said that on the record or

7 not. I've reviewed the transcripts we were

8 provided so far. The case and the volume numbers

9 are on all of the documents. So, any

10 clarification is unnecessary.

11 THE COURT: You were concerned about the

12 date of Friday, as I recall.

13 MR. BROOKS: That was one issue that we

14 had discussed, but I was, I had also mentioned

15 somewhere or another -- I'm not sure if it was on

16 the record or not -- that I was concerned that

17 perhaps some transcripts had volume numbers and

18 some did not. They all do. And the volume

19 numbers make sense, and it's completely

20 understandable.

21

22
THE COURT: Very good.

MR. BROOKS: Issue three, judge, Mr. Kane

23 and I have discussed this. I believe that we're

24 both agreed that the exclusionary rule is relaxed
25 during penalty proceedings and that members of the

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 victim's family and also my client's family may be
2 present in the courtroom during the proceedings.

3 MR. KANE: Correct, your Honor.
4 The COURT: That's correct.
5 MR. BROOKS: Mr. Kane and I also
6 discussed the issue of leading questions with
7 regard to the penalty proceeding, and I think we
8 both agree that we would like the Court's
9 permission to lead witnesses in order to keep

10 control of certain witnesses and make sure that
11 their testimony is more on point.
12 THE COURT: It is appropriate under the
13 circumstances. It is, in my mind, a wise thing
14 for each of you to do, and I appreciate the
15 agreement.

MR. BROOKS: Judge, this next matter is,16
17 I mean, arguably can be considered almost
18 preliminary to settling jury instructions.
19 Mr. Kane has provided to me his proposed jury
20 instructions. I have reviewed those instructions,
21 and at this point in time I propose the change to
22 one instruction, which Mr. Kane has agreed to and
23 which he's going to revise. We do have a
24 disagreement on one issue. And I know the Court
25 is at a disadvantage. I don't think the Court has

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
(702) 898-7676
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1 a copy.
2
3

THE COURT: I do not.
MR. BROOKS: Do not? Okay. I'm going to

4 walk forward, Mr. Kane will walk forward and
5 provide a copy. The issue which we disagree on
6 involves the instruction but both an instruction
7 and a verdict. And I'm going to summarize what
8 the instruction says first. The instruction says,
9 murder of the first degree may be mitigated by any

10 of the following circumstances, even though the
11 mitigating circumstance is not sufficient to
12 constitute a defense or reduce the degree of the
13 crime. The list then is the statutory list of
14 mitigating instructions, which Mr. Kane and I have
15 both agreed we will delete certain mitigators we
16 do not feel are necessarily relevant to this case.
17 THE COURT: So, I will confine this
18 instruction, then, to those mitigators that more
19 accurately encompass this case.
20 MR. BROOKS: Correct, and the evidence to
21 be presented at the penalty phase. Mr. Kane also
22 does not oppose our including in the list certain
23 proposed mitigating circumstances that are not
24 statutory. And that would include, for example,
25 the defendant's diminished intelligence, which he

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 does not oppose.
2 Our disagreement, then, comes on the next

3 listing of a proposed mitigator. My intent would
4 be that we list one mitigator that says the impact
5 of the defendant's execution on his mother,
6 another one that says the impact of the
7 defendant's execution on his grandmother, another
8 one that says the impact of the defendant's
9 execution on his brother, another one that says

10 the impact of the defendant's execution on his
11 sister, Charmaine, another one that lists his
12 sister, Angel, and another one that says friends
13 and loved one. Mr. Kane would prefer to have that
14 be listed as one mitigating circumstance listing
15 all of those individuals in the, in the one
16 mitigating circumstance.
17 So, that's, that's where we disagree.
18 And we're going to move that we be allowed to have
19 them listed as individual mitigators since anyone
20 of those circumstances may be considered
21 separately as a mitigating circumstance.
22
23

24

MR. KANE: I guess we're taking that up
now, because it's our only disagreement, and if we
can resolve it, my feeling is just that it's

25 adequately covered by saying to the jury, one of
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 the mitigating circumstances that you may consider

2 is the impact of his death by execution on his

3 family, friends, loved ones, anyone else. I think

4 that can adequately be covered in one. The

5 defense is certainly free to argue he's got

6 separate relatives and friends and all of their,

7 all of the impacts on all of those people need to

8 be considered, but the mitigating circumstance "is

9 really the affect on everyone. You could multiply

10 that by a million and say the impact of his

11 execution on anyone who's ever known him, taught

12 him in school, palled around with him, played

13 basketball with him. There would be no end to

14 them once you start separating them out. I think

15 it's adequately covered simply by saying a

16 mitigating circumstance you may consider is the

17 impact of his death by execution on his family,

18 friends, and loved ones.

19 THE COURT: Anything further, Mr. Brooks?

MR. BROOKS: We'll submit that, judge.

THE COURT: You can present this

20

21

22 mitigator in the following manner: You may

23 identify as a mitigator the impact of that

24 execution upon family members, including, and then

25 you may name them. And then the next line, that
PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 all in one sentence. Then the next one is other
2 friends, family members, or loved ones.
3 MR. BROOKS: So, it would be two, two
4 listed mitigators, one for family and one for
5 non-family?
6 THE COURT: Yes, but I'm also allowing
7 you to specifically and personally identify each
8 of those family members.
9 MR. KANE: And then in the second one,

10 judge, we'll consider, we'll include other family,
11 friends, and loved ones just in case there are
12 family members that aren't listed.
13 THE COURT: Correct.
14 MR. BROOKS: Can the record reflect that
15 when we stipulate to the instructions as Mr. Kane
16 will bring them back, that that would not waive
17 our objection on that particular issue?
18
19

THE COURT: Absolutely not.
MR. BROOKS: Okay. Judge, the final

20 issue is simply the scheduling issue.
21
22
23

The COURT: That's number six.
MR. BROOKS: I know. And I miscounted.
THE COURT: I wanted you to know I was

24 keeping track.
25 MR. BROOKS: Here's my understanding of

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 INDEX
Budd, Glenford

Document Page No.
Affidavit in Support of Motion to Proceed in Forma Pauperis filed on
05/0112007 2568-2572
Amended Notice of Evidence in Aggravation filed on 11118/2005 412-415
Amended Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty filed on 10108/2004 387-389
Case Appeal Statement filed on 01/25/2008 2828-2829
Case Appeal Statement filed on 03/23/2006 2514-2516
Case Appeal Statement filed on 08113/2007 2614-2615
Certificate of Facsimile Transmission filed on 07/28/2003 101-104
Clark County Public Defender's Response to Glenford Budd's Motion to
Hold Clark Count Public Defender in Contempt filed on 07112/2007 2592-2594
Clark County Public Defenders Notice of Qualification Pursuant to
Supreme Court Rule 250(2) (g) and (h) 280-283
Clerk's Certificate Appeal Dismissed filed on 10105/2007 2792-2796
Clerk's Certificate Judgment Affirmed filed on 02/08/2007 2560-2567
Clerk's Certificate Judgment Reversed and Remanded filed on
10/23/2009 2830-2836
Criminal Bindover filed on 06/26/2003 1-23
Criminal Order to Statistically Close Case filed on 09/03/2014 3039
Defendant's Motion to Vacate and Continue Trail Date filed on
0112712004 132-135
Defendants Amended Notice of Expert Witnesses, Pursuant to NRS
174.234(2) filed on 12/0112005 423-426
Defendants Notice of Expert Witnesses, Pursuant to NRS 174.234(2) filed
on 1112112005 416-420
Financial Certificate filed on OSlO 112007 2582
Financial Certificate filed on 09/21/2007 2616
Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order filed on 01/07/2008 2808-2815
Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order filed on 10117/2014 3091-3103
First Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction
filed on 05/23/2013 2847-2915
Fourth Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post
Conviction) filed on 12/26/2013 3000-3036
Information filed on 06/26/2003 24-26
Instructions to the Jury (Instructions No.1) filed on 1211612005 1741-1761
Instructions to the Jury filed on 12113/2005 1482-1506
Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) filed on 03/0112006 2011-2012
Media Request and Order for Camera Access to Court Proceedings filed
on 01128/204 236-137
Media Request and Order for Camera Access to Court Proceedings filed
on 01/31/2006 2009
Media Request and Order for Camera Access to Court Proceedings filed
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on 01/3112006 2010
Media Request and Order for Camera Access to Court Room filed on
09/28/2005 411
Media Request to Permit Camera Access To Proceedings filed on
07/0312003 27
Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of
Habeas Corpus filed on 09/2112007 2750-2785
Memorandum Regarding Petitioner's Exhibits (In Camera Review) filed
on 12112/2013 2990-2992
Motion 1: Defendant Budd's Motion in Limine for Order Prohibiting
Prosecution Misconduct in Argument; and for Order that Court Takes
Judicial Notice of Authority Cited in This Motion if Defense Objects at
Trial to Improper Argument filed on 09114/2004 138-230
Motion 10: Defendant Budd's Motion in Limine to Prohibit any
Reference in Front of the Jury to the Trial Phase of the Proceedings as the
"Guilt Phase" filed on 09/14/2004 276-279
Motion 11: Defendant Budd's Motion to Strike Allegations of Certain
Aggravating Circumstances Alleged in State's Notice of Intent to Seek
Death Penalty filed on 10104/2004 374-382
Motion 12: Defendant Budd's Motion to Preclude the Admission During a
Possible Penalty Proceeding of Evidence about the Personal Character of
the Victims and the Impact of the Victims' Deaths on the Family filed on
10104/2004 347-352
Motion 13: Defendant Budd's Motion to Bar the Admission of
Cumulative Victim Impact Evidence in Violation of the Due Process Law
filed on 10104/2004 369-373
Motion 14: Defendant Budd's Motion to Dismiss State Notice ofIntent
Because Nevada's Death Penalty Scheme Violates Due Process
Guarantees by Failing to Require a Pre-Trial Finding of Probable Casue
for Alleged Aggravators filed on 10104/2004 353-368
Motion 2: Defendant Budd's Motion for Exchange of Jury Instructions on
the First Day of Trial filed on 09/14/2004 231-233
Motion 3: Defendant Budd's Motion for Recording of All Proceedings
Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 250 filed on 0911412004 234-237
Motion 4: Defendant Budd's Motion to Disqualify all Potential Jurors
who knew or were Acquainted with the Victims or Their Families filed on
09114/2004 238-242
Motion 5: Defendant Budd's Motion to Disqualify all Potential Jurors
Who Would Automatically Vote for the Death Penalty in the Event of a
First Degree murder Conviction filed on 09114/2004 263-266
Motion 6: Defendant Budd's Motion in Limine to Prohibit the State from
Using Preemptory Challenges to Remove Minorities from Jury filed on
09114/2004 243-247
Motion 7: Defendant Budd's Motion to Bifurcate Penalty Phase
Proceedings filed on 09/14/2004 248-255
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2
3

4

5

6
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Motion 8: Defendant Budd's Motion to Allow the Defense to Argue Last
in a Potential Penalty Phase Proceeding filed on 09114/2004 256-262
Motion 9: Defendant Budd's Motion for Jury Questionnaire to be
Completed by Jure Venire one Week Prior to Trial filed on 09114/2004 267-275
Motion for Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis filed on 05/0112007 2573-2574
Motion for Leave to Proceed in Forma Pauperis filed on 09/2112007 2786-2790
Motion for Rehearing filed on 08/10/2007 2598-2613
Motion for Withdrawal of Attorney of Record or in the Alternative,
Request for Recordsl Court Case Documents filed on 05/01/2007 2575-2581
Motion to Hold Howard S Brooks, Attorney of Record in Contempt for
Filing to Forward a Copy of the Case File filed on 07/05/2007 2583-2591
Motion to Withdraw as Petitioner's Attorney filed on 09113/2012 2840-2843
Notice of Appeal filed on 01123/2008 2825-2827
Notice of Appeal filed on 03/23/2006 2517-2519
Notice of Appeal filed on 08110/2007 2595-2597
Notice of Entry of Decision and Order filed on 01/08/2008 2816-2824
Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order filed 3104-3117
on 1012012014
Notice of Evidence in Support of Aggravating Circumstances filed on
10108/2004 390-391
Notice of Expert Witnesses filed on 09/28/2004 312-344
Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty filed on 07/25/2003 99-100
Notice of Witnesses filed on 09/28/2004 345-346
Order for Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed on 09/27/2007 2791
Order for Production of Inmate Glenford Anthony Budd filed on
11/25/2009 2838-2839
Order for Production of Inmate Glenford Anthony Budd filed on
12/23/2013 2998-2999
Order for Production of Inmate Greg Lewis, BAC #82483 filed on
11/28/2005 421-422
Order for Transcript filed on 03/20/2006 2513
Order for Transcript filed on 09/23/2014 3040
Order Granting State's Reouest for All Thirty-Three (33) Pages of Public
Defender Brooks' Case Notes filed on 01110/2014 3037-3038
Order of Appointment filed on11/05/2012 2844
Order Re: Custody of Material Witness Greg Lewis filed on 0411112006 2520-2521
Order Re: Custody of Material Witness Greg Lewis ID filed on
12115/2005 1507-1508
Order Setting Hearing Appointment of Counsel Re: Supreme Court
Remand filed on 10/29/2009 2837
Penalty Verdict Count 1 filed on 1211612005 1739
Penalty Verdict Count 2 filed on 12/16/2005 1740
Penalty Verdict Count 3 filed on 12/16/2005 1738
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction filed on 09/21/2007 2709-2749
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Petitioner's Reply Brief to the State's Response to the Defendant's
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction filed on 11/20/2013 2959-2985
Petitioners Exhibits in Support of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post
Conviction filed on 09/21/2007 2622-2708
Request for Evidentiary Hearing filed on 09/2112007 2617-2621
Second Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction
filed on 10/25/2013 2919-2927
Special Verdict (Aggravating Circumstance) filed on 12116/2005 1737
Special Verdict (Mitigating Circumstances) filed on 12/16/2005 1735-1736
State's Response to Defendant's Memorandum Regarding Petitioner's
Exhibits (In Camera Review) filed on 12117/2013 2993-2997
State's Response to Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post
Conviction) and First Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
filed on 11106/2013 2928-2958
States Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Bar the Admission of
Cumulative Victim Impact Evidence in Violation of the Due Process
Clause filed on 10112/2004 400-403
States Opposition to Defendants Motion for Jury Questionnaire to be
Completed by Jure Venire One Week Prior to Trial filed on 09/22/2004 308-311
States Opposition to Defendants Motion for Recording of all Proceedings
Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 250 filed on 09/2112004 291-293
States Opposition to Defendants Motion in Limine for Order Prohibiting
Prosecution Misconduct in Argument; and for Order that Court Takes
Judicial Notice of Authority Cited in this Motion if Defense Objects at
Trial to Improper Argument filed on 09/2112004 284-287
States Opposition to Defendants Motion in Limine to Prohibit any
Reference in Front of the Jury to the Trial Phase of the Proceedings as the
"Guilt Phase" filed on 09/21/2004 297-299
States Opposition to Defendants Motion in Limine to Prohibit the State
from Using Peremptory Challenges to Remove Minorities from the Jury
to filed on 10106/2004 383-386
States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Allow the Defense to Argue
Last in a Potential Penalty Phase Proceeding filed on 09/2112004 288-290
States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Bifurcate Penalty Phase filed
on 09/21/2004 304-307
States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Dismiss the State's Notice of
Intent because Nevada's Death Penalty Scheme Violates Due Process
Guarantees by Failing to Require a Pre-Trail Finding of Probable Cause
for Alleged Aggravators filed on 10114/2004 404-410
States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Disqualify all Potential Jurors
who Knew or were Acquainted with the Victim's or Their Families filed
on 09/21/2004 294-296
States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Disqualify all Potential Jurors
who would Automatically Vote for the Death Penalty in the Event of a
First Degree Murder Conviction filed on 09/2112004 300-303
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States Opposition to Defendants Motion to Preclude the Introduction of
Victim Impact Evidence Pertaining to Victim and Family Members
Characterizations filed on 10112/2004 396-399
States Response to Defendant Budd's Motion to Strike Allegations of
Certain Aggravating Circumstances Alleged in States Notice of Intent to
Seek Death Penalty filed OIl 10112/2004 392-395
States Response to Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post
Conviction filed on 11127/2007 2797-2807
Stipulation and Order Extending Time filed on 07/23/2013 2916-2918
Stipulation filed on 12112/2005 1299
Stipulation to Enlarge Briefing schedule and Order filed on 03/29/2013 2845-2846
Third Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction)
filed on 12112/2013 2986-2989
Verdict filed on 12113/2005 1300-1301
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TRANSCRIPTS

Document Page No.
Transcript - All Pending Motions filed on 0511112004 2558-2559
Transcript - Arraignment filed on 10/27/2003 127-131
Transcript - Calendar Call Status Check: Reset Motions filed on 2522-2524
04/20/2004
Transcript - Defendant's Motion to Vacate and Continue Trial Date filed 2541-2543
on 04/2012004
Transcript - Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus - Post 3041-3090
Conviction filed on 09/26/2014
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 1 filed on 12/06/2005 443-653
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 2 filed on 12/08/2005 654-814
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 3-A filed on 12/09/2005 815-941
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 3-B filed on 12/09/2005 942-1100
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 4 filed on 03/07/2004 2341-2512
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 4 filed on 12112/2005 1101-1298
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 5 filed on 03/07/2006 2013-2192
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 5 filed on 12113/2005 1302-1481
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 6 filed on 12115/2005 159-1602
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 7 filed on 12115/2005 1603-1734
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 8-B filed on 03/07/2006 2193-2340
Transcript - Jury Trial Volume 8-B filed on 12/23/2005 1861-2008
Transcript - Motions # 1 to # 14 filed on 04/20/2004 2528-2530
Transcript - Motions #1 to #14 filed on 04/20/2004 2536-2540
Transcript - Motions #1 to #14 filed on 04/20/2004 2547-2550
Transcript - Penalty Phase filed on 12/20/2005 1777-1860
Transcript - Pre Trial Motions filed on 12/02/2005 427-442
Transcript - Preliminary Hearing filed on 07/07/2003 28-98
Transcript - Preliminary Hearing Volume II filed on 08/08/2003 105-126
Transcript - Sentencing filed on 04/20/2004 2551-2557
Transcript - States Request to Reset Trial Date filed on 04/20/2004 2531-2533
Transcript - Status Check (Witness) filed on 04/20/2004 2534-2535
Transcript - Status Check filed on 04/20/2004 2525-2527
Transcript - Status Check filed on 4/20/2004 2544-2546
Transcript - Telephonic Hearing Re: Post Trial Jury Questions filed on 1771-1776
12119/2005
Transcript - Verdict filed on 12119/2005 1762-1770
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

VS.

GLENFORDANTHONYBUDD,
VOLUME6

Defendant.
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1

THE COURT: We1 re ready.

MR.BROOKS:Judge, I don I t know if a record

LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

2 TUESDAY, DECEMBER 13, 2005; 1:36 P.M.
-dJo-3

4 PROCEEDINGS
5 THE COURT: TIlls is an opport.urrity . WeIve got

6 everybody, except -- do you want to proceed without the

7 defendant?

8 MR.BROOKS:I guess we should probably have him

9 here. 11msorry.

10 THE COURT: I did just see the C.O. I thought

11 maybe--

12 MR.KANE: He probably brought the defendant

13 here.

14 TIlE COURT: Yeah. Hold on. Let 1 S see if he I s

15 here.

16 (Brief pause in proceedings.)

17 THE REPORTER: Mr. Brooks, did you want this on

18 the record?

19 MR.BROOKS:Yes, please.

20

22 needs to be rna.deon this, but I want to make sure the

23 record 1 s clear. Yesterday, whenwe were in court f the

24 court reporter - - we were discussing the transcript. And,

25 apparently, there's an error in the heading on the

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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l'v1R.BROOKS:Second issue, Judge, is during

1 December9th transcript. It was labeled as Friday,

2 December8th, and I want to make certain that it is clear

3 an the record that there was a transcript filed on Friday,

4 December9th, which was labeled Friday, December 8th.

THECOURT:And that correction will be noted

6 for the record.

7 l'v1R.BROOKS:And I'm not sure, but I think that

8 wemayhave made a record - - mayhave made a lineation on

9 the actual document with the court.

10 THECOURT:If there is, I'm sure that my clerk

11 did. I'm glad that you did.

12

13 opening statements, Mr. Kane - - at page 53 and 54 of the

14 transcript on Friday, December -- I'm sorry, Thursday,

15 December8th -- said that, "say we presume testimony of

16 Tracey Richards I " and Mr. Kane explained what she would

17 say if she testified.

18 And he said that she would testify that she

19 picked Glenford up, took him to her home in Henderson, Mr.

20 Glenford Budd spent the night there. In the morning, they

21 got up and Glenford told Tracey that he had had a dream,

22 and in this dream he dreamed that he killed three killed

23 people offer somemarijuana. No such evidence was

24 actually presented by the State during trial. Tracey

25 Richards did not testify.

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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6

MR. KANE: Judge, we had contacted and served

1 under these circumstances, Judge I the jury has
2 been exposed to the State making factual statements not
3 supported by the record, statements of a highly
4 inculpatory and prejudicial nature. 'Therefore, because
5 this caused us due process, we ask for a mistrial.

THE COURT: Mr. Kane, do you wish to be heard?
7

8 Tracey prior to trial. Throughout the trial she was in
9 phone contact with my investigator, and on several

10 occasions promised to come to court, and never did.
11 As the trial approached its close, I was faced
12 with a couple of choices: One was, of course, to get an
13 arrest warrant and go out and pick her up i one was to lay
14 a foundation for her unavailability and read her testimony
15 into the record -- as we already did that with Mr. Budd
16 and as he testified both as to a~ssions by the
17 defendant, the defendant's changed appearance and his
18 preparations for flight -- I deemed it not necessary to go
19 to those lengths to get her testimony into the record.
20 So, I made a choice not to call her and not to have a
21 warrant issued and go out and have her picked up or read
22 her testimony into the record.
23 If the Court feels that any curative action is
24 necessary, I suggest one of two on alternatives. We can
25 either into a stipulation on the record that Tracey

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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6

1 Richards was unavailable as a witness, or I can trove to

2 reopen the case; if Mr. Brooks is so concerned about it I

3 1'11 laid a foundation for her unavailability and we will

4 read her preliminary hearing testimony into the record.

5 Whichever make the defendant happy.

6 THECOURT:Did the preliminary injunction

7 hearing contain, in facti the information -- the testimony

8 fran the preliminary hearing -- contain the information

9 that you advised the jury that her testirrony would elicit?

10 MR.KANE: It di.d, Your Honor, and I confirmed

11 that both by reading it and consultation with

12 Ms. Pandukht I whowas present at the preliminary hearing.

13 THECOURT:Mr. Brooks.

14 MR.BROOKS:Judge I I will simply say that what

15 I desire, as far as a remedy, is that the defense -- well,

16 lIve asked for a mistrial. If the court is not inclined

17 to grant a mistrial, then I would ask that the defense be

18 allowed to commentin the closing argument that the State

19 mentioned this evidence and the State did not present the

20 evidence.

21 THECOURT:Mr. Kane, do you manywish to be

22 heard on that request?

23 MR.KANE: As long as I can cmment the response

24 that the witness was unavailable.

THECOURT: It is what it is. I think: you both25

PRESTIGECOURTREroRTING
State of Nevada v. Budd

-- ----- --_. ------- ------------- -- ------------

OuJ514



1 can make those ccmne.ntswithin the law rrotion.

2 The mistrial -- rrotion for mistrial is denied.

3 Youcertainly mayboth make those ccmnents.

4 And let me clear up the record, in saying that

5 although webegan these outside the presence

6 proceedings -- as the defendant was just caning in from

7 the lockup area, he was present during all of these

8 opening arguments, as were all counsel.

9 Andwe'll get a check whether or not we have a

10 full jury, and then I'll and back.

11 Mr. O'Brien?

12 MR.0' BRIEN: May we discuss something off the

13 record? It doesn't need to be on the record.

14 'TIlE COURT: Certainly.

(Brief discussion held off the record.)15

MR.KANE: I just have two quick things that I J d16

17 like to put on the record/ as long as they're not here.

18 'TIlE CDURT: Certainly.

19 MR.KANE:One, has to do with Celeste Palau,

20 testified at trial. I discussed this matter with

21 Mr. Brooks/ and here'S the situation: At the time that

22 Celeste Palau first came forward/ she asked us for some

23 help in relocating her. She didn't necessarily want to

24 still be at the Saratoga Palms. Wesaid we'd help her.

25 It turned out that the same landlord had an available

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 apartment at another location and, so, it would have cost

2 us $30.

3 Whenwewere inte:rviewing her in preparation for

4 this trial, she let us knowthat in the last few weeks she

5 had a series of incidents -- kids calling her snitch lady

6 in the street, cominghomeand finding her door unlockedi

7 things that madeher nervous but things that - - I'm not

8 trying to attribute to the defendant and there's certainly

9 no connection with the defendant.

10 Because of those things she asked me if we'd be

11 willing to help her out with limited funds for relocation

12 once the trial was over. Our budget for those things is

13 ordinarily about $300. AndI told her that wewould do

14 that.

15 I forgot to mention these things to Mr. Brooks

16 prior to her testimony; but after she testified and while

17 the trial was still going on, I let Mr. Brooks knowabout

18 them, because they are arguably inducements to the

19 witness. I believe that Mr. Brooks, based on his

20 conversations with me, madethe tactical decision that

21 there was no po.int; in bringing that out in front of the

22 jury, since there is no evidence connecting these

23 activities with the defendant, and since the amounts of

24 moneyalready paid to her or to be paid to her are pretty

25 small to have influenced her testimony.
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1 SoI aqam, I'm just making a record on it, and

2 there's no action required by the Court.

3 'll:lE COURT:Mr. 0 IBrien or Mr. BrooksI do you

4 want to be heard?

5 MR. BROOKS:Nothing that I s caning, Judge.

THE mURT: Very well.

MR. KANE: And the other thing is that I

6

7

8 mentioned to you yesterday that we had sane concerns about

9 Greg Lewis. That letter that was written and it 's

10 dissemination within the prison system. Because of that,

11 and my conversation with the jail, which lead me to

12 believe that he I11 be shipped out imnediately absent an

13 order of the Court.

14 live prepared an order for the Court asking that

15 he be kept here at the Clark County Detention Center until

16 a date in January that IS convenient to the court I and then

17 weill have a status check and 1'11 let the Court knowwhat

18 we've been able to comeup with.

19 THE COURT:Wediscussed that action here at the

20 bench, as I recall. And I think that's appropriate.

21 Is there anything from the defense?

MR.BROOKS:No.22

THE mURT: Very well.23

24 Will you prepare the order and sul:.mit it over to

25 me?
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1 MR.KANE: Will do. Thank you, Judge.

2 THE COURT:Howare we on - - really?

3 Okay. Give me two seconds I and I I11 be right

4 back.

5 (Jury enters courtroom.)

6 THECOURT:Good afternoon. Please be seated.

7 Welcomeback.

8 MR. O'BRIEN: My apologies. Let me just call

9 Mr. Brooks. He's in the hallway.

10 THEmURT: Certainly.

(Brief pause in proceedings.)

THE COURT:Let the record reflect that we are

11

12

13 again present in the matter of the State of Nevada versus

14 Glenford Budd, Case NumberC193182.

15 All parties and counse l are present.

16 Will you stipulate to the presence of the jury?

17 MR. KANE: Yes, Your Honor.

18 MR. BROOKS:Defense will, Your Honor.

THECOURT:Very well.19

20 Ladies and gentlemen, as I told you last

21 evening, this is the time when I will instruct you on the

22 law. And our attorneys, if they choose, will make closing

23 arguments.

24 I want to remind you that anything our attorneys

25 say in closing argument is not evidence. The evidence is

PRESTIGEmURTREPORTING
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1 that which you have seen and heard in this courtrcx:rnand

2 that which you mayhave in the back in your jury

3 deliberation room, with you, certain things that have been

4 admitted into evidence.

5 With that, I will begin.

6 Instruction Number1; "It is nowmy duty as

7 judge to instruct you in the law that applies to this

8 case. It is your duty as jurors to follow these

9 instructions and to apply the rules of law to the facts as

10 you find them fran the evidence.

11 "Youmust not be concerned with the wisdan of

12 any rule of law stated in these instruction. Regardless

13 of any opinion you mayhave as to what the law ought to

14 be, it wouldbe a violation of your oath to base a verdict

15 upon any other view of the law than that given in the

16 instructions of the Court. II

Number2; "If, in these instructions, any rule,17
18 direction or idea is repeated or stated in different ways,

19 no emphasis thereon is intended by me and none maybe

20 inferred by you. For that reason, you are not to single

21 out any certain sentence or any individual point or

22 instruction and ignore the others, but you are to consider

23 all the instructions a whole and regard each in the light

24 of all the others.

25 "Theorder in which the instructions are given

11
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1 has no significance as to their relative importance."

2 NumberThree: "AnInformation is but a formal

3 method of accusing a person of a crime and is not of

4 itself any evidence of his guilt.

5 rrIn this case, it is charged in an Information

6 that or between May26 and May27, 2003, the defendant

7 camri.tted the offense of Murderwith Use of a Deadly

8 Weapon"which is a IIfelony i in that

9 "Count, 1 -- He did then and there willfully,

10 feloniously, without authority of law, and with

11 premeditation and deliberation, and with malice

12 aforethought, kill Dajon Jones, a humanbeing, by shooting

13 at and into the body of said Dajon Jones, with a deadly

14 weapon, to whit: a firearm.

15 "Count,2 - - He did then and there willfully,

16 feloniously, without authority of law, and with

17 premeditation and deliberation, and with malice

18 aforethought, kill Derrick Jones, a hUIPaIlbeing, by

19 shooting at and into the body of the said Derrick Jones,

20 with a deadly weapon, to whit: a firearm.

21 Count 3 (sic) -- He did then and there

22 willfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with

23 premeditation and deliberation, and with malice

24 aforethought, kill Jason Moore, a humanbeing, by shooting

25 at and into the body of the said Jason Moore, with a

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 deadly weapon, to wit: a firearm. II

2 Number4: II In this case the defendant is

3 accused in an Info:rmation alleging an open charge of

4 murder. This charge may include murder of the first

5 degree or murder of the degree or voluntary manslaughter.

6 "The jury must decide if the defendant is guilty

7 of any offense and, if so, of which offense. II

8 Number5: "Murder is the lll1lawful killing of a

9 humanbeing I with malice aforethought I either express or

10 implied. I!

Number6: "Malice aforethought mens the11
12 intentional doing of a wrongful act without legal cause or

13 excuse or what the law considers adequate provocation.

14 The condition of mind described as malice aforethought may

15 arise, from anger, hatred, revenge or from particular ill

16 will, spite or grudge toward the person killed. It may

17 also arise from any unjustifiable or unlawful motive or

18 purpose to injure another, or with reckless disregard of

19 consequences and social duty. Malice aforethought does

20 not imply deliberation or the lapse of any considerable

21 time between the malicious intention to injure another and

22 the actual execution of the intent but denotes an unlawful

23 purpose and design as opposed to accident and mischance.

24 "Express malice is that deliberate intention

25 unlawfully to take away the life of a humanbeing, which

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 is manifested by external circumstances capable of proof.
2 "Malice maybe inplied when no considerable
3 provocation appears, or when all the circumstances of the
4 killing show an abandoned and malignant heart."
5 Number 7: "Murder of the first degree is murder
6 which is perpetrated by means of any kind of willful,
7 deliberate, and premeditated killing. All three
8 elements -- willfulness, deliberation, and
9 premeditation -- must; be proven beyond a reasonable doubt

10 before an accused can be convicted of first-degree murder.
"Willfulness is the intent to kill. There need11

12 be no appreciable space of time between formation of the
13 intent to kill and the act of killing.
14 "Deliberation is the process of determining upon
15 a course of action to kill as a result of thought,
16 including weighing the reasons for and against the action
17 and considering the consequences of the actions.
18 "A deliberate detennination may be arrived at in
19 a short period of time. But in all cases the
20 determination must not be formed in passion, or if fonned
21 in passion, it must be carried out after there has been
22 time for the passion to subside and deliberation to occur.
23 A mere unconsidered and rash impulse is not deliberate,
24 even though it includes the intent to kill.
25 rrpremeditationis a designl a determination to

14

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
State of Nevada v. Budd

I~-------------------------------------------------------------------------



10

Number9: "All murder which lS not Murder of

1 kill, distinctly fonned in the mind by the time of the

2 killing.

3 "Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour,

4 or even a minute. It maybe as instantaneous as

5 successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes

6 from the evidence that the act constituting the killing

7 has been preceded by and has been the result of

8 premeditation, no matter howrapidly the act follows the

9 premeditation, it is premeditated.. "

Number8: "TIlelaw does not undertake to

11 measure in uni.ts of time the length of the period during

12 which the thought must be pondered before it can ripen

13 into an intent to kill which is truly deliberate and

14 premeditated. TIle time will vary with different

15 individuals and under varying circumstances.

16 "The true test is not the duration of time, but

17 rather the extent of the reflection. A cold, calculated

18 judgrnentand decision maybe arrived at in a short period

19 of time, but a mere unconsidered and rash impulse, even

20 though it includes an intent to kill, is not deliberation

21 and premeditation as will fix an unlawful killing as

22 murder of the first degree. II

23

24 the First Degree is Murderof the SecondDegree. Murder

25 of the SecondDegree is:

PRESTIGE COURT REPORTING
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1 n(a) murder with malice aforethought, but
2 without the admixture of premeditation and deliberation;
3 or,
4 n(b) where an invohmta:ry killing occurs in the
5 commission of an unlawful act, which in its consequences,
6 naturally tends to take the life of a human being or is
7 camlitted in the prosecution of a felonious intent."

Number 10: "You are instructed that if you8

9 find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the State has
10 established that the defendant has committed first degree
11 murder you shall select first degree murder as your
12 verdict.
13 1/ If I however I you are convinced beyond a
14 reasonable doubt that the crime of murder has been
15 camritted by the defendant, but you have a reasonable
16 doubt whether such murder was of the first or of the
17 second degree, you must give the defendant the benefit of
18 that doubt and return a verdict of murder of the second
19 degree.
20 "The crime of first degree murder includes the
21 crime of second degree murder . You may consider the
22 lesser included offense of second degree murder if, after
23 fully and carefully considering the offense of first
24 degree murder, either:
25 11(1) you have found the defendant not guilty of
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4 Number 11: "Manslaughter is the unlawful

1 first degree murder, or
2 "(2) you have been unable to agree whether to
3 acquit or convict on the charge of first degree murder."

5 killing of a human being without malice express or implied
6 and without any mixture of deliberation.
7 "Vol.unt ary Manslaughter is a voluntary killing
8 upon a sudden heat of passion, caused by a provocation
9 apparently sufficient to make the passion irresistible.

10 "The provocation required for Voluntary
11 Manslaughter must either consist of a" series -- "of a
12 serious and highly provoking injury inflicted upon the
13 person killing, sufficient to excite an irresistible
14 passion in a reasonable person, or an attempt by the
15 person killed to commit a serious personal injury on the
16 person killing. The serious and highly provoking injury
17 which causes the sudden heat of passion can occur without
18 direct physical contact.
19 "For the sudden, violent impulse of passion to
20 be irresistible, resulting in a killing which is Voluntary
21 Manslaughter, there must not have been an interval between
22 the assault or provocation and the killing sufficient for
23 the voice of reason and humanity to be heard; for, if
24 there should appear to have been an inter:valbetween the
25 assault or provocation given and the killing, sufficient
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Number13: "If you find, beyond a reasonable

1 for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard, then the

2 killing shall be determined by you to be rrnrrder. The law

3 assigns no fixed. period of time for such an interval but

4 leaves its detennination to the jury under the facts and

5 circumstances of the case.1I

6 Number12: "Theheat of passion which will

7 reduce a homicide to Voluntary Manslaughter must be such

8 an irresistible passion as naturally would be aroused in

9 the mind of an ordinarily reasonable person in the same

10 circumstances. A defendant is not permitted to set up his

11 ownstandard of conduct and to justify or excuse himself

12 because his passions were aroused unless the circumstances

13 in which he was placed and the facts that confronted him

14 were such as also wouldhave aroused the irresistible

15 passion of the ordinarily reasonable man if likewise

16 situated. The basic inquiry is whether or not, at the

17 time of the killing, the reason of the accused was

18 obscured or disturbed by passion to such an extent as

19 would cause the ordinarily reasonable person of average

20 disposition to act rashly and without deliberation and

21 reflection and from such passion rather than from

22 judgment."

23

24 doubt, that the State has established that the defendant

25 has committedmurder you shall select the appropriate
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1 degree of murder as your verdict.

2 "If, however, you are satisfied beyond a

3 reasonable doubt that the killing was unlawful, but you

4 have a reasonable doubt whether the crime is murder or

5 manslaughter, you must give the defendant the benefit of

6 that doubt and return a verdict of voluntary manslaughter.

7 liThecrime of murder may include the crime of

8 voluntary manslaughter. Youmay consider the lesser

9 included offense of voluntary manslaughter if, after fully

10 and carefully considering the offense of murder, either:

11 "(1) you have found the defendant not guilty of

12 murder, or

13 II (2) you have been unable to agree whether to

14 acqui t or convict on the charge of murder."

15 Number14: " 'Deadly weaponI means any

16 instrument which, if used in the ordinary manner

17 contemplated by its design and construction, will or is

18 likely to cause substantial bodily harm or death.

19 IIA fireann is a deadly wea:pon."

Number15: "If you find beyond a reasonable20
21 doubt that a defendant committedMurder with the Use of a

22 Deadly Weapon,or Voluntary Manslaughter with the Use of a

23 Deadly Weapon, then you are instructed that the verdict of

24 Murder (in the appropriate degree), or Voluntary

25 Manslaughter, with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, is the
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liDonot confuse intent with nntive. Motive is

1 appropriate verdict.

2 11If , however, you find that a deadly weaponwas

3 not used in the corrrnission of the crime, but you do find

4 that a Murder was carmitted, or that Voluntary

5 Manslaughter was comnitted, then you are inst:ructed that

6 the verdict of Murder (in the appropriate degree) without

7 the Use of a Deadly Weapon,or Voluntary Manslaughter

8 without the Use of a Deadly Weapon, is the appropriate

9 verdict.

10 "Youare inst:ructed that you cannot zet.urn a"

11 murder lIof both" -- strike that.

12 "Youare instructed that you cannot return a

13 verdict of both Murder (in either degree), or

14 Manslaughter, with the Use of a Deadly Weapon,and Murder

15 (in either degree), or Manslaughter, without the Use of a

16 Deadly Weapon.11

17 Number16; "To constitute the crime charged,

18 there must exist a union or joint operation of an act

19 forbidden by law and an intent to do the act.

20 "The intent with which an act is done is shown

21 by the facts and circumstances surrounding the case.

22

23 what prompts a person to act. Intent refers only to the

24 state of mind with which the act is done.

25 llMotive is not an element of the crime charged
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1 and the State is not required to prove a motive on the

2 part of the Defendant in order to convict. However,you

3 mayconsider evidence of motive or lack of motive as a

4 circumstance in this case. 11

5 Number17: "TheDefendant is presumed innocent

6 until the contrary is proved. This presumption places

7 upon the State the burden of proving beyond a reasonable

8 doubt every material element of the crime charged and that

9 the Defendant is the person whoccmnitted the offense.

10 lIA reasonable doubt is one based on reason. It

11 is not mere possible doubt but is such a doubt as would

12 govern or control a person in the more weighty affairs of

13 life. If the minds of the jurors, after the entire

14 comparison and consideration of all the evidence, are in

15 such a condition that they can say they feel an abiding

16 conviction of the truth of the charge, there is not a

17 reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable must be actual,

18 not mere possibility or speculation.

19 "If you have a reasonable doubt as to the guilt

20 of the Defendant, he is entitled to a verdict of not

21 guilty. 11

Number18: "'Ihe evidence which you are to22

23 consider in this case consists of the testimony of the

24 witnesses, the exhibits, and any facts admitted or agreed

25 to by counsel.
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"There are two types of evi.dence, direct and1

2 circumstantial. Direct evidence is the testim::my of a

3 person whoclaims to have personal knowledgeof the

4 corrmission of the crime which has been charged, such as an

5 eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is the proof of a

6 chain of facts and circumstances which tend to show

7 whether the Defendant is guilty or not guilty. The law

8 makes no distinction between the weight to be given either

9 direct or circumstantial evidence. 1herefore f all of the

10 evidence in the case, including the circumstantial

11 evidence, should be considered by you in arriving at your

12 verdict.

13 "Statements, arguments and opinions of counsel

14 are not evidence in the case. However, if the attorneys

15 stipulate to the existence of a fact, you must accept the

16 stipulation as evidence and regard that ·fact as proved.

17 "Youmust;not speculate to be true any

18 insinuation suggested by a question asked a witness. A

19 question is not evidence and maybe considered only as it

20 supplies meaning to the answer.

21 "Youmust;disregard any evidence to which an

22 objection was sustained by the court and any evidence

23 ordered stricken by the court.

24 "Anything that you mayhave seen or heard

25 outside the courtroom is not evidence and must also be
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1 disregarded. II

2 Number19: lI'Ihecredibility or believability of

3 a witness should be determined by his marmerupon the

4 stand, his" or her IIrelationship to the parties, his" or

5 her rrfears, motives interests or feelings, hisH or her

6 "opportuni.ty to have observed the matter to which he

7 testified, the reasonableness of his statements and the

8 strength or weakness of his recollections.

9 "If you believe that a witness has lied about

10 any material fact in the case, you maydisregard the

11 entire testirrony of that witness or any portion of his" or

12 her "testirrony which is not proved by other evidence. II

13 Number20: "Awitness whohas special

14 knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in a

15 particular science, profession or occupation is an expert

16 witness. An expert witness maygive his opinion as to any

17 matter in which he is skilled.

18 "Youshould consider such expert opinion and

19 weigh the reasons, if any, given for it. Youare not

20 bound, however, by such an opinion. Give it the weight to

21 which you deemit entitled, whether that be great or

22 slight, and you mayreject it, if, in your judgment, the

23 reasons given for it are unsound.II

Number21: Although you are to consider only24
25 the evidence in the case in reaching a verdict, you must
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1 bring to the consideration of the evidence your everyday

2 corrron sense and judgment as reasonable men and wanen.

3 Thus, you are not limited solely to what you see and hear

4 as the witnesses testify. Youmaydraw reasonable

5 inferences fran the evidence which you feel are justified

6 in the light of corrron experience, keeping in mind that

7 such inferences should not be based on speculation or

8 guess.

9 IIAverdict maynever be influenced by sympathy,

10 prejudice or public opinion. Your decision should be the

11 product of sincere judgment and sound discretion in

12 accordance with these rules of law."

13 Number22: IIIn your deliberation you maynot

14 discuss or consider the subject of pmrishment. Your duty

15 at this time is confined to the determination of whether

16 or not the State has proven the guilt of the defendant

17 beyond a reasonable doubt. II

Number23: IIWhenyou retire to consider your18
19 verdict, you must select one of your number to act as

20 foreperson whowill preside over your deliberation and

21 will be your spokesperson here in court.

22 "During your deliberation, you will have all the

23 exhibits which were admitted into evidence, these written

24 instructions and forms of verdict which have been prepared

25 for your convenience.
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1 "Your verdict mist; be unanimous. As soon as you

2 have agreed upon a verdict, have it signed and dated by

3 your foreperson and then return with it to this

4 room."

5 Number24: IIIf, during your deliberation, you

6 should desire to be further informed on any point of law

7 or hear again portions of the testimony, you must reduce

8 your request to writing signed by the foreperson. The

9 officer will then return you to court where the

10 information sought will be given you in the presence off

11 and after notice to, the district attorney and the

12 Defendant and his counse.l,

13 "Readbacks of testimony are time-consuming and

14 are not encouraged unless you deem it a necessity. Should

15 you require a readback, you must carefully describe the

16 testimony to be read back so that the court reporter can

17 arrange her notes. Remember,the court is not at liberty

18 to supplement the evidence. II

Number25: "Nowyou will listen to the19

20 arguments of counsel whowill endeavor to aid you to reach

21 a proper verdict by refreshing in your minds the evidence

22 and by showing the application thereof to the law; but,

23 whatever counsel may say, you will bear in mind that it is

24 your duty to be governed in your deliberation by the

25 evidence as you underst.and it and remember it to be and by
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1 the law as given to you in these anat.ructicns, with the
2 sole, fixed and steadfast purpose of doing equal and exact
3 justice between the Defendant and the State of Nevada."
4 On behalf of the State, Mr. Kane and
5 Ms. Pandukht you are prepared for closing statement?
6 MS. PANDUKHT: Yes, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: You may proceed.

CLOSING STATEMENT BY THE STATE8

9 MS. PANDUKHT: As the defendant himself wrote to
10 Greg Lewis in that rap song that you all saw and heard,
11 "Call me the IMurda Mann, I "I 'm a TIrrillaKilla. II "I
12 killed 3 but I shoulda killed 4, left them dead on the
13 floor," the evidence in this case is absolutely
14 overwhelming and it consistently identifies this defendant
15 Glenford Budd as the person who corrrnittedthe crimes of
16 three counts of first-degree murder with use of a deadly
17 weapon.
18 Now that you have heard all of evidence in this
19 case which includes the testimony of the witnesses that
20 you have heard fran, the photcgraphs that you have seen,
21 as well as the physical pieces of evidence, you basically
22 have two questions to decide: The first one is who
23 committed these crimes; and what specific crimes were
24 committed?
25 Now, 11m going deal with the first question
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1 first -- actually, the second question first -- because

2 whocommitted these crimes is something that's not really

3 the issues in this case. We all knowwhocarrnitted these

4 crimes, and you heard that in several different ways. And

5 first, I'd like to describe one of the instructions that

6 you're going to have back with you, and that is the one

7 for circumstantial evidence. Because there's basically

8 two types of evidence: There's direct evidence i and

9 circumstantial evidence. Anddirect evidence is t.est.irrony

10 of sanel:xxlythat has personal knowledge -- and you can

11 read this for yourselves back in the jury deliberation

12 roan. It's in Number18. 'They're like an eyewitness.

13 They're somebodythat actually saw something, such as

14 Celeste Palau, an eyewitness whowas across the way from

15 the apartment and saw the defendant shooting on the

16 balcony of Apartment 2068.

17 But you also have what's called circumstantial

18 evidence, and that is also defined in Instruction Number

19 18, and that's a proof of a chain of facts or

20 circumstances that tend to showguilt or innocence -- or

21 tend to proof guilt or innocence.

22 Anda way to kind of understand what that might

23 really be like is an example I like to use about rain.

24 Imagine you're driving hare one day and you see dark

25 clouds in the sky, the clouds are in the sky, it's
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1 overcast. Andyou're driving hane and you go inside for

2 the evening. And throughout the course of evening you

3 donlt actually go up to your windowand look outside to

4 whether it's raining, but periodically you see flashes of

5 light coming through your windows, you hear loud, bocming

6 noises. Andwhenyou wake up the next rroming you go out

7 to see your paper I your paper I s all wet, and there's drops

8 of water on your car that you left outside, the ground on

9 your on driveway is wetI your neighbor' s driveway is wet,

10 the street is wet. Now,you didn't actually see it rain

11 the night before. But you all knowthat it rained. And

12 that is the strength of circumstantial evidence, and

13 that's what you have with the testirrony of Lazon Jones.

14 Lazon Jones did not actually see this defendant

15 shoot his brother Dajon. WhatLazon Jones knows is that

16 he's hanging out with the defendant throughout the course

17 of the day. And they go play basketball together I they

18 spend the day together, and they're all hanging out at the

19 apartment, and John I s in that master bedrcxxnalone with

20 the door shut. Youalso have Derrick and Jason and Lazon

21 inside of that living room.

22 And the first picture I wanted you to see

MS. PANDUKHI':Is this up and running?

(Brief discussion held off the record.)

MS. PANDUKHI':Okay. This is the first picture

23
24

25
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1 I wanted you to see. And the reason is, is because you

2 can see fran this photograph that the proximity of what

3 we're talking about in tenns of that apartment is very,

4 very close. Right here you have the front door of the

5 apartment, and this is the living roan that they're

6 talking about, with the TVand the couch. And this right

7 here, this last roomright here, is the bedroomthat's the

8 north master bedroomthat Dajon Jones was in. And that is

9 exactly, in this one picture, you can see that the

10 defendant, whenhe leaves that evening, canes back in

11 through the front door. Lazon is sitting either on that

12 couch or the other one in that roam, sees him walk to the

13 back into that back north master bedroom, where he shuts

14 the door.

It's then that Lazon hears two gunshots. He15
16 runs up to the front door -- and you can see that the

17 proximity is very, very close. They're all right next to

18 each other. He runs to the front door, but he hesitates.

19 And then he hears the defendant say, "Where's my stuff

20 at?" And then he hears that third gunshot and he's out of

21 there. He start nmning. He doesn't have his shoes on.

22 He is running and leaves downthe stairs, across the

23 street, to the Charleston and Mojave7-Eleven that's down

24 on the corner.

25 Andwe knowthat he did that because not only

29
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1 does he testify to it, you also heard the testimony of the

2 detectives, Wallace and Spencer, who just happened to be

3 there and see him running across the street towards

4 Charleston without any shoes on, right before they find

5 the bodies of Derrick and Dajon and Jason Moore.

6 Now,he runs out and he does not see this

7 defendant shoot anyone. His testim::my, however, is very

8 important, because he puts five people inside that

9 apartment. Only the defendant, only lazon, and three dead

10 people are inside that apartment. Andwhenhe leaves that

11 apartment, Dajon has already been shot twice in that

12 bedrocm. Welater find out that both Derrick and Jason

13 are dead in that roan and the defendant is the only one in

14 there. That evidence is very important.

15 Andnot then, in combination with the eyewitness

16 testimony of Celeste Paul who, after these sees Krissy and

17 Lazon running downthe stairs, she sees the defendant come

18 out the front door. She testified that she saw stroke

19 coming out of the door. You also heard that same

20 testimony from Detectives Wallace and Spencer, that as

21 soon as they entered the apartment, they had seen smokeor

22 a haze as if gunfire had just happened in there. And then

23 she sees this defendant whoshe identified as being A.I.,
24 the defendant Glenford Budd, comeout of the front door.

25 Andwhenhe's standing in front of the front door, she
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So, now you have the testirrony of Lazon. You

1 sees him raise a gun and start shooting at something on
2 the ground. And he's aiming towards sanething that she
3 cannot see.
4 You see, Celeste Palau's testimony is so
5 important because Celeste Palau doesn't know that Jason
6 Mcx:>reis the one that is on that balcony. When she sees
7 this happen, she doesn't know that is he is the one
8 crawling from the front door all the way to the corner
9 here where the defendant keeps shooting him as he's trying

10 to crawl away fran him. She hears several, what she
11 things are firecrackers, before she sees the defendant
12 come out, and then she testifies that she sees him shoot
13 three times -- raise his hand three times. Those are the
14 exact number of bullet wounds in Jason Moore's body.

15
16 have the testimony of Celeste. You also have the
17 testimony of James Krylo, the firearms examiner. He
18 testified that eleven cartridges cases were found at the
19 scene. And while he cannot canpare those to an actual
20 firearm, because one was never recovered, he did testify
21 that all eleven of those cartridge cases were fired by a
22 single firearm, a nine ~llimeteri and those bullets --
23 five or six bullets that were found at the scene -- those
24 were all consistent with nine millimeter caliber
25 cartridges.

31
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1 But there are other ways that you knowthat this

2 defendant camritted these crimes. Andyou knowthat

3 because of the defendant's ownwords. The defendant spoke

4 to several people about what he did. The defendant spoke

5 to his uncle. After he flees the scene and runs away, he

6 goes and calls his uncle to pick him up from a house that

7 he's at in Henderson. Now,whenhe calls his uncle, he

8 tells him what he did. And, specifically you heard from

9 the testimony that was read yesterday, that he said they

10 were trying to rob him of his weed, so he shot them. He

11 said gave the gun back to sane friend.

12 And later, whenhe actually was picked up by his

13 uncle, his uncle noticed that the long braided hair that

14 the defendant used to have -- and you heard this from

15 several witnesses -- he cut it all off. He shaved off his

16 hair, basically, and tried to change his appearance. He

17 also, then, goes to his uncle's house, and once he's there

18 with his uncle, the police cane to the house. And then

19 you also heard through the testimony that was read that

20 his uncle, Winston Budd, tried to convince him to turn

21 himself in. He told him, even, that he could possibly get

22 death or a life sentence in prison. Andwhat did the

23 defendant say? That he preferred to TIm. And run he did,

24 until he was caught by the police in this case.

25 And then he makes statements to Detective
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1 Vaccaro. Youheard Detective Vaccaro testify that while

2 the defendant did not adrnit to shooting anyoneI he agreed

3 with Lazon, five people were in that apartment. He puts

4 himself, Dajon, Jason, Lazon, and Derrick Jones in that

5 apartment i that there were only five of them; that he ran

6 out of the apartment, as well as Lazon, and the other

7 three were dead. He said he heard a shot but he didn r t do

8 it.

9 Youalso have the testimony, finally, of Greg

10 Lewis. Greg Lewis was in the Clark Country Detention

11 Center with the defendant. Andabout five or six months

12 after these shootings, he tells Greg Lewis about what he

13 did. Andyou heard fran Greg Lewis that in October or

14 Novemberof 2003, he tells him that he shot and killed

15 three people, and the fourth one got away. Again,

16 consistent with all of the other evidence that you heard,

17 corroborate by the testimony of Lazan Jones, and he said

18 that he was madbecause he believed somekids living in

19 the apartments took his weed.

20 That was also the same story that he told to

21 Detective Vaccaro. He told Detective Vaccaro, as well as

22 Greg Lewis, that he shot and killed these three victims

23 over a half a pound of weed; that he allegedly believed

24 they had stolen from him.

25 He also tells Greg Lewis something else, that he
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1 hung out with them and played basketball with them all day

2 to try- and figure out which one of them stole his weed.

3 So, all day he's spending with him before he ultimately

4 ends up shooting and killing them at midnight that night.

5 So, you have the testirrony of eyewitnesses, you

6 have the testimony of witnesses who the defendant made

7 admissions to, and all of that evidence clearly identifies

8 this defendant as being the shooter.

9 But, again, like I said, that is not the issue

10 an this case. The issue in this case is: Wasfirst

11 degree murder with use of a deadly weaIXID.

12 And that's what I Imgoing to be focusing on.

13 And the easiest way to start, first, is the deadly weapon

14 instruction --

Okay. I donI t know- - there we go.

Okay. Instruction NunIDer14 tells us that a

15

16
17 deadly weaponis any instrument which used in the ordinary-

18 manner contemplated by its design or construction will or

19 is likely to cause substantial bodily harm or death. A

20 firearm is a deadly weapon.

21 Now,was a firearm or deadly weaponused in this

22 case? Well, as we know, one was never recovered. Weknow

23 what happened. Weknowthe defendant was able to get away

24 and flee the scene, and he told his uncle that he gave the

25 gun to sane friend. But howelse do we knowthat a
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1 firearm was used in this case? Well, we knowfran the

2 evidence left at the scene. 'Theevidence left at the

3 scene shows eleven cartridge cases at the scene all being

4 fired by a single firearm, a nine rrdllimeter. Wealso

5 have bullets found at the scene, as well as bullet

6 fragment.

7 A firearm is a deadly weapon. But also is it

8 likely to cause substantial bodily harm or death? Well,

9 you heard Dr. Worrell, the medical examiner testify. She

10 said all three of the victims died of multiple gunshots

11 wounds, that several of those woundswould have been

12 fatal, and you knowfrom the bullets found inside of their

13 bodies that definitely a firearm was used in this case and

14 certainly qualifies as a deadly weapon. Your verdict

15 should definitely include the enhancementof with a deadly

16 weapon.

17 Now,the next instruction I wanted to discuss is

18 Number16. Instruction Nurrber16 talks about intent

19 versus rrotive. You've heard a lot about this and, so, I

20 wanted to definitely address this to you. To constitute

21 the crime charged there must exist a union or joint

22 operation of an act forbidden by law and an intent to do

23 the act. The intent with which an act is done is shownby

24 the facts and circumstances surrounding the case.

Do not confuse intent with rrotive. Motive is25
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1 what prompts a person to act; intent refers only to the

2 state of mindwith which the act is done. Andbasically

3 it goes on to say that the State is not required to prove

4 a motive. But you have heard incredible testimony about

5 whythis defendant allegedly shot these three young people

6 and, basically, it was over the half pound of weed. We

7 knowthat fran what he says to Winston Budd, Detective

8 Vaccaro and to Greg Lewis.

9 Now,you also heard Lazon testified that Derrick

10 denied it. Andwhether or not it is true, is absolutely

11 irrelevant. The State doesn't need to prove anything with

12 regard to whether or not that half a pound of weed

13 existed, whether or not the victim's actually stole it.

14 That's something that should not be confused with what the

15 real issue is i and that is the intent with which the

16 defendant committed these crimes.

17 And that brings me to the general definition of

18 murder, and that one I'm not going to be placing up on the

19 monitor, because it's very, very short. Basically, murder

20 is an unlawful killing of a humanbeing with malice

21 aforethought, either express or implied. Now,this

22 Instruction is Number6, and that basically defines what

23 is malice aforethought. Well, as the Instruction states,

24 malice aforethought means the intentional doing of a

25 wrongful facts without legal cause or excuse or what the
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1 law considers adequate provocation.

2 Now, in this case, we have, all the way down

3 there toward the end, we have express malice in this case.

4 Express malice is that deliberate intention unlawfully to

5 take away the life of a humanbeing, which is manifested

6 by external circumstances capable of proof.

7 Now,howdo we have evidence of express malice

8 an this case? Well, we have that in the actual acts

9 carmitted by this defendant, first of all. This defendant

10 shoots an unarmed individual, Dajon Jones, as he is

11 inside, alone, in that master bedroom. Lazon hears three

12 shots. Dajon is actually shot two times. Andwe knowhe

13 was shot at close range from the testimony of Dr. Worrell,

14 whodescribed to you what she called the stippling pattern

15 that was on his neck, which showed that he, the defendant,

16 was less than two feet away fran Dajon Jones whenhe shot

17 him twice in the neck.

18 Andwe also knowthat there was evidence of

19 express malice because he shoots him more than once. This

20 was not an accident. This was not something, as the

21 Instruction states, you don't want it to be an accident or

22 mischance. That's certainly not what we have in this

23 case.

24 Andyou also see that same justification for

25 Derrick Jones. He shoots Derrick Jones seven times. And
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1 what's interesting about that, too, is that, if you'll

2 recall, I asked Dr. Worrell last week, "Howmanyof those

3 seven gunshots woundswere fired into his back?" Four out

4 of seven gunshots woundswere fired into the back of his

5 bcx:ly. Well, what does that tell you? Derrick Jones was

6 running away for his life. He was running away fran the

7 defendant whocontinued shooting him -- not once, not

8 twice, but a total of seven times, leaving - - leaving that

9 in his wake. He shots him in the ear I in the hand, in the

10 arm. But whydoes he keep shooting? To kill him. He's

11 got to keep shooting him until he makes sure that he dies.

12 While he doesn't die at the scene, he dies a few hours

13 later at the hospital, but he was already so far gone when

14 detectives got there, he couldn't even talk at that point

15 or barely breathe.

16 He also showsrralice aforethought and a

17 deliberate intention to take awayhumanlife by shooting

18 repeatedly into the body of Jason Moore. And, again,

19 what's very interesting about the death of Jason Mooreis

20 that Jason Mooreis actually shot outside the apartment.

21 According to Lazon Jones, he was inside the apartment.

22 Whenthe shooting happened and Lazon runs out, the last

23 thing Lazon remembersis that Jason and Derrick were

24 hiding behind the couch. That's whenhe runs out. So

25 whenJason Mooreis actually shot, he's outside on the

38
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1 balcony, probably also trying to get away. He shot not

2 just once, but three times. Andwe knowthat the

3 defendant is rroving, following him, because we see the

4 blood, we see the cartridge cases, and we have the

5 testimony of where the defendant started in front of the

6 front door, and where he ended up toward the corner with a

7 large poo.l of blood by the wall, where Jason Moorefinally

8 expired.

9 Certainly, we knowthat the defendant was not

10 injured. Hewas not bleeding. The blood on those stairs

11 was blood belonging to Derrick Jones when the medical

12 persormel took him outside; you know, in the stretcher.

13 It didn I t belong to the defendant. There's no evidence

14 that anyone else was anned inside that apartment. There

15 was certainly no provocation, legal cause, or

16 justification to kill three people over a half pound of

17 weed. Wecertainly have malice aforethought, express

18 malice in this case.

19 I want to spend sometime with Instruction

20 Number7, because Instruction NUmber7 is extremely

21 important, and there I s a lot there that IS contained within

22 that Instruction. And, basically, it is what is required

23 to find saneone guilty of the first degree. There's three

24 elements that have to be proven to find sanebody guilty of

25 this offense. And those are: Willfulness i de'l i.ber'at.Lon ,
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1 and premeditation. And I want to take each one of those,

2 one at a time.

3 Willfulness, first of all, is the intent to

4 kill. And it states in the second paragraph there need be

5 no appreciable space of time between format.ion of the

6 intent to kill and the act of killing. So, first! with

7 regard to willfulness: Dowe knowthat this defendant had

8 the intention to kill! first, Dajon Jones? Well, as lIve

9 already stated, we do knowthat he had that intention.

10 Andwhy is that? Well, first of all we knowthat he

11 brings a loaded nine millimeter weaponwith him into that

12 apartment. Wealso knowthat it was hidden. WedonIt

13 knowwhether or not he hid it in the apartment beforehand

14 or whether he had it whenhe cameback fran that IS-minute

15 drink break; but we knowthat Lazon Jones certainly had no

16 idea that he had a weaponor a gun.

17 Lazon Jones thought that the defendant was his

18 friend. They played basketball together. He had no idea

19 that sanething like this would happen. But the defendant,

20 after hanging out with them all day! decided to comeback.

21 And he I s got a gun. Andhe doesn It just walk in and go to

22 the rest room, like he said to Lazon. He irrrnediately

23 directly goes right into that bedroan. Andwithin just a

24 matter of seconds, all of a sudden you hear the two

25 gunshots.
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Wealso knowthat three -- if three shots were1

2 fired, Dajon was only shot two times in the neck. Andwe

3 knowthat sanething happened in between the second and

4 third shots. Howdo we knowthat? Because Lazon hears

5 the defendant say, after the second shot, "Where's my
6 stuff at?" Well, one of those shots went out the window.

7 So, you can infer that this defendant shot out the window

8 or shot Dajon one time in the neck, still had yet to shoot

9 him the second time in the neck, and that was the third

10 shot that he fired. He did not need to fire those shots

11 into his neck. He fired those shots in that location with

12 the intention to kill him.

13 If you want to make sure sanebody is going to

14 die fran one of the gunshot wounds, you're going to shoot

15 him: Heart, neck, head. Wealso knowit was at close

16 range. His body showedthat, and there is no way that he

17 would have shot him a second time if his intention was not

18 to kill him.

19 Certainly, the same argument is obvious with the

20 victim of Derrick Jones. Derrick Jones was shot seven

21 times. Certainly, he showedthe intention to kill an

22 individual whenhe has to shoot him more than once, more

23 than twice, and a total of seven times as he's trying to

24 run out of the apartment. He also shots Derrick Jones in

25 the head. He shoots him in the head or neck, as well as
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1 Dajon.

2 Now,with Jason Moore, he Is also shot once in

3 the neck, once in the head, and I also, I believe, once in

4 the back shoulder, again shooting him more than once and

5 in location calculated to cause death showthat he

6 definitely meets the element of willfulness and intended

7 to kill all three victims.

8 Now,deliberation is the process of determining

9 upon a course of action to kill as a result of thought,

10 including weighing the reasons for and against the action

11 and considering the consequences of the action. Now,

12 what's important is that a deliberation, or a deliberate

13 determination, maybe arrived at in a short period of

14 time.

15 This is not somethingwhere you have to sit at

16 your desk and write a list of pros and cons for murdering

17 sanebody. This isn I t the kind of thing that youIve got to

18 si t around and think about for two weeks. That is not the

19 law. The law is, that it can be arrived at in a short

20 period of time. And it goes on to say, in all cases it

21 maynot be formed in passion.

22 Now,certainly, you can I t have a rash -- it says

23 here, IIA mere unconsidered and rash impulse is not

24 deliberate. II Well, even if you could even possibly argue

25 that the first shot at Dajon Jones was a rash impulsive
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1 act trying to find out if he stole his weed or whoon

2 stole it, even if you could possibly think that first got

3 shot was rash and considered, certainly after he continues

4 to shoot him and then whenhe moves on to his second and

5 his third victim, that even possible argument goes away,

6 clearly. So, this is not a case where you have an

7 unconsidered and rash impulse.

8 And this defendant rnost certainly had been

9 thinking about it for sometime. Because what do we know

10 the defendant was thinking about all that day, at least?

11 Weknowfor a fact he was thinking about who stole his

12 half pound of weed. Weknowthat because he was wondering

13 it earlier in the day whenthey were playing basketball,

14 because he confronts Derrick about it. Wealso knowhis

15 intent because he actually tells Jason, "I'm not going to

16 fight you. I'm just going to put sane slugs into you."

17 that was aver a basketball foul. All that stuff is going

18 through this defendant's head the day immediately

19 preceding the murder.

20 Andwe also knowthat he says, "Where's my stuff

21 at?11before he shoots Dajon for the third time; the second

22 time striking his body. So, we knowthat he has been

23 conducting the deliberation that is necessary in order

24 find him guilty of first-degree murder.

25 Nowf he also is methodically making his wayout
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1 of that apartment. But I do want to point out that as he

2 as trying to flee that apartment, he doesnIt just shoot

3 Dajon JOnes and then try and get away. I mean, Jason and

4 Derrick donr t have guns. They certainly didn It have to

5 die. But as he is makinghis wayout of that apartment

6 and running dawnthose stairs, he continues to shoot and

7 kill all of the remaining occupants in that apartment. He

8 shoots and kills t.hem, and by all indications, according

9 to the testimony of Greg Lewis, and the rap song that he

10 writes, he should have killed four. But he let Lazon

11 Jones get away.

12 Certainly, the defendant acted with deliberation

13 in this case. Andhe also acted with premeditation, and

14 that is the final element. Premeditation is a design, a

15 determination to kill distinctly formed in the mind by the

16 time of the killing. Premeditation need not be for a day,

17 an hour, or even a minute. It maybe as instantaneous as

18 successive thoughts of the mind.

1his is howinstantaneous it can happen. He19
20 holds that gun out. He shoots Dajon the first time. When

21 he shoots him the second time, he is making the choice to

22 kill him. He could have stopped shooting. He could have

23 let Dajon live. He could have stopped and not shot

24 Derrick Jones the first time. He could have not shot

25 Derrick Jones the second time, the third time, the fourth
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1 time, the fifth time. Hehad a choice and he madethat

2 choice to kill his first victim, to shoot and kill his

3 second victim, and then to shoot and kill his third

4 victim. That is premeditation. He planned these murders

5 by bringing that gun, hidden on his person, into that

6 apartment, and continuing to shoot all of them until they

7 were dead. Andhe wouldhave continued, had he not seen

8 them lying slumpedon the ground.

9 Andwe also knowabout his premeditation from

10 the rap song that he writes and sends to Greg Lewis. This

11 is what Greg Lewis testified he received in the mail from

12 the defendant. This was in a letter where the envelope

13 was addressed to him, "f rrm Budd.rr He reccgnized his

14 handwriting, because he had seen the defendant try and

15 write these rap lyrics before.

16 And then he also corpared the lyrics in that rap

17 song to the translation that wehad tried to makein order

18 assist you, as well as all of us. And in that rap song

19 are facts that are curiously identical to the facts in

20 this case, and tell you exactly what this defendant

21 intended to do. Andthis letter clearly shows that he

22 also premeditated these crimes. Because, as you heard, he

23 said, of course, "I only killed three, but I should have

24 killed four. Left them dead on the floor, but just right

25 before they was crying and pleading, screaming for Jesus.
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1 Youall can keep the weed 'cuz you can't smoke it now.11

2 That shows that even though the State doesn.'t

3 have to prove motive, the Instruction also tells you you

4 can consider that as a fact and circwnstance in this case.

5 And this defendant, for what it's worth, thought a half a

6 pound of weedwas worth the lives of a 14-year-old boy and

7 two 19-year-old boys.

8 Nowhe tries to get away fran the police. He

9 tried to flee the scene. He tried to hide in different

10 houses across town. He tried to change his appearance by

11 cutting off his hair and trying to look like a different

12 person, but he couldn't escape his ultimate capture by the

13 police, and he shouldn't escape full responsibility for

14 all of his crimes; his crimes against Dajon, Derrick, and

15 Jason.

16 Find him guilty of three counts of first-degree

17 murder with use of a deadly weapon. Thankyou.

18 THE COURT: Thankyou. Ms. Pandukht.

19 Mr. Brooks?

MR. BROOKS: Judge, before I start I I'm going to20

21 need State's Exhibits 49A, B, and C, and State's Exhibit

22 50, and the diagram of the apartment. I don't mow what

23 the exhibit number is on that.

24 (Brief discussion held off the record.)

25 III
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1 CLOSING STATEMENT BY THE DEFENDANT

MR.BROOKS:Mayit please the Court, counsel,2

3 ladies and gentlemen of the jury. The evidence is in and

4 now it's time to talk about what precisely the evidence

5 that was that came into this courtroom through that box

6 right there, means. More important, we're going to talk

7 about, howto take the law and apply it to that evidence to

8 render a fair verdict.

9 Before I start, I want to say something that I

10 said before in my opening. That is, that nothing that I

11 say in these momentsor during the course of this trial is

12 intended in any way to suggest that a tragedy did not

13 happen. The taking of humanlife is always a tragedy.

14 And in this case, the deaths of three young people is an

15 incredible tragedy. Andplease do not think that myself

16 or Mr. 0 IBrien are being callus because of our prominence

17 in this trial.

18 Weare not here right nowto talk about tragedy.

19 Weare hear to talk about evidence, law, and

20 responsibility. TIle question nowbefore you is this: Has

21 the State proven beyond a reasonable doubt that my client

22 killed these three men?

23 Whenyou took your oath as a juror, you agreed

24 to follow the law. And the law is that myclient I

25 Glenford Budd, is presumed innocent. And the burden of
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1 proving this case is the government's. They must prove
2 their case beyond a reasonable doubt.
3 People often say there really isn't a
4 presumption of innocence in these kind of cases. Sane
5 people say, "Well, if the State has brought the case to
6 trial, surely there must be sanething there." In fact,
7 you may have heard other jurors say this during the course
8 of jury selection. Well, the fact is, the presumption of
9 innocence and the burden of proof are only as real as you

10 make them real. It's your job in this case to look at
11 their evidence and test it, question it, doubt it, and see
12 what the truth really is. Apply the burden of proof to
13 every fact, every bit of testimony, every inference, and
14 that's how we get a fair verdict.

Let's talk about the facts. I would be insane15

16 if I didn't stand before you and say that sane people may
17 believe, right now, the State's proven Glenford killed
18 these kids. And I have to deal with that reality. So,
19 I'm going to talk about, first, what the evidence means,
20 if you believe the State has shown that Glenford did, in
21 fact, kill those three boys. But please understand I am
22 not conceding this in any way, shape, or form; and we'll
23 talk about that later.
24 With this evidence, and considering the
25 presuropt i.on of innocence and the burden of proof, I submit
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1 to you the State has only proven, theoretically,
2 second-degree murder; three counts of second-degree
3 murder.

Now, why do I say that? The difference between4

5 first- and second-degree murder is about what is happening
6 in Glenford's head. It's about the person's intent. Itls
7 about whether he is thinking about what he is doing.
8 The law in Instructions 7 and 8 tell you that a
9 killing is a deliberate killing if the defendant uses his

10 mind to determine upan a course of action, and he weighed
11 the reasons for it and against it.
12 The State has shown absolutely not one shred of
13 evidence in this case that Glenford committed a
14 premeditated and deliberate killing. These people were
15 his friends. He hung out with these people. These are
16 kids. They played basketball together. They stroked
17 marijuana together. These were not enemies. Thi.sis not
18 someone where he would stand back and say, 11I Ive got to
19 kill these people." This is in the realm, ladies and
20 gentlemen, of classic unpremeditated murder, if it is
21 murder at all. This is a case where not only was there no
22 weighing the benefits and the bad points of killing these
23 people, 11m not sure there was any thinking going on at
24 all.
25 Mr. Kane, in his opening, said that one of the
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1 witnesses would testify that Glenford said he snapped.

2 Whatdoes that mean? The dictionary says to snap is,

3 "done, made, or carried through suddenly or without

4 deliberation. II No real thinking process. Noplan. No

5 considered judgment about what was happening. A person

6 snapping and doing something that in this case was

7 obvious1y horrible, obviously criminal and wrong, but

8 certainly not premeditated and deliberate.

9 Under our law, a snap decision is not

10 first-degree murder. There might be an intent to kill,

11 evidenced by the use of a qun, evidenced by the repeated

12 shots. And that would be murder. But it 1S not

13 first-degree murder.

14 I want to emphasize that the language in the

15 instructions is confusing. YouI re going to read the

Instructions there IS an Instruction, and Ms. Pandukht16
17 referred to it -- that premeditation and deliberation can

18 occur in as little as successive thoughts of the mind;

19 whatever that means. Has there been evidence in this case

20 about which thought was in his mind here and which thought

21 was in his mind there? I subrrUtto you there's been no

22 evidence by any thinking going on in this young man1smind

23 at all. And I estimate to you that the idea that we1re

24 glowing to talk about, howsuccessive thoughts of the mind

25 occur is theoretical nonsense. In this case, ladies and
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1 gentlemen, there was no thinking.

It's interesting. There was evidence here that2

3 these boys were srrokingmarijuana together. Is that what

4 you do before you makean irrportant decision? Doyou get

5 high on marijuana? Is that what a brain surgeon does

6 before he does brain surgery; he gets high on marijuana?

7 Youknowthe answer to this. Marijuana is about muddled

8 thinking. Marijuana is about the absence of thought.

9 It'S not about clear thinking.

10 If Glenford Buddkilled these people, then,

11 ladies and gentlemen, this was a second-degree murder

12 case. It's a tragedy, a horrible tragedy, and

13 second-degree murder is a serious crime, especially three

14 counts of it. These were irrpulsive acts, and they should

15 be punished as impulsive acts.

16 But I amgoing invite you nowto not step back

17 fran the evidence, as we've just discussed. I want you to

18 focus in on the evidence, and I want you to focus in real

19 closely, and look and determine what the State has really

20 proved in this case. There's an old saying that "As time

21 goes by, the truth canes together. Andas time goes by,

22 false things fall apart. II And I want you to consider if

23 the State's case holds together, so you can be certain

24 that you knowwhat happened, or does it begin to fall

25 apart and shred, in a way to suggest that we're not

I
l_____ _ _
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